
 

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) 
 

Time and Date 
2.00 pm on Wednesday, 8th September 2021 
 
Place 
Diamond Rooms 1 and 2 - Council House 
 
Please note that in line with current Government and City Council guidelines in 
relation to Covid, there will be limited public access to the meeting to manage 
numbers attending safely. If you wish to attend in person, please contact the 
Governance Services Officer indicated at the end of the agenda. 
 

 
Public Business 
 
1. Apologies and Substitutions   

 
2. Declarations of Interest   

 
3. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 8) 
 

 (a) To agree the Minutes of the meeting held on 14th July 2021 
 
(b) Matters arising 

 
4. Coventry Transport Strategy  (Pages 9 - 118) 
 

 Briefing Note of the Director of Transportation and Highways 
 

5. Work Programme 2021/2022  (Pages 119 - 122) 
 

 Report of the Scrutiny Co-ordinator 
 

6. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved   
 

 
Private Business 
Nil 
 
 

Julie Newman, Director of Law and Governance, Council House, Coventry 
 
Tuesday, 31 August 2021 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, Email: michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk 
 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 

 
Membership:  
Councillors G Hayre, M Heaven, T Jandu, R Lancaster, P Male, C Miks (Chair), 
J O'Boyle (By Invitation), E Ruane, B Singh and A Tucker 
 
By invitation:  
Councillor J O’Boyle – Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change  
 
 
Public Access 

Please note that in line with current Government and City Council Covid guidelines, 

there will be limited public access to the meeting to manage numbers attending safely. 

Any member of the public who would like to attend the meeting in person is required to 

contact the officer below in advance of the meeting regarding arrangements for public 

attendance. A guide to attending public meeting can be found here: 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings 

 

Michelle Salmon 
Governance Services 
Email: michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk 
 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings


 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) 

held at 2.00 pm on Wednesday, 14 July 2021 
 

NOTE: This meeting was not held as a public meeting in accordance with the 
Local Government Act 1972 

 
 
Present: 

 

Members of the Board: Councillor C Miks (Chair) 

 Councillor M Heaven 
Councillor T Jandu 
Councillor R Lancaster 
Councillor P Male 
Councillor E Ruane 
Councillor B Singh 
Councillor A Tucker 
 

Other Invited Member: 
 
 
Others Present:  

Councillor J O’Boyle (Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration 
and Climate Change)  
 
Adnan Asaif, Canals and Rivers Trust 
Charles Hughes, Canals and Rivers Trust  

 
Employees (by Service):  

 
Law and Governance 
 
Streetscene and 
Regulatory Services 
 

 
G Holmes. M Salmon 
 
 
D Butler, G Hood, S Newell, T Wetherhill, B Willers, M Yates 
 

 
Apology: 

 
Councillor G Hayre  
 

 
Public Business 
 
1. Declarations of Interest  

 
There were no disclosable pecuniary interests. 
 

2. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 14th April 2021 were agreed as a true record. 
There were no matters arising. 
 

3. Climate Change - Biodiversity  
 
The Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) received a presentation 
from the Canals and Rivers Trust West Midlands Regional Director and the INNS 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 
– 2 – 

 

Project Manager & Environmental Scientist, headed Coventry Canal – A Transition 
to a Greener Future. 
 
The presentation highlighted the following: 

 The canal was 5.5 miles long and the West Midlands Region had 34% of 
Assets & PPM, 29% of the actual length, 32% of Locks, 39% of Reservoirs, 
2m target population of 5.7m overall, 19 SSSI Sites, 1031km of towpaths, 948 
access points, National Boat Count 24% 

 West Midlands region priorities were to achieve 5x Green Flag sites, maximise 
brand awareness campaigns through signage, major activities and media, 
community ownership through local volunteering and adoptions, and activities 
to promote wellbeing to up to 2m canal neighbours 

 Active & Sustainable Travel - £1.4m towpath improvement scheme, funded by 
the West Midlands Combined Authority, resulting in high usage of the path by 
local residents and repeat visitors; access and signage improvements from 
Priestley’s Bridge to Hawkesbury Junction;  and improvements for walkers, 
runners and cyclists, encouraging sustainable zero emission transport 
methods  

 Improvement of Biodiversity - Management of water’s edge habitat to improve 
it for key vertebrate species; planting of wild flower seeds along key sections 
of the canal to improve plant diversity, to attract pollinators and to improve 
aesthetic value; maintaining trees overhanging waterway channel and towpath 
to ensure safe access and use of waterways; increasing amount of hedgerow 
to boost invertebrate and bird biodiversity along sections of the canal; and 
removal of invasive, non-native plant species that would otherwise displace 
native species and reduce biodiversity 

 Involvement of the Public – Leading wildlife walks along the canal for 
members of the public; encouraging local members of the public to report 
sightings of protected species to provide a means of monitoring presence 
along the canal; Involving the local community in environmental improvements 
that benefit their wellbeing by increasing volunteer activities such as 

 Environmental Protection & Monitoring – As part of the management plan: Air 
quality monitoring through portable air quality monitoring around roads along 
the city centre and the canal corridor; water quality monitoring through a 
regional water quality project to assess the chemical quality of waterways, with 
Coventry being a priority site; fly tipping: Increased communication with local 
authority, improvements in data collection/reporting & submission of evidence. 
Huge volunteer and community assistance in maintaining the canal 
environment 

 Invasive Species Project – Severn Trent: Strategic Partnership Project to 
tackle invasive species across the Severn Trent catchment (£600k of external 
funding) utilising treatment methods including chemical, biological, mechanical 
and exploring new alternatives, covers 4 operating regions including West 
Midlands - sites on the Coventry Canal are being targeted for treatment & 
eradication 
 

The Board questioned officers, received responses and discussed the following 
issues: 

 Fly tipping and litter: vision for the canal length from the City Centre to the 
end of the canal in the city to be free of fly tipping and litter - response team 
in place to tackle reports of fly tipping, Community Safety Officers 

Page 4



 

 
– 3 – 

 

undertaking talks in schools, Plastics Challenge Campaign working well, 
committed community and volunteers assisting 

 Confirmed receipt of £1.4m from the West Midlands Combined Authority – 
funds fully utilised to deliver a new all-weather towpath as well as access 
and signage improvements 

 Future management of towpath to ensure inclusive use for cycling, fishing, 
walking – Share the Space Campaign: encourages courteous use of 
towpath and consideration of others. Review path usage through 
environmental assessments 

 City Culture links – Canals and Rivers Trust are working with the City f 
Culture Trust on a programme of projects at the canal. Random String- The 
Canal Networked, was an example of a City of Culture 2021 event/project 
at the Canal Basin. 

 Marketing – important to spread the message about the benefits of 
accessing the canal and programmed events and projects  

 Community Roots – Coventry was one of three areas in the West Midlands 
to have a designated Community Engagement Coordinator 

 Long-term management of the canal – Seeking green flag status, which is 
regularly re-assessed once awarded, will ensure continued maintenance 
and adherence to the Management Plan for the future 

 
Members of the Board suggested it may be appropriate to invite a representative 
of the Canals and Rivers Trust to participate in the Communities and 
Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Board (4) – Fly Tipping Task and Finish Group. 
 
The Board thanked the Canals and Rivers Trust representatives for their 
presentation and requested that the presentation slides be circulated to them. 
They also requested that details of the Community Roots Designated Community 
Engagement Coordinator, Nick Clever, be forwarded to Members of the Board 
together with a briefing note providing details of Grass Roots community activities 
linked to environment and green space, including details from the City of Culture 
Team. 
 
The Board also received a Briefing Note of the Director of Business, Culture and 
Investment that introduced a Presentation on Climate Change – Biodiversity. The 
Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change attended the 
meeting for this item. 
 
Following an item on Climate Change received by Scrutiny Co-ordination 
Committee at their meeting on 21st April 2021, the Business, Economy and 
Enterprise Scrutiny Board requested an item on Biodiversity. The presentation, a 
copy of which was appended to the Briefing Note, provided information on 
Biodiversity and Green Space in Coventry and outlined the steps that the Council 
and partners (River Sherbourne, Coventry Canal, The Catchment Partnership, City 
of Culture Trust, Friends Groups, Living Landscapes, and Developers) were taking 
to increase access to green spaces and manage biodiversity across the city. 
Access to Green Space had a significant impact on health and steps to increase 
access to green space would have a positive effect on health inequalities. 90% of 
people say green spaces enhanced their health and wellbeing. 
 
 
 

Page 5



 

 
– 4 – 

 

The presentation outlined the following: 

 The International Council for Local Environmental Initiatives Low emissions 
identified the pathways to sustainability as: Nature based; Circular economy; 
Adaptability and resilience; and Equitable and People centred. 

 Response to legislation had been through: UK Biodiversity Action Plan 1994; 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006; UK National 
Ecosystem Assessment 2011; Biodiversity Duty: public authority duty to have 
regard to conserving biodiversity 2014; Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for 
England’s wildlife and ecosystem services; Improving Access to Greenspace – 
Public health England Review 2020; National Planning Policy Framework 
2019 - Biodiversity mitigation requirement; and The Environment Bill 202. 

 The provisions of the Greenspace Strategy 2019-2024  

 The 2015/16 Revenue Budget for greenspace had been reduced by 25%. The 
challenges and opportunities faced by the service included having enough 
staff with the knowledge and expertise for habitat management, setting aside 
areas for nature conservation, changing the way routine maintenance of parks 
and open space were conducted, working in partnership with communities and 
partners for securing funding, the review of Local Plan & Supplementary 
Planning Guidance, and City of Culture events to engage communities. 

 National statistics for local authorities’ green space access and deprived 
neighbourhoods.  

 Notable species and where they could be found in the City, and the location of 
22 local wildlife site, 272 local nature reserves and ancient woodland. 

 12 Principles of an Ecosystem approach 

 Biodiversity Action Plans – habitats & Species and delivering on the 
Biodiversity Action Plan targets (2010)  

 Coventry Urban Forestry Strategy 2021-2031 - 9,864 ha, 360,000 people, 24 
parks, 17 woodlands, 44,000 individual trees, 200,000 trees in open spaces, 
15% canopy cover, reducing airborne pollution, Mitigating heat island effect 
and flooding and wind turbulence, promoting biodiversity and health and 
wellbeing, adding economic value and investment and enhancing landscape 
character and interest 

 Compensating for loss of a mature tree (25 to 40 years) – Carbon fixation 

 Bristol Tree Replacement Standard – the number of trees required to 
compensate for the loss of existing trees  

 
Actions to consider and options for the future were to:  

 Establish ways in which Section 106, Biodiversity Net Gain and Nutrient 
Budgeting could best be used to support the development of open space a, 
parks and LNR’s etc and other biodiversity and resilience measures  

 Updating a Biodiversity Action Plan for Coventry 

 Informing a review of Local Plan and Supplementary Planning Guidance 

 Identifying areas with potential for nature conservation 

 Maximising the opportunities for wildlife on public land 

 Changing the way routine maintenance was conducted and to have access to 
the right equipment 

 Creating wildlife corridors linking sites integrated with active transport 
initiatives including safe, traffic free routes 

 Promoting environmental awareness e.g. Eco schools, Forest Schools, Tiny 
Forests 

 Data monitoring – the State of the Environment 

Page 6



 

 
– 5 – 

 

 
The Board questioned officers, received responses and discussed the following 
issues: 

 Severn Trent: Strategic Partnership Project – Letters sent to all schools and 
the Council’s Head of Service Education Entitlement, had been engaging with 
schools. Progress would be reported in due course 

 Working with developers through Supplementary Planning Guidance and 
Section 106 agreements 

 Assistance for companies – companies were being provided with assistance 
on environmental and corporate responsibilities to provide ecological ways to 
operate 

 The Local Plan would be reviewed in 2022 to ensure it met requirements to 
achieve all that it needed 

  
RESOLVED that the Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3): 

1) Supports the actions to consider for the future as set out above, and 
requests that progress on the actions be reported to the Board in due 
course. 

 
2) Requests that the Communities and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Board 

(4) consider inviting a representative of the Canals and Rivers Trust to 
participate in the Communities and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Board 
(4) Fly Tipping Task and Finish Group. 

 
4. Work Programme and Outstanding Issues 2021/2022  

 
The Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) received a report of the 
Scrutiny Co-ordinator that detailed the issues carried over from the Board’s Work 
Programme 2020/2021 and suggested for meetings of the Board in 2021/2022. 
 
The Board noted that it was proposed that the meeting of the Board scheduled for 
8th September 2021 be held at the Coventry Transport Museum. However, 
consideration would need to be given to the Government Guidelines in relation to 
Covid at that time, to ensure that the meeting could be held safely at the venue. 
 
RESOLVED that the Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) 
notes the issues carried over from the Work Programme for 2020/2021 and 
suggested for meetings of the Board in 2021/2022, and Members were 
invited to suggest further items as the year progressed. 
 

5. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved  
 
There were no other items of public business. 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 3.50 pm)  

  

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 Briefing note  
  

 

To: Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3)                        8th September 2021 
 
 
Subject:  Coventry Transport Strategy 
 
 

 

 

1 Purpose of the Note 
 

1.1 To brief the Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) on the draft Coventry 
Transport Strategy, the review of the West Midlands Local Transport Plan, and the 
emerging West Midlands submission to the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement.  
The briefing will also cover the current work on Coventry’s Transport Innovation 
programme, as illustrated at the Our Future Moves exhibition hosted at the Coventry 
Transport Museum. 

2 Recommendations 
 
2.1 The Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) is requested to: 

Review the draft Coventry Transport Strategy and identify any specific recommendations 
that they wish to make to Cabinet when they consider the draft strategy in October 2021. 

3 Information/Background 
 

Coventry Transport Strategy 

3.1 The West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) is the statutory transport authority for the 
West Midlands area, including Coventry.  The WMCA has a duty to prepare and implement 
a Local Transport Plan (LTP) for the West Midlands area.  The current LTP, Movement for 
Growth, is currently being reviewed to reflect recent national and regional policy changes, 
notably in relation to climate change, and Transport for West Midlands (TfWM), the 
transport delivery body for the WMCA, has published a Green Transport Paper (GTP) to 
start this process.  The GTP is appended to this report for reference (Appendix One). 

3.2 As a constituent authority of the WMCA, Coventry City Council is closely engaged with the 
LTP Review.  Through this engagement, it has been agreed that the WMCA’s LTP will be 
integrated with Local Transport Strategies covering each of the individual constituent 
authorities, although the four Black Country authorities are working together on a joint 
strategy for the Black Country.  Birmingham, Coventry and Solihull are all producing 
individual transport strategies for their area. 

3.3 Work has commenced on the preparation of the Coventry Transport Strategy, with an early 
engagement with the public through a Let’s Talk consultation in March 2021 (a summary of 
these responses is included as Appendix Three) and workshops being held with key 
stakeholders including bus and rail companies, neighbouring local authorities, TfWM, 
Midlands Connect, Highways England, Network Rail and other specific interest groups 
representing cyclists, businesses and other interests. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 2 

3.4 This engagement has resulted in the identification of core objectives relating to the future 
management of Coventry’s transport network, and in the preparation of a draft Coventry 
Transport Strategy.  This has been appended to the report (Appendix Two), and comments 
from Scrutiny Board 3 Members on the current draft will be welcomed.  The draft strategy 
will be considered by Cabinet in October 2021. 

3.5 The objectives identified in the core strategy are: 

• Supporting the city’s economic recovery and enabling long-term growth 

• Delivering a sustainable, low carbon transport system 

• Ensuring equality of opportunity 

• Maximising health and wellbeing 
 
3.6 It is important to note that the current draft strategy provides the policy framework, but that 

an implementation plan setting out a five-year investment programme in Coventry’s 
transport network will be added before the strategy is brought back to Cabinet for approval 
in early 2022.  The implementation plan cannot be finalised until the outcome of the City 
Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) process is known, details of which are 
given later in this report. 

3.7 Subject to Cabinet approval in October, the draft strategy will be published for consultation 
later in 2021.  Once consultation feedback has been reviewed, and the outcome of the 
CRSTS process is known, the strategy will be finalised, complete with implementation plan, 
and presented to Cabinet for approval in early 2022. 

West Midlands Local Transport Plan 

3.8 As noted above, work has commenced on the review of the West Midlands LTP with the 
publication of the Green Transport Paper.  This is currently out to consultation.  The GTP 
identifies tackling the climate emergency, reducing transport inequality, reducing physical 
inactivity, enhancing local communities and places, and building a strong, inclusive, 
economy as the priorities for the new LTP.  These priorities align well with the core 
objectives identified for Coventry’s draft Transport Strategy. 

3.9 TfWM are looking to prepare the draft LTP for review by the WMCA Board in early 2022, a 
timescale that broadly mirrors that proposed for the Coventry Transport Strategy.  
Therefore, by mid-2022 the transport policy framework for Coventry will consist of an 
updated West Midlands Local Transport Plan setting the regional policy framework, and a 
Coventry Transport Strategy providing the more detailed local framework including a five-
year implementation plan. 

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement 

3.10 That five-year implementation plan will be based upon the outcome of the City Regional 
Sustainable Transport Settlement  process which is currently underway.  Essentially, the 
CRSTS will give the WMCA, and its constituent authorities, a five-year capital funding 
settlement for transport covering 2022 to 2027. 

3.11 The CRSTS comprises £4.2 billion which will be allocated across the eight Mayoral 
Combined Authorities (MCAs) established within England.  A semi-competitive process is 
underway, with each MCA being required to submit a bid to Government setting out its 
funding ask for the 2022-27 period, and explain what schemes will be delivered and what 
outcomes will be achieved.  The initial submission will be approved by the WMCA Board in 
September.  Full guidance on the process was only issued by the Department for Transport 
in July, so a rapid turn-around has been required. 

Page 10



 3 

3.12 For the WMCA, the DfT specified a funding range of £780 million to £1.28 billion, meaning 
that the West Midlands submission should expect a funding settlement within this range.  
Additional funding will be allocated separately for core Integrated Transport and Highway 
Maintenance programmes, whilst the WMCA and constituent authorities will also have 
access to funding streams associated with Active Travel and Bus Service Improvement 
Plans. 

3.13 Coventry is closely and proactively engaged with the CRSTS process with the aim of 
securing a funding package that will enable the Council to deliver a programme of transport 
schemes that will support the objectives set out within the draft transport strategy.  Specific 
priorities include the Very Light Rail programme, continued development of the segregated 
cycle route network, and highway corridor improvements that will benefit all road users, 
including pedestrians and bus users 

Transport Innovation Programme 

3.14 The programme will include innovative transport projects such as Very Light Rail and 
measures to support the further roll-out of zero emission vehicles.  The Our Future Moves 
exhibition currently on show at the Transport Museum showcases the wide range of 
transport technology projects being led by Coventry’s business and academic communities, 
many of which have direct or indirect support from the City Council.  Whilst Very Light Rail 
is the highest profile of these projects, especially in terms of Council involvement, the 
exhibition demonstrates that local research and development activity is taking place across 
the full spectrum of transport, from technology that will help visually impaired pedestrians to 
moves to de-carbonise the marine and aviation sectors. 

3.15 The aim is to build upon the Our Future Moves exhibition to develop a digital archive that 
can be used to promote Coventry and the surrounding area as a place in which transport 
innovators can do business, using the city as a “living lab” building upon projects such as 
the Connected and Autonomous Vehicle Testbed.  An associated events programme is 
being developed with the further aim of promoting the city, and projects such as VLR, to a 
wider audience, especially whilst the spotlight is on the city during City of Culture, and with 
opportunities existing to link with COP26. 

 

 
 

John Seddon 
Head of Transport and Innovation 
Email: John.seddon@coventry.gov.uk 
Tel: 0759 044 3799  

Page 11

mailto:John.seddon@coventry.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Reimagining 
transport in the 
West Midlands: 
a conversation 
about change

P
age 13



2Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Contents
Foreword                                                                       3

Section 1: Introduction                                                         4
A new Local Transport Plan                                                      4
The purpose of this green paper                                                 6

Section 2: The state of transport in the West Midlands                     7
How transport has changed                                                      7
Where we are heading                                                           14
The consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic                                16

Section 3: Our Motives for Change                                          22
Motive 1: Sustaining economic success                                       24
Motive 2: Creating a fairer society                                            28
Motive 3: Supporting local communities and places                        36
Motive 4: Becoming more active                                               43
Motive 5: Tackling the climate emergency                                     47

Section 4: Reimagining transport in the West Midlands                   51
Rethinking the role of mobility in accessibility                                53
A framework for change                                                         57
Change in different places                                                       67

Section 5: Developing the Local Transport Plan                            73
Our partners                                                                      73
A new framework for transport policy                                         73
Working with the public, private organisations and public authorities      74

Throughout the paper are quotes we 
have taken from engagement with our 
Market Research Online Community 
made up of a diverse selection of real, 
everyday people from across our region

Please visit https://www tfwm org uk/who-
we-are/our-strategy/green-paper-2021/ for 
further information about this green paper, 
including how to respond to it and engage 

Also, please visit https://www 
mytfwmcommunity co uk/ if you want to 
register to be a part of our Market Research 
Online Community and have your say in a 
range of conversations about transport  

P
age 14

https://www.tfwm.org.uk/who-we-are/our-strategy/green-paper-2021/
https://www.tfwm.org.uk/who-we-are/our-strategy/green-paper-2021/
https://www.mytfwmcommunity.co.uk/
https://www.mytfwmcommunity.co.uk/


3Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Foreword
As well as being at the heart of the UK’s 
transport network, the West Midlands is at 
another kind of crossroads; one at which there 
is an opportunity to build back better from the 
COVID-19 pandemic, to ensure we can carry 
forward the reputation for economic success 
the region has built in the new millennium 
while improving the impacts of transport on 
our towns, cities and local communities  

This green paper sets out the challenges and 
opportunities facing our transport system to 
inspire deliberation with the public over the 
kind of transport system we want to see in the 
future  The decisions we make now about how 
we plan, invest in and manage our transport 
system will affect us all, as well as deciding 
what legacy we leave for future generations 

Over the past few years, the West Midlands has 
seen substantial improvements to its transport 
network  The West Midlands Metro has been 
extended through Birmingham city centre 
and a new line is under construction in the 
Black Country, connecting Wednesbury with 
Brierley Hill  We are improving our railways, 
with improved and new stations planned at 
Perry Barr, Darlaston, Willenhall, Aldridge and 
the revival of the old Camp Hill line  Fleets 
of electric buses are taking to the streets in 
increasing numbers  And our active travel 

revolution is well underway, with new cycling 
and walking routes springing up across the 
region  After decades of underinvestment, our 
region is beginning to turn things around 

But significant challenges remain in tackling 
the defining issues of our time, such as climate 
change, air quality, our health, and now our 
economic recovery from the pandemic  This 
paper poses some difficult questions about 
how we address these challenges  But it also 
offers real hope that, with a collective effort, 
we can create a West Midlands that leads the 
way in tackling these issues  We have a strong 
entrepreneurial and innovative heritage to build 
on  By thinking and acting differently we can 
create a place where transport improves the 
opportunities available to all our residents  

A key aim of this paper is to understand what 
our residents and communities want from their 
transport network  Your views will inform our 
new Local Transport Plan, due to be published 
later in the year  

This green paper sets out five reasons why we 
should consider changing the way we travel  
We call these our five Motives for Change  
These are focussed on creating a fairer, greener, 
healthier, happier and more prosperous West 
Midlands  In particular, we want to know how 

the successive lockdowns have impacted our 
relationship with the transport network and how 
this should inform where we take the network in 
the coming years 

This is the start of a conversation with 
residents, organisations and businesses on 
the kinds of changes we want to see in our 
transport system and the trade-offs required  

So please engage with the prompts and issues 
raised in this paper and let us know what you 
think, so that together we can build a transport 
network that will serve our region for decades 
to come 

Councillor Ian Ward
Portfolio Lead for Transport
Leader of Birmingham City Council

Andy Street
Mayor of the West Midlands

P
age 15



4Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The aim of this green paper is 
to support conversations on 
difficult issues over the future 
of transport in the West 
Midlands  This will be used to 
support the development of a 
new statutory Local Transport 
Plan for our area which seeks 
to build consensus on the 
response to these challenges 

Section 1: Introduction
A new Local Transport Plan

Transport is critical for a prosperous and 
healthy society; people need to travel, and 
goods need to be delivered  The COVID-19 
pandemic has hit our region hard  We need 
a transport system which will help get our 
region back on track and unleash its potential 

The economic impact of the pandemic has 
been more severe in the West Midlands 
than elsewhere in the UK  Our exposure 
to the economic impacts of the global 
pandemic has been high because of our 
export led sectoral strengths - particularly 
sectors such as automotive, manufacturing, 
leisure and hospitality  However, these 
sectors remain great strengths that will 
enable a strong and fast recovery to happen  
It is critical that the transport system 
supports all sectors to recover  

There is much to be positive about  We are 
already delivering significant projects that 
support inclusive economic growth  We 
will lead the charge in powering the West 
Midlands recovery through the construction 
of HS2, Coventry City of Culture in 2021 
and the Commonwealth Games in 2022, as 
well as the region’s leadership in the growth 
sectors of the future  

Our transport system has also been affected 
by the pandemic with significant changes 
to how, when and why we travel  This 
presents challenges in terms of uncertain 
consumer demand to support the rebuilding 
of public transport, as well as opportunities 
to move forward doing things differently 
– more healthily and with less impact on 
our environment   Transport has a critical 
role to play as the region looks forward and 
plans for recovery: through the creation and 
accessing of jobs; training opportunities 
and the delivery of skills plans; by unlocking 
and delivering much needed housing across 
the region; supporting the regeneration 
of our local centres and neighbourhoods; 
improving health and well-being, and last 
but by no means least; addressing the 
urgent challenge of climate change 

Transport plays an important role in 
supporting a successful economy  It 
connects workers to jobs; businesses to 
customers and suppliers; and students to 
schools, colleges and universities across 
the region  It also employs many people 
across a range of industry sectors, from 
public transport operators to high-tech 
innovators developing new modes of travel  
Creating the right environment to support 
these businesses will be important as we 
bounce back from COVID-19  In particular, it 

will be essential to continue to support the 
innovative companies who can both help 
improve transport and create high-quality 
local jobs as well as support our ambitions 
to prevent climate change  

However, planning transport is no simple 
task  There are balances to be struck 
in how much the transport system can 
accommodate the diverse and competing 
transport needs of individuals and 
businesses  The positive and negative 
impacts of transport on people, 
communities and places also need to be 
considered  Reducing barriers to travel 
can help people access what they need 
to prosper and support economic growth  
However, depending on how this is achieved 
it can result in issues such as emissions that 
pollute the air we breathe and cause climate 
change, or it may benefit one set of citizens 
whilst marginalising another 

The places within our area are very 
different; what works in a modern estate 
with driveways and cul-de-sacs might not 
work in a terraced street with no off-street 
parking, and what makes sense in a city 
centre might not make sense in a village’s 
high street  We should be clear that there is 
not a “one size fits all” approach to tackling 
this issue  A range of solutions will need to 

P
age 16



5Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

be developed and tested, with engagement 
with local communities and businesses 
being an essential element of any new plans   

A transport system can be much greater 
than the sum of its many individual parts 
but ensuring the different elements are well 
coordinated and integrated takes conscious 
effort  The system cannot remain static 
and stagnant; it must constantly evolve to 
meet the changing needs of the people and 
businesses it serves  

There are also constraints to factor in, 
such as the amount of physical space 
available and the levels of public funding to 
support the transport system, as well as the 
legislative framework that also affects what 
can and can’t be done  

WMCA role as the Local 
Transport Authority

The Local Transport Plan is a key statutory 
document in which the region sets out how 
we intend to approach this complex balancing 
act and improve transport in our region  It 
does not only affect how public authorities 
will carry out their transport functions, it 
also affects wider decision making on other 
matters which relate to transport such as land 
use and energy infrastructure 

The West Midlands Combined Authority 
(WMCA) is a special type of local authority  

Its statutory administrative functions 
apply to the seven metropolitan boroughs 
of the West Midlands  One of WMCA’s 
key statutory functions is Local Transport 
Authority and through Transport for West 
Midlands (TfWM) it must produce a Local 
Transport Plan (LTP) for the area  

The LTP must set out policies to promote 
safe, integrated, efficient and economic 
transport to, from and within the area as 
well as plans to implement those policies  

WMCA and the seven city and metropolitan 
borough authorities (councils) are legally 
required to deliver this plan through the use 
of all their powers and functions  

We have already leveraged substantial 
investments for our transport improvements 
from Government and private sector 
partners  A new Local Transport Plan should 
not just be a plan for now, or even the next 
five years, but should support the ambition 
to build back better and level up our region 
for long term inclusive growth  Responding 
to the climate emergency and improving the 
way we move around the region presents 
us with some significant challenges  
New infrastructure to provide viable and 
attractive alternatives to single occupancy 
car use is critical, but alone will not be 
enough   There will also be a need for us all 
to think about how our travel behaviours 
could change 

Walsall

Wolverhampton

Dudley

Sandwell

Birmingham

Solihull Coventry

P
age 17



6Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The purpose of this green paper

Since the current LTP (Movement for Growth) was adopted five years ago 
there have already been significant global and local changes affecting the 
West Midlands which have been reflected in new WMCA policies 

Inclusive Growth 
Framework

In response to growing unease over the equity and sustainability of growth, WMCA 
has adopted a more deliberate and socially purposeful model of economic growth – 
measured not only by how fast or aggressive it is; but also by how well it is shared across 
the whole population and place, and the capacity of our environment to sustain it 

WM2041

In response to the pressing climate emergency, WMCA has adopted an ambition 
for the region to be carbon neutral by 2041 and principles for decarbonisation  It is 
developing a series of 5 year plans to decarbonise the West Midlands, the first of 
which runs from 2021-2026 

West Midlands 
Local Industrial 

Strategy

Understanding the need and opportunity to enable and encourage innovation in the 
transport sector to align the products and services of industry to the needs of society, 
WMCA has placed ‘Future of Mobility’ at the heart of its new local industrial strategy 

Recharge the 
West Midlands

In response to the social and economic challenges the region now faces as a result of the 
coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, WMCA has adopted a plan to Recharge the West 
Midlands underpinned by the Community Recovery Roadmap; to use the opportunity to 
build back better to accelerate economic recovery in the West Midlands 

These four new WMCA policy agendas are shaping growth in the West Midlands 

These all have implications for the way we 
shape transport going forward  We have made 
a lot of progress that remains valid, however, 
there is a need to make sure that everything we 
are doing is appropriate and that we are doing 
everything we should be 

Transport is an important part of our lives, 
so we need to put people at the centre of 
developing how we respond to their transport 
needs and manage transport’s impacts  

The aim of this green paper is to support 
conversations over the future of transport in the 
West Midlands to feed in to the development 
of a new statutory Local Transport Plan for our 
area  In this document we explore:

• How transport has changed in our region, 
where we are now, and where we think 
we are heading under current forces and 
policies;  

• Some of the biggest transport issues that 
we think require attention if we are to 
achieve our ambitions for Inclusive Growth;

•  The kinds of changes we could make to 
our transport system that could enable 
us to build back better from the COVID-19 
pandemic, moving us towards a fairer, 
healthier, greener and more prosperous 
West Midlands; and

• Our proposed approach to developing 
the LTP 

Within this green paper, we have started to 
set out the choices we believe need to be 
considered in order to address the challenges 
we face in moving people and goods around our 
region  The nature of these complex discussions 
will increase the need for an open and honest, 
two-way discussion with our communities  We 
will take time to build understanding, debate, 
and allow reflection with groups to ensure the 
recommendations from those discussions are 
heard and addressed 

P
age 18



7Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Section 2: The state of transport in the West Midlands
How transport has changed

Our growing population
Our region has grown a lot over the last 150 years  There was a period of contraction and stagnation following 
industrial decline in last few decades of the 20th century  However, growth has been strong in the new 
millennium and is projected to continue 

Source: Analysis of Census data and ONS population estimates and projections

Population growth over the next 20 years 
would be like moving everyone who lives 
in Leicester into our area 

Leicester

Walsall
Wolver-
hampton

Dudley

Sandwell

Birmingham

Solihull
Coventry

P
age 19



8Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The population of our region has exploded over the last 
150 years from a collection of small but important towns 
and cities to a region of nearly 3 million people, and it 
continues to grow  As we’ve grown, there’s been much 
more travel in our region, but also the way we travel and 
where we can travel to has changed dramatically  

The transport options available to us impact 
what we can access  However, what we can 
access is also affected by how we use land and 
how we communicate   These three things are 
interdependent; a technological breakthrough in one 
can change our relationship with the others   It is no 
surprise that as travel options have changed, so have 
our lives and businesses 

Vehicles have made us much more mobile, and 
although vastly improved telecommunications have 
reduced the need to travel for some things, we are 
still travelling more overall   There are complex 
reasons for this; the scale of global supply chains, 
increased home deliveries, people’s desire to travel 
to meet people and visit places, and the increased 
distance between where people live and work  

Transport has changed the design and layout of places

As people could travel further and further, our settlements began to expand, 
streets became less connected, and buildings became more spread out with 
lots of space set aside for parking 

Source: Google Street View and Maps

P
age 20



9Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Travel and telecommunications have both increased a lot

2008-2009 
recession

Source: Transport Statistics Great Britain (DfT) 

The causes of the recent 
slow-down of travel growth 
are complex and not fully 
understood  Factors include: 
the 2008 recession, wealth 
inequalities, changes to key 
life events such as starting 
families and buying a home, 
the advancement of mobile 
communications devices, 
changing patterns of urban 
development and population 
migration 

However, the explanation is also perhaps simpler 
than complex analysis of detailed trends; people 
travel more when they can 

Increased mobility has radically changed our lives   
Improved affordability of car ownership and usage 
have meant that we have much greater flexibility 
over where we live and work within the region, 
where our children can go to school, travelling 
frequently to see distant relatives, and bulk-buying 
groceries and transporting bulky items   These are 
things that would not have been possible 100 years 
ago, but now are part of everyday life  

Whist increased mobility has provided social 
and economic benefits for some it also has other 
costs to society  For the new LTP, we aim to work 
with the public to develop a vision and plans for a 
more equitable and sustainable transport system 
that continues to enable and catalyse growth and 
prosperity in our region 

P
age 21



10Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

1880

Home
I live near the factory in 
terraces that were built 
for the workers 

Shopping
I walk to the butcher, baker 
and grocer around the 
corner for most supplies 

Work
It’s not too far to walk to the factory 

Holiday
At the weekends the family 
sometimes takes the tram to the 
park  We might take a daytrip to 
Sutton Coldfield by train 

Keeping in touch with 
friends and family
Most of my friends and 
family live nearby, but I 
write to those who aren’t 

1920

Home
We live in the suburbs 
away from the noise and 
pollution of the centre 

Shopping
We get groceries from around the 
corner, but sometimes I take the 
trolleybus into the city centre to meet 
my friends at a department store 

Work
I work in an industrial quarter in the city 
centre that I get to on the trolleybus 

Holiday
We took the train to Weston-
super-Mare last year!

Keeping in touch with 
friends and family
I write to friends and 
family  We can use a public 
telephone but it’s quite pricey!

1960

Home
I live in a cul-de-sac 
with my own driveway 
for my new car 

Shopping
We drive our car to 
get our shopping from 
the supermarket 

Work
I drive to the office in one 
of the commercial districts 
near to the centre of town 

Holiday
We’re going on a coach trip to 
France this year on the ferry, but 
last year we drove to a holiday park 

Keeping in touch with 
friends and family
My friends and family are spread 
out  I call them on the telephone 
when we want a quick chat 

1980

Shopping
We use the supermarket for most 
shopping, but we’ve also started to 
visit some of the new out of town 
retail parks and malls  It’s easy to 
drive and find parking

Home
We’ve moved out of 
the area to one of the 
towns nearby 

Work
I’m working in one of the business 
parks by the motorway  I have 
to drive even if I didn’t want to 
because there’s no other choice!

Holiday
The whole family’s flying to 
Costa Brava for a package holiday  
At the weekends, we might drive 
out to a country park 

Keeping in touch with 
friends and family
My friends and family are spread 
out but the motorways make it 
easy to visit them  I can always 
call them on the landline 

2020

Home
With a car and the internet I 
think I could live anywhere I 
could afford to in the region 

Shopping
I’ve been going to shops less and 
ordering more online 

Work
I drive to work when I have to but 
we’re working from home more 
and more 

Holiday
The world is my oyster; I still like to 
fly to see the world, but I also like to 
take the train for UK city breaks and 
drive out into the wilds 

Keeping in touch with 
friends and family
I’ve got friends and relatives all over the 
UK  I like to visit them as often as I can 
and we all keep in touch everyday using 
social media across our many devices!

P
age 22



11Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Changes in the costs of transport (UK) and car ownership (West Midlands)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2000 2005 2010 2015

In
de

x:
 1

99
7=

10
0

Changes in the costs of transport (components of RPI) and disposable 
income

Median equivali sed household
disposable income

Rail fares

Bus and coach fares

All motoring costs

Motoring (Purchase of vehicle)

Source: Transport Statistics Great Britain (DfT) and ONS

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020 2030 2040

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s

WM met. Car Ownership (by household)

No car 1 car 2+ cars

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f W
es

t 
M

id
la

nd
s 

ho
us

eh
ol

ds

Source: Census and PRISM

As motoring costs have reduced relative to public transport fares, car ownership has increased  Whilst the 
proportion of households without a car is decreasing, the number of households is still increasing because 
of our growing population 

P
age 23



12Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Cars are getting bigger

Growth of SUV and pure electric car/van sales

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f n
ew

 
ca

rs
/v

an
s 

so
ld

 in
 t

he
 U

K

Source: UKERC

Mitsubishi Outlander 
Plug-In Hybrid 
Electric Vehicle

1968 Morris Mini-Cooper S Mk II 2018 Mini Cooper Classic

Weight (kg) 670 1200

Length (m) 3 1 4 0

Width (m) 1 4 1 9

Height (m) 1 3 1 4

As the affordability of motoring has improved, the size and weight of the cars we drive has also 
substantially increased  The weight of a Mini Cooper has almost doubled and its length has 
almost increased by a third over the last 50 years  1 in 5 cars sold in the UK were SUVs in 2018  
The Mitsubishi Outlander PHEV is the UK’s most popular plug-in electric vehicle and it is an SUV  

Whilst these bigger vehicles have been associated with comfort and safety for vehicle occupants, 
it has also increased energy consumption, carbon emissions, road wear, space required for 
parking and other impacts 

P
age 24



13Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Car accounts for most travel, except to particular centres

Destinations of car trips made in the morning peak

Source: PRISM

Comparing mode shares to/from centres with mode share for all travel

Source: TfWM Cordon Counts and National Travel Survey (DfT)

Most travel is not to or from our centres, even in the peak travel periods 

While public transport has remained a popular choice for accessing our big city centres, 
the car is by far the most popular choice for travel across the wider region  

For those who do use public transport, train and bus is popular for accessing big city 
centres but it is mainly bus that is used elsewhere  P

age 25



14Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

While it’s difficult to predict the future, we do know 
that change never stops and things that appear 
unachievable or unattractive today can be taken for 
granted as a new way of life in a few years’ time  

Yet many of our streets have changed very little 
over the years; and so as we move forward we 
need to update, retrofit and adapt the urban 
environments we have, which will be our legacy to 
future generations  

Reflection

So a lot of change has happened 
very quickly and transport has 
shaped places and lifestyles 
significantly within many 
people’s lifetimes  

Some changes are more easily 
embraced than others 

Is it possible that we could see 
more significant change in how 
and why we travel within the 
next 100 years?

Where we are heading 

It’s important to reflect on the effects of our 
current transport policies as we develop a 
new West Midlands Local Transport Plan  

Generally, local transport policies and plans have focussed 
on delivering specific impacts through:

• Infrastructure investments in specific places, 
for example:

• Delivery of new rail stations, as well as the 
creation of new West Midlands Metro, Sprint 
bus, and Very Light Rail (VLR) routes;

• Reallocating space to public transport on 
congested corridors;

• Delivery of new high quality cycle routes; and 

• Pinchpoint schemes to increase the vehicular 
traffic that can flow through congested parts of 
the road network 

• Subsidised services for the benefit of those 
who are less mobile, or where private services 
would struggle to operate on a commercial basis, 
for example:

• Concessionary travel schemes;

• Subsidies for particular bus services and our 
Ring and Ride service; and 

• Multi-modal ticketing and fares 

• Travel information, advice and education, 
for example:

• Supporting organisations with travel planning 
advice;

• Providing journey planning tools and 
information for members of the public; and

• Alerting the West Midlands to planned and 
unplanned disruptions on the network 

• Supporting innovation in mobility products and 
services, for example: 

• Exploring the commercial case for new 
products and services by collaborating with the 
private sector to test new transport modes and 
schemes; and

• Working closely with industry, central 
government and our local authorities to 
understand regulatory changes needed to 
support new transport solutions 

P
age 26



15Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Great stuff is already happening across the West Midlands

Extending our Metro

Metro extensions are currently being built for 
Wednesbury – Brierley Hill, Birmingham Westside, 
Birmingham Eastside and Wolverhampton city centre 
(as part of the Wolverhampton Interchange project) 

The West Midlands Metro network expansion will 
ensure that all West Midlands strategic centres are 
served by a rail and rapid transit network and will 
open up investment in jobs and housing across the 
Black Country and Birmingham 

Blue cycle routes

The A38 Bristol Road cycle route provides a high 
quality two way segregated cycle route between 
Selly Oak, the University of Birmingham and 
Birmingham city centre  

The blue surfaced route was opened in 2019 and 
is approximately 4 km long  Its high standard 
informs wider cycle network development in the 
West Midlands and the quality of this cycle route’s 
infrastructure has received national acclaim 

Swift multi-modal ticketing

Swift is the largest and most comprehensive 
smartcard scheme in the UK outside of London  
Before the pandemic it was used 75m times a year 
by  537,000 card holders 

The new “Swift Go” fare-capping service calculates 
the best value fare at the end of each day based on 
the journeys taken  Although currently only available 
on the West Midlands Metro line, the aim is to extend 
Swift Go to buses and rail services in 2021 as part of 
constant product innovation and development 

RTCC

The West Midlands Regional Transport Coordination 
Centre (RTCC) is part of a £22 million project to 
improve coordination across public transport and 
road networks and manage congestion in the 
West Midlands 

Opened in January 2020, the RTCC has the role 
of providing real time, data driven intelligence on 
the transport network  The RTCC operate across 
the entire region, across all modes to help better 
informed decision making through incidents, events 
and engineering and works to ensure a single 
cohesive message to the travelling public 

P
age 27



16Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Our region has recently seen 
unprecedented delivery and commitment 
to investment into the transport system  
This investment aims to create an 
integrated, multi-modal public transport 
system that is plugged into HS2  

Many policies target access to busy town 
and city centres to encourage economic 
growth by enabling more people to 
access these centres without increasing 
congestion  We are also delivering a step-
change in public transport accessibility 
in areas of the region where access is 
currently poor  Delivery of particular 
transport infrastructure will encourage 
and enable the development of land for 
purposes such as housing and employment  
As the connections between our region 
and the rest of the country improve, the 
markets that local businesses and people 
benefit from will expand and encourage 
investment in the West Midlands  

Economic benefits are a crucial driver of 
our current policies, however, these aren’t 
only derived from the improvements to 
access  The construction of new transport 
schemes itself provides opportunity for 
those in the industry who plan, develop, 
build and operate new infrastructure and 
services - helping to develop skills and 
provide employment for local people  

In this way, public investment in the 
infrastructure our region needs will play 
an important role in supporting the post-
COVID-19 economic recovery of our region  

Much of our investment and policies 
aim to improve provision for sustainable 
travel modes  However, whilst 
important, this isn’t enough to generate 
sufficient travel behaviour changes to 
address wider environmental, social 
and economic challenges we face  The 
transport impacts of current schemes 
tend to make a big difference in some 
areas but their impacts across the wider 
region are more limited 

If significant behaviour change is a core 
part of our aims, then we will need to 
do more 

Reflection

Whilst we are seeing 
unprecedented levels of 
investment, does it feel 
like transport in the West 
Midlands is getting better?

The consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic

When asked how their journey 
habits have changed as a 
result of the pandemic, here’s 
how people responded 

• Avoiding public transport 
where possible, opting to 
drive, walk or cycle instead

• A decrease in communting 
journeys as more people are 
working from home

• Less travel into city centres

• Shopping more locally

• Grocery shopping weekly, 
rather than every other day

• Travelling to visit friends 
and family less often

• Cycling more

Almost all stated that their journey habits 
had changed as a result of the pandemic 

Source: TfWM’s Market Research Online 
Community

The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted 
our way of life  There have been and 
will be changes to the way we live and 
work during the pandemic  However, the 
pandemic will also have long term effects:

• There will be economic shocks in which 
people may face challenges finding 
employment and making ends meet;

• As we adapted our lives to minimise 
spread of the virus we have found 
new ways of working and living that 
people will want to keep; and

• The pandemic has triggered many to 
reconsider what their priorities are 
in terms of health, relationships with 
people, the environment, and the kind 
of economy we want 

Whilst the economic and social impacts 
of the pandemic are undeniable and many 
face significant challenges ahead, the 
ability of so many businesses and people 
to adapt so as to keep as much social 
and economic activity going as possible 
has shown us that we are resilient and 
adaptable to rapid change  A substantial 
amount of activity has been able to 
continue with far less travel than before, 
and in some circumstances this presents 
long term opportunities, for example:

• Reducing time and money spent on 
travel;

• Exploiting the potential of digital 
connectivity to expand access to 
markets and collaborators; and

• Increasing local spending in West 
Midlands businesses through increased 
active travel and living locally 

P
age 28



17Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Changing priorities during the COVID-19 pandemic

When asked in May 2020 what they wanted to see change as a result of the crisis, people said   

Cleaner air 81%
Quieter streets75%

Better work/life 
balance 67%

To be fitter 
and healthier65%

Stronger 
community ties 59%

Greater use of 
neighbourhood shops 
and local high streets58%

More diversity 
and wildlife 58%

Source: TfWM COVID-19 pandemic public surveys

   but when asked in Summer 2020 to name their top priority for the 
region’s recovery after the pandemic, people said   

Jobs 45%
Health35%

Education 9%
Environment8%

High streets and 
neighbourhoods 3%

Community1%

People do want to live in friendlier, nicer and sustainable places, but individuals 
also have fundamental basic needs; they want a job to make ends meet and they 
want to be in good health  As we explore in this green paper, these needs and 
desires do not have to be mutually exclusive P

age 29



18Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

People have been working from home a lot during the 
pandemic  I think it will become a way of life in the future, 
when more companies realise they don’t need expensive 
offices and overheads 

65+, Solihull, No cars in household, Driver
Yes, COVID has proven that this (reducing travel without actually 
doing less) is effectively possible, particularly for business travel  
Do you really need to meet in person? The answer these days is 
more likely to be no! Stop making unnecessary journeys, do you 
really need to get in the car to go to that shop that’s five minutes 
away? Probably not 

45-64, Sandwell, 1 car in household, No licence

We’re already seeing it with COVID that companies are 
realising that they can have staff working from home 

25-44, Walsall, No cars in household, No licence

I know I’m not exercising enough now due to the 
pandemic, my entire lifestyle has changed  I’d like 
to see things go back to normal, so I can travel more 
as I tend to exercise when I explore new places 

25-44, Birmingham, 2 cars in household, Driver
I do much less activity since the pandemic as I work from 
home and try to avoid the rish of catching COVID-19  Before 
that I used to regularly go hiking/walking in the countryside  
Running once a week, and walking long distance – 10 to 20 
miles most weekends 

25-44, Birmingham, 2 cars in household, Driver

Many people, businesses and public authorities 
have come together to tackle the challenges of the 
pandemic  TfWM and our partners are continuing to 
contribute with actions that aim to:

• Provide travel that is safe and secure;

• Get workers and businesses up and running 
(when safe);

• Support travel to schools and keep children and 
families safe;

• Keep the clean air, physical exercise and reduced 
carbon emissions; and

• Support a green economic recovery 

Even though there will be long lasting impacts of 
the pandemic, at some point, hopefully this year, we 
will be able to say that the pandemic is over and the 
restrictions designed to prevent the spread of the 
virus will be lifted 

P
age 30



19Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

We’ve been working hard to face the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic

Emergency Active Travel Fund

The Government’s Emergency Active Travel Fund was established 
to rapidly create and then enhance safe conditions for walking and 
cycling  This was to help cater for and grow increased  UK levels of 
cycling and walking seen with the first lockdown   

The West Midlands was awarded £16 85m  These funds have helped 
create pop-up cycle lanes, footway widening and other active travel 
improvements as well as enabling some temporary measures to be 
upgraded and made permanent 

Maintaining public transport services

Public transport use has been massively affected as a result of the 
pandemic  TfWM has made the case for Government revenue support 
to keep services running, established a multi-modal and multi-
organisation Transport Recovery Cell, and worked with partners to 
implement social distancing standards, regulations on face coverings, 
enhanced cleaning of public transport infrastructure and vehicles 

Shuttle buses for NHS staff

To support NHS staff, Ring and Ride services were repurposed to 
provide shuttles to key hospital sites from transport stops  

The free shuttle service started in April 2020 for NHS workers  The 
shuttles linked West Midlands Metro stops with Walsall Manor 
Hospital and Wolverhampton New Cross Hospital, along with shuttle 
services in Dudley for Russells Hall Hospital and services to Good Hope 
Hospital in Sutton Coldfield   By the end of 2020, these services had 
been used for 30,000 trips by NHS workers  

P
age 31



20Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Patterns of demand – where people travel to and 
from and when – are likely to diverge significantly 
from trends before the pandemic  The shift to remote 
working and the increased role of e-commerce has 
been accelerated  The roles that big centres and our 
local neighbourhoods play in our lives could well 
change because of this  The effect of these changes 
is likely to be more complex than a simple reduction 
in the amount of travel; we are likely to see that 
where travel for some reasons and between particular 
places may reduce, other kinds of travel demand may 
increase  Consider:

• If remote working becomes more popular, people 
may live further from the office  This may mean 
that a reduction in frequency of commuting is 
counteracted by an increase in commuting journey 
lengths 

• If e-commerce becomes more popular, people 
may have goods delivered on a weeknight freeing 
up their weekend for leisure trips and trips to see 
friends and family, which tend to be longer than 
shopping trips 

Public transport faces serious challenges ahead  
As with many businesses, demand for services 
has dropped during the pandemic  People were 
specifically advised to avoid using public transport 
during the pandemic where they could to help 
manage the spread of the virus  Maintaining service 
levels has required greater public subsidy because 
there have been fewer fares collected  There is a 
concern that as people have adopted new behaviours 
to avoid public transport where they can, these 
behaviours may persist after the pandemic is over  

Furthermore, much of the fare paying demand for 
public transport comes from regular commuting 
to and from busy centres  With the likely move to 
remote working, this is also likely to reduce demand 
for these services  

It is difficult to predict the long-term behavioural 
consequences of the pandemic, however, they will 
be influenced by public policies  There is a desire 
to “build back better” but doing so will require a 
conscious effort to do things differently  

Investment in transport can support the economic 
recovery from COVID-19 both in terms of direct 
employment to support development, delivery 
and management of infrastructure and services, 
but also by improving access  Getting the most 
out of this investment will need us to focus on “no 
regrets” actions that are consistent with our desire 
to “build back better” by providing the right kinds of 
improvement to access, but also that are resilient to 
any uncertainties in how the world will be disrupted 
in the long term by the experience of the pandemic 

Reflection

What are some of the changes in 
how we live that you’d like to keep 
after the pandemic?

P
age 32



21Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Changes to travel demand during COVID-19 pandemic

Public transport and car demand

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

Ap
r

M
ay Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov D
ec Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

Ap
r

M
ay Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov D
ec

N
um

be
r o

f c
yc

lis
ts

 c
ou

nt
ed

Canal On Road Off Road Shared Footway

2019 2020-100

-80

-60

-40

-20

0

20

M
ar

Ap
r

M
ay Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov D
ec Ja
n

%
 d

iff
. f

ro
m

 p
re

-C
O
V
ID

-1
9 

pa
nd

em
ic

 n
or

m
al

Bus Metro Rail Motorway

Source: TfWM Data Insight Service analysis

Travel restrictions and social distancing have caused reductions in travel across 
all modes  Car use recovered more than public transport when restrictions were 
lifted  Rail demand has remained particularly low 

Cycle counts

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

Ap
r

M
ay Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov D
ec Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

Ap
r

M
ay Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov D
ec

N
um

be
r o

f c
yc

lis
ts

 c
ou

nt
ed

Canal On Road Off Road Shared Footway

2019 2020-100

-80

-60

-40

-20

0

20

M
ar

Ap
r

M
ay Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov D
ec Ja
n

%
 d

iff
. f

ro
m

 p
re

-C
O
V
ID

-1
9 

pa
nd

em
ic

 n
or

m
al

Bus Metro Rail Motorway

Many needed to cycle as a way of avoiding public transport and getting more exercise, 
and they were better able to cycle owing to the quieter streets, which people felt were 
safer and more pleasant to cycle on  As a result, cycling levels were much higher during 
2020 than preceding years P

age 33



22Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Section 3: Our Motives for Change
Inclusive Growth in the West Midlands 
means that all citizens can shape, 
contribute and benefit from the 
advancement of the region 

It is a deliberate and socially purposeful model of 
economic growth – measured not only by how fast 
or aggressive it is; but also by how well it is shared 
across the whole population and place, and the 
capacity of our environment to sustain it 

WMCA’s goal for Inclusive Growth is to occupy a 
space where social need, economic ambition and our 
responsibilities to the environment are in balance 

Inclusive Growth Framework

The space for a balanced, inclusive economy is where social 
challenges can be met without degrading the environment

Sustainability

Health and 
wellbeing

Education 
and learning

Affordable, 
safe and 
connected 

places

Power, 
influence and 
participation

Economy Equality

Biodiversity

Reducing
CO2

Circular
economy

Air quality
A balanced, inclusive West 

Midlands economy

Transport’s relationship with Inclusive Growth is 
complex:

• Meeting many of our needs and ambitions relies 
on transport connections;

• But those same transport connections have 
impacts that the environment can’t sustain 
and which are detrimental to other social and 
economic outcomes; and 

• Improving connections for a particular group of 
people, by a particular mode, to particular places 
can limit and even worsen connectivity elsewhere 
for others 

P
age 34



23Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

TfWM has adopted five Motives for Change to 
frame society’s relationship with transport and the 
sort of society and places in which we want to live   
They explain why change, although difficult in the 
short-term, is likely to be much better for all in the 
long-term  This is because following through with 
the changes to satisfy our Motives for Change will 
involve trade-offs between benefits, impacts and 
other aspects of transport that many value 

All the Motives for Change are important  As 
we work with the public to set a new direction for 
transport, our collective challenge will be finding a 
new direction that best delivers the level of change 
people want across all our Motives for Change  

Any big changes to our transport system and the 
way we travel must be based on widely held public 
consensus; preparedness to travel differently 
and acceptance of the public policies that will 
effectively deliver change 

Change can be intimidating and some may be 
better positioned to adapt than others  We of 
course need to support those who need it most, 
however, in general we are often more adaptable 
and resilient to change than we give ourselves 
credit 

Through this green paper, we explore the changes 
to transport that can address the challenges we’ve 
set out, but we also need to understand whether 
the public feels there are paths we should not 
take, where progress towards one or more goals 
could be outweighed by negative impacts on other 
aspects of our lives Our Motives for Change

Why 
change?

Sustaining
 economic 

success

Tackling the 
climate 

emergency

Creating 
a fairer 
society

Becoming 
more 
active

Supporting 
local 

communities 
and places

P
age 35



24Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Motive 1: Sustaining economic success

Inclusive economy

Social and economic activity requires people and 
businesses to be able to access other places, people 
and resources  Reducing barriers and costs to travel 
can unlock new social and economic opportunities - 
helping people and businesses prosper, and enabling 
places to regenerate and develop  

However, reducing barriers to travel in an untargeted 
way can also be detrimental to economic success or 
make it increasingly difficult to sustain, for example 
where:

• Increased travel is accompanied by external 
impacts that harm our economy such as climate 
change and poor health of workers;

• Limited capacity for travel becomes congested 
with too many vehicles making journey times 
unreliable and reducing how far people can travel 
in a given time frame as the number of vehicles 
increases; and

• Transport infrastructure becomes more costly to 
maintain as more infrastructure is built and the 
demands on it increase 

It is also important to consider who benefits from 
reduced barriers to travel and how this can affect the 
economy  For example,

• Improving connectivity beyond our region can 
increase the labour pool that local businesses 
can access  This may help local businesses 
secure labour with particular skills sets that are 
challenging to source locally 

• Those who are more deprived are generally 
much less mobile than others (particularly where 
they lack access to a car)  Targeted measures to 
increase the mobility of this group can enable 
them to participate more fully in our economy 
helping the region to prosper and levelling up their 
life outcomes 

Finally, it is also important to consider that quality 
of life and places are key factors that help attract 
and retain citizens and businesses in our area, 
supporting economic growth  Changes to transport 
can have either positive or negative impacts on 
places and quality of life and so this must be taken 
into account when thinking how transport helps (or 
hinders) us to prosper 

P
age 36



25Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

We can unlock sustainable economic growth by changing our approach

A comparison of the limitations 
of allowing current trends and 
practices to continue vs  the 
economic potential of a more 
inclusive approach to mobility 
are set out opposite

Status quo More inclusive mobility

Description We focus on improving specific connections by adding or increasing the 
capacity of road and rail links  We continue to take actions that result in 
modal shift on journeys to centres but without overall reductions in traffic 
and without wider behaviour change across the region  We encourage a 
shift to Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) but without more fundamental 
changes to personal vehicles  We continue to adopt a laissez faire policy to 
freight and deliveries 

We focus on improving the mobility of those who are currently 
mobility poor  This includes a continued focus on public transport and 
active travel, but also includes more transformational levelling up of 
mobility through permitting new, more affordable and lower impact 
forms of mobility such as micromobility  We also focus on improving 
opportunities locally  We generate a significant shift from car usage 
to more sustainable forms of mobility  We take action to encourage 
better consolidation and planning of freight and deliveries 

Effect on mobility This would have a marginal effect on mobility as we would be adding/
improving links on an already extensive transport network 

This would enable much greater participation in the economy 
by enabling more people to be mobile, resulting in more 
transformational economic benefits 

Effect on external 
impacts

Traffic at best gets no worse into centres and at worst increases everywhere 
with associated worsening impacts on places, people and the environment  
Tailpipe emissions reduce but road, tyre and brake wear continue to be 
an issue  Total energy consumption of transport activity increases, with 
consequent climate impacts  

Traffic reduces and the vehicles used for personal travel have fewer 
impacts  This reduces noise, pollution, stress, road collisions and 
community severance caused by traffic, which reduces the economic 
costs and foregone opportunities associated with these impacts 

Effect on resilience The extent of the transport network expands as new links are formed and 
upgraded but the number and weight of vehicles increases at a rate that 
outpaces this  The result is increased maintenance costs because of a more 
extensive and heavily trafficked network and resultant disruptions  

Traffic and the impacts of traffic on transport infrastructure 
(particularly highways) reduce  This reduces maintenance costs and 
helps keep the network well-maintained 

Effect on congestion Congestion reaches a limit where people will not accept longer travel times and 
choose other destinations  This excludes many from the benefits of opportunities 
in strategic employment centres  This stunts the growth of centres and over 
time the congestion spreads further as people seek opportunities elsewhere  
The congestion results in highly unreliable journey times representing significant 
economic costs 

There is sufficient capacity to cope with transport demands but with 
some crowding on public transport during the peak travel periods  
Regardless, journey times become much more reliable 

P
age 37



26Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, the West 
Midlands was experiencing a renaissance 
of economic growth and regeneration  We 
want to ensure our region continues to 
succeed but our ambition is to ‘build back 
better’  

Like many urban areas, the success of the 
West Midlands economy has historically 
been linked to mobility  More people 
and more trade meant more movement 
and more vehicles  Moving out of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the West Midlands 
faces the challenge of economic recovery 
and rebalancing  There is a need to 
decouple growth from the impacts of 
transport to address all our Motives 
for Change  This could require us to 
move towards lower impact forms of 
mobility that make more efficient use of 
available capacity and to ensure that the 
transport system enables those who are 
marginalised by its current form to better 
contribute to and benefit from the region’s 
economic successes  

To “build back better” from the pandemic 
we could take more targeted actions 
to reduce travel barriers to catalyse 
growth by improving access in a way that 
ensures we make best use of existing 
infrastructure, reduce the negative 
impacts of transport and create new 
opportunities for those who are less 
mobile  This will ensure economic success 
is catalysed, can be sustained, spread 
across the population and coupled with a 
better quality of life  

We think that an objective for a new 
Local Transport Plan should be: 

Inclusive economy - We will inclusively 
grow our economy by reducing travel 
barriers in a way that reduces the economic 
costs of transport’s externalities and 
maintaining the network, improves the 
reliability of the network, improves the 
health of the workforce, and levels up 
access to opportunities for those who are 
less mobile to enable greater participation 
in the economy 

Reflection

We have historically seen transport 
and economic success intrinsically 
linked   They will still be important to 
each other but there are ways that 
we can help the green economy’s 
relationship to be less reliant on 
transport 

If the long term aim is to reduce 
traffic then does it make sense to 
build infrastructure that enables and 
encourages traffic growth?

Is there a better way to deliver 
Inclusive Growth? Should we be doing 
it by improving the mobility of those 
who are already mobility rich or by 
improving the access for those who 
are mobility poor?

P
age 38



27Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Mobility market transformation 

The historic relationship between the West Midlands 
economic success and mobility goes beyond 
increasing travel  

The West Midlands is a key UK centre of automotive 
manufacturing and production, with 54,000 people 
employed in motor vehicle manufacturing 

It is also part of the UK’s so called “Golden Triangle” 
within a 4-hour drive to all major UK ports and 90% 
of the UK’s population  As such, it is the location 
of choice for some of the UK’s major industries and 
largest distribution centres  Freight and logistics, a 
key sector for the West Midlands, supports almost 
every other economic sector, employing around 
100,000 and generating £9 5 billion GVA 

There are also those employed in public transport 
services in our region, including many who work for 
National Express Group, a leading public transport 
operator with bus, coach and rail services across the 
world, headquartered in the West Midlands 

Much of the value of these sectors to the West 
Midlands is externally traded; not everyone in the 
West Midlands is driving a car that is made here, 
most of them are exported  So whilst local transport 
policies in the West Midlands may affect these 
industries, they only affect a proportion of their 
market, which may be large (in the case of public 
transport) or small (in the case of automotive) 

However, many of the changes we believe are needed 
to transport here in the West Midlands, are also likely 
changes that are needed across the UK (and perhaps 
even the world) 

These shifts will represent great challenges and 
opportunities to industry, both in terms of products and 
services created here and exported, and products and 
services created here and used by West Midlanders  
Some examples of the challenges faced include:

• The automotive sector faces significant challenges 
with phasing out internal combustion engines but 
also with potential shifts away from private vehicle 
ownership to shared ownership and away from 
fashionable high-powered cars to vehicles more 
appropriate for urban usage; and

• The freight and logistics sector also faces a great 
challenge with phasing out internal combustion 
engines, but also with reducing vehicle miles 
through consolidation of deliveries and minimising 
the impacts of delivery vehicles in places with high 
pedestrian footfall 

However, there are also plenty of opportunities for 
new industrial activity in the provision of transport 
products and services that better support Inclusive 
Growth; after all, there will always be demand for 
transport 

The West Midlands currently leads on the Industrial 
Strategy’s ‘Future of Mobility’ grand challenge 
building on its existing strengths in automotive 
innovation (e g  the UK Battery Industrialisation 
Centre), and connected supply chains in rail, 
automotive and aerospace as well as digital 
communications with the West Midlands 5G testbed   

We are piloting and leading on a broad spectrum of 
transport innovations and technologies including 

micromobility (such as e-scooters), Mobility as a 
Service (MaaS), connected autonomous vehicles 
(CAV) and mobility credit trials   We have also 
developed a UK first proposal for a transport 
regulatory ‘sandbox’ to help test and develop new 
solutions to our transport challenges  The West 
Midlands already has well developed infrastructure 
and energy plans to support the shift to zero carbon  

Cementing our position as a UK industry leader in 
mobility sectors will attract new investment, create 
and sustain highly-skilled jobs, accelerate clustering 
and catalyse innovation - boosting the international 
competitiveness of the region  However, it will 
require industrial transition  

We think that an objective for a new Local Transport 
Plan should be:

Mobility market transformation - We will support 
industrial transformation of the mobility sector to 
position West Midlands as a global leader in future 
transport by creating a local transport market that 
enables innovation, development and deployment 
of transport products and services that best support 
Inclusive Growth 

P
age 39



28Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

I think the car has made for an unequal 
society, particularly for those on low/no 
incomes who don’t have a choice…how 
we have put cars and transport above 
the needs of pedestrians is backwards 
and counter productive, we’ve created a 
car led society which creates unsightly 
streets, noise, pollution and everything 
else that entails 

45-64, Sandwell, 1 car in household, 
No licence

Motive 2: Creating a fairer society

Addressing transport inequity is twofold:

• Ensuring people have more equitable access to 
opportunities to support a more socially mobile 
West Midlands where everyone can prosper; and

• Reducing the negative impacts of transport, 
which generally are disproportionately attributable 
to the travel behaviour of more mobile citizens 
and disproportionately impact those who are more 
deprived  

Fair access

Where you can travel is a big determinant of what 
you can access and affects the extent that people can 
participate in the economy and society  There are a 
number of key factors which can affect whether the 
transport system provides good access for everyone:

• How land is used – Where people live and how 
employment, opportunities and services are 
distributed is the biggest underlying driver of 
demand for transport and who can access what;

• The availability and affordability of transport – 
This includes cost, geographic accessibility, the 
design of the network, and availability of transport 
through the day; and

• The experience and usability of transport – 
Many factors affect whether people feel safe and 
confident using the transport system including 
a broad spectrum of things from the quality of 
information available to them, to fear of being a 
victim of crime/road collision  

The car remains the most popular choice because 
it offers affordability at the point of use and 
flexible convenience   However, the popularity of 
the car hampers the ability to provide high quality 
alternatives  Consider:

• More car drivers means less fare paying bus users 
means reduced bus services;

• Congestion impacts the ability to provide reliable 
bus journey times; and

• Heavy traffic dissuades people from walking and 
cycling  

The barriers to good access are often higher for 
particular groups; for example, the form of the 
transport system disadvantages those experiencing 
deprivation and disability, but also those from 
particular age, gender and ethnic minority groups  
This inequity of access to opportunity reduces social 
mobility and participation   These groups also often 
live in areas that experience the worst levels of 
adverse impacts from transport 

Improving access to social and economic 
opportunities to disadvantaged communities can 
be achieved by reducing their barriers to travel  
We often achieve this through changes such as 
improving connectivity via new or improved public 
transport services, or through reducing the cost of 
travel through subsidies   While important, it is not 
enough to support Inclusive Growth; there are wider 
systematic issues which cause inequity of access  

A systematic issue is the difference in mobility 
between those with and without access to a car and 
the way that land has been developed and used in a 
way which is geared towards car ownership  The result 
is those with access to a car have a much higher level 
of access to opportunity than those who don’t   The 
extent to which this gap in access can be closed by 
extra public transport services or concessions is limited 
within the bounds of what is realistically affordable 
through public subsidy 

This isn’t a minor issue; 1 in 4 households in the West 
Midlands don’t have a car and most households with 
a car don’t have one for every person  

P
age 40



29Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The gap in access to opportunity

People with cars can access more than those without  Most West Midlands 
residents could accesss more than double the job opportunities within 
45 minutes of where they live with a car than without a car 

Jobs accessible within 45 minutes without a car

Source: PRISM

Jobs accessible within 45 minutes with a car

Number of jobs accessible within 
45 minutes

Areas within lowest 10% 
of Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation

Legend

P
age 41



30Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Inequalities in access to a car across different groups

UK inequalities in car access by gender

1985 2000 2019 1985 2000 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
gender

Male Female
Lowest real 

income 
level

Second 
level

Third level Fourth 
level

Highest 
real 

income 
level

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
income (2019)

Live in house without car/van
Non driver in house with car/van
Other driver in house with car/van
Main driver in house with car/van

2002 2010 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Improving car access for those 
on lower incomes

Live in house without car/van

Non driver in house with car/van

Other driver in house with car/van

Main driver in house with car/van

1985 2000 2019 1985 2000 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
gender

Male Female
Lowest real 

income 
level

Second 
level

Third level Fourth 
level

Highest 
real 

income 
level

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
income (2019)

Live in house without car/van
Non driver in house with car/van
Other driver in house with car/van
Main driver in house with car/van

2002 2010 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Improving car access for those 
on lower incomes

Live in house without car/van

Non driver in house with car/van

Other driver in house with car/van

Main driver in house with car/van

UK inequalities in car access by income (2019) 

1985 2000 2019 1985 2000 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
gender

Male Female
Lowest real 

income 
level

Second 
level

Third level Fourth 
level

Highest 
real 

income 
level

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
income (2019)

Live in house without car/van
Non driver in house with car/van
Other driver in house with car/van
Main driver in house with car/van

2002 2010 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Improving car access for those 
on lower incomes

Live in house without car/van

Non driver in house with car/van

Other driver in house with car/van

Main driver in house with car/van

1985 2000 2019 1985 2000 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
gender

Male Female
Lowest real 

income 
level

Second 
level

Third level Fourth 
level

Highest 
real 

income 
level

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
income (2019)

Live in house without car/van
Non driver in house with car/van
Other driver in house with car/van
Main driver in house with car/van

2002 2010 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Improving car access for those 
on lower incomes

Live in house without car/van

Non driver in house with car/van

Other driver in house with car/van

Main driver in house with car/van

UK improving car access for those on lower incomes

1985 2000 2019 1985 2000 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
gender

Male Female
Lowest real 

income 
level

Second 
level

Third level Fourth 
level

Highest 
real 

income 
level

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
income (2019)

Live in house without car/van
Non driver in house with car/van
Other driver in house with car/van
Main driver in house with car/van

2002 2010 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Improving car access for those 
on lower incomes

Live in house without car/van

Non driver in house with car/van

Other driver in house with car/van

Main driver in house with car/van

1985 2000 2019 1985 2000 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
gender

Male Female
Lowest real 

income 
level

Second 
level

Third level Fourth 
level

Highest 
real 

income 
level

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
income (2019)

Live in house without car/van
Non driver in house with car/van
Other driver in house with car/van
Main driver in house with car/van

2002 2010 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Improving car access for those 
on lower incomes

Live in house without car/van

Non driver in house with car/van

Other driver in house with car/van

Main driver in house with car/van

Access to cars has been improving amongst groups that historically have had poorer access  However, there is still a significant proportion of 
people without access to cars and particular groups such as women and those on lower incomes who are effectively less mobile because of it  
Providing everyone with access to a car might level the playing field, but it would worsen many of our other problems 

P
age 42



31Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The issue is more complex than the fact that it is the 
more deprived communities that tend to be less likely 
to own a car   Many people feel that not having a car 
denies them of a decent quality of life, particularly 
when it comes to having to find employment, manage 
the travel needs of having a family and finding 
affordable housing that meets their requirements  

Across the UK motoring has become more affordable 
as public transport has become less affordable  At the 
same time, whilst public transport service levels may 
have been maintained along key corridors into centres, 
elsewhere a reduction in farebox income and subsidy has 
led to reduced services in places  This has happened as 
A) land uses changed and patterns of travel demand have 
become more disperse as cars became more affordable 
leading to even greater switches from public transport 
to car use leaving operators with reduced income and B) 
subsidies have reduced with austerity policies 

This spiralling pattern of greater affordability of 
motoring relative to public transport and reduced 
usefulness and availability of public transport has 
meant many on lower incomes have stretched their 
finances by taking on a car  At the same time, many 
have moved to more affordable suburbs, where 
mobility via public transport is worse 

In the West Midlands we have invested significantly 
to address these wider issues by improving bus 
routes and introducing best value fare capping   But 
more needs to be done to ensure  people are do 
not become more dependent on their cars   This 
is especially so for those might be in a financially 
precarious position where increases to the cost 
of motoring can represent a serious issue for their 
mobility and funding wider household needs 

I do think those that have access to a car have greater 
flexibility and access to destinations  Having a car 
often results in less prior journey schedule planning 
and frees up time to complete a lot more in a day 

45-64, Walsall, No cars in household, Driver

Our family would not be able to function as we do without 
a car, because it is quicker to use the car  We are able to 
support picking up grandchildren, dropping off to various 
after school clubs etc, otherwise we would not be able to do 
it without the advantage of having a car 

45-46, Birmingham, 2 cars in household, Driver

I have always taken my car for granted but I should 
realise that is gives people, particularly women, a 
sense of freedom and independence 

65+, Wolverhampton, 2 cars in household, Driver

When an individual has access to a car, it means 
their lifestyle can be improved in many ways  For 
example, it’s easier for them to get to work and 
commute as well as being easier for shopping for 
essentials  It also gives a better lifestyle in the the way 
it allows you to visit friends and family more easily 

16-24, Sandwell, 3+ cars in household, Driver
Able to work more flexibly, work during bank holidays and 
Xmas day when public transport is limited  Able to drive to 
places that are more green like seasides and beauty spots 
and have a better way of life 

45-64, Birmingham, No cars in household, Provisional 
driver

P
age 43



32Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Interrelations between transport and poverty

Source: NatCen Social Research on behalf of DfT Source: NatCen Social Research on behalf of DfT

Transport barriers are an important factor in determining our ability to prosper 

It is unlikely that we can ever level up the mobility 
provided by public transport and active travel to the 
same level as cars today 

It is important that we continue to make significant 
improvements to public transport services and 
active travel, enabling these options to provide 
other attractive benefits which the car does not – 
such as wider experiences and the opportunity to 
do other activities whilst travelling  

However, if equity of access is a key aim, then we 
could look beyond these traditional solutions to 
close gaps in mobility across the population so that 
particular groups are not unfairly excluded from 
taking advantage of opportunities in and around our 
region  This is particularly important if the general 
population continues to be highly mobile in the 
future as they are today (by virtue of access to cars) 

We believe that an objective for the new Local 
Transport Plan should be:

Fair access - We will improve social mobility by 
improving equity of access to opportunity by ensuring 
everyone, regardless of personal circumstance, has 
safe, usable and affordable travel choices that enable 
them to prosper 

P
age 44



33Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Citizens’ views on equity of access

A transport system that is designed for all is believed 
to have great potential in creating a fairer, more 
equal society, where acess to basic necessities and 
opportunities is not determined by access to a car  

A transport system FOR ALL should be   

Inclusive Integrated

Affordable Attractive

Accessible Safe

Well connected Diverse

Source: TfWM’s Market Research Online Community

Access to basic necessities is the starting point

Necessities are more important but 
if you can go further then that’s great, 
but if the basic necessities aren’t there 
what’s the point of trying to go further 
when all passengers don’t even have 
what they need 

16-24, Coventry, 2 cars in household, 
Provisional licence

A transport system for all should 
focus on offering basic necessities 
for all  Equal access would exist in an 
ideal world around every corner but is 
it feasible on a massive scale? Equal 
access should be ensured where it is 
needed the most 

25-44, Coventry, No cars in 
household, Driver

I think we should ensure equal access 
to all opportunities but start off with 
the basic necessities  We should see 
what is working and what isn’t  Then 
what is working we can expand on 
those so that we can develop and 
progress the transport system 

25-44, Birmingham, 2 cars in 
household, Driver

Equal opportunites for all is the end goal

It should try to ensure equal access to 
opportunities for all because it would 
allow people to all have an equal 
chance at pursuing something rather 
than it depending on if you’re able to 
reach it due to being able to afford a 
car and the mobility it brings 

16-24, Dudley, 2 cars in household, 
No licence

I feel it should go that step further, as it 
would mean that everyone would be 
able to access places and areas they 
wouldn’t normally be able to  This 
would open up job opportunities and 
give them access to facilities that they 
would benefit hugely from 

45-64, Sandwell, 1 car in household, 
No licence

It recognises difference in need across 
the lifespan and proactively enhances 
quality of life 

45-64, Birmingham, No cars in 
household, Driver

P
age 45



34Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Fair impacts

Any transport system has an impact on people; 
pollution and poor air quality, accident risk and busy 
roads affect people’s health and wellbeing, make 
people feel less safe, and reduce the quality of the 
urban environment 

How much we are affected depends on:

• Exposure to traffic – this tends to be higher 
amongst those working and living in more heavily 
trafficked areas; and

• Physical and mental condition and health – 
some people may cope better with the effects of 
transport depending on their age and other factors 
affecting their wellbeing   

The effects of air pollution are cumulative and 
compounding; exposure to air pollution can 
irreversibly worsen physical condition and health, 
which in turn makes people more vulnerable to 
further exposure 

There are also particular deprived communities where 
exposure to air pollution is high because of nearby 
heavily trafficked roads (particularly in inner city 
areas and along major arterial routes)  In these same 
communities, instances of poor health are already 
higher owing to wider health inequalities, and this 
makes these communities more vulnerable to the 
impacts of air pollution  The effect is that air pollution 
has a disproportionately high impact on the health of 
these communities 

There is also a strong link between risk of injury 
and death from road collisions and who you are  
Pedestrians and cyclists are obviously vulnerable 
road users  However, in particular children and 
young people from deprived areas face the highest 
risks particularly on main roads, residential roads 
near shops and leisure services  Deprived areas tend 
to be more hazardous environments, with greater 
proximity to heavy traffic and high levels of on-street 
parking  Furthermore, exposure to these hazards is 
exacerbated by a reliance on walking, and the lack 
of safe spaces for children and young people  Higher 
levels of hazardous and illegal driving behaviour also 
pose a greater risk in these areas 

P
age 46



35Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

More than 1 in 
20 deaths

Deaths in the West Midlands attributable 
to fine particulate matter (PM2 5)

38 4 for 
every 100,000 

residents

People killed or seriously injured in a 
traffic accident between 2016 and 2018

235,000 
residents

Exposed to levels of night-time noise 
pollution that can increase risk of 
heart attack

Physical and mental health conditions are adversely influenced by the 
stress associated with living in neighbourhoods where the environment is 
seen as threatening, such as high volumes of fast-moving traffic, where 
the quality of the housing is poor and where public transport facilities 
are lacking 

We think that an objective for a new Local Transport Plan should be:

Fair impacts - We will reduce the negative external effects of transport 
on people’s health and wellbeing by improving road safety, reducing air 
pollution, and reducing noise 

Reflection

The transport system in the West Midlands 
is not working for everyone   Whilst there are 
improvements that are and can be made through 
transport policy and strategy, there are also 
changes in the way we plan for homes and provide 
access to key services such as employment, 
education and healthcare and in a way which 
reduces the negative impacts of transport for 
everyone 

P
age 47



36Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Motive 3: Supporting local 
communities and places

Local access 

The West Midlands is a region of diverse places 
and people   Our cities, towns, villages and 
neighbourhoods are all different and make the West 
Midlands what it is   We know that residents in the 
West Midlands are proud of their local areas 

As generations have become more mobile and 
spend more time online, this has enabled people to 
build connections and maintain relationships with 
people across a much broader area  People enjoy this 
freedom to expand their reach, but it has led to many 
spending less time in their local neighbourhoods and 
forming weaker relationships with their neighbours  
There has been a decline in local centres, with people 
being attracted to out of town shopping centres and 
online shopping  Greater segregation of land uses 
and low-density car-oriented residential development 
have put many services out of easy reach of residents 
without a car, encouraging them to drive rather than 
travel more sustainably 

The COVID-19 pandemic has given many people 
an opportunity to re-discover their local areas 
and to reassess the importance and value of local 
communities pulling together  More flexible and 
remote working in particular has enabled people to 
explore the benefits of their local communities 

it’s nice to have a vibrant community on your doorstep, without 
having to travel too far to access the facilities, many people do 
not have access to a vehicle so to be able to enjoy the outside 
more both for our physical health and mental health and to meet 
other people would be a great asset 

65+, Solihull, No cars in household, Driver The West Midlands is a region of diverse places and people 
– it is our unique strength   Our cities, towns, villages and 
neighbourhoods are all different and have a range of characteristics 
and are what makes the West Midlands   We know that residents in 
the West Midlands are proud of their local areas  Everyone is always 
fighting for space, reserved parking spaces are a joke as no one 
cares for them  The roads are packed either side with massive lines 
of cars making it all very uncomfortable and uneasy 

16-24, Sandwell, No cars in household, Non licence holder

Local communities have lost essential businesses and 
services  Many villages and towns had their own shops 
e g  butchers, greengrocers, bakers etc  The car has 
lead to people travelling further to larger supermarkets, 
leaving smaller local businesses to suffer 

25-44, Dudley, 1 car in household, No licence

P
age 48



37Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

3 in 5 people note that there 
are occasions when they travel 

further than they have to, primarily 
for shopping purposes e g  trips to city 
centres for a wider range of items, or to 

shopping centres for convenience, 
or if they’re wanting to visit 

a specific store 

Sometimes people will also 
travel further than necessary 
when visiting particular bars 
and restaurants or meeting 

up with friends Source: TfWM’s Market 
Research Online Community

A new and strengthened role for local 
neighbourhoods in the lives of their people will need 
to evolve to adapt to the modern world; for example, 
e-commerce is here to stay, however, there may be 
particular goods and services that people prefer to 
access locally  Access to green space and safe spaces 
to play and exercise are also important 

The majority of the West Midlands population live 
within walking distance of key services; such as 
schools, food stores, doctors surgeries and post 
offices  However, the walking experience is often less 
than convenient, and whilst people may have access 
to a shop or a school by foot, they often lack a variety 
of choices; people and places thrive where they have 
more options 

The 15-minute neighbourhood concept is based 
around the idea that residents can access a good 
variety of daily goods and services within 15 
minutes of their home without using a car  This can 
help people live healthier and reduce the impacts 
of traffic in their area  However, for this concept to 
work, it has to be underpinned by excellent local 
sustainable connections and land use strategies 
that enable greater density and mixed uses, not 
just in new developments but in the existing urban 
environment too 

We think that an objective for a new Local Transport 
Plan should be: 

Local access - We will strengthen local communities 
and economies by improving local sustainable travel 
connectivity and removing severance within and 
between neighbourhoods by sustainable means to 
provide better access to local opportunities 

P
age 49



38Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Localising social and economic activity

There are examples from around the world where transport and land use 
policymakers are working with communities to understand how to create 
places in which most people’s daily needs can be met within a short walk, 
cycle or perhaps public transport journey 

Ensuring more can be accessed sustainably in local areas is essential 
for enabling the reduction of travel (and its impacts) whilst supporting 
inclusive and resilient communities where people enjoy good access 
to fundamental needs 

This is a concept that TfWM will look to develop more with partners and 
the public as we engage on this green paper and develop the new LTP 

Reflection

With quieter streets and a good selection of 
local services and amenities, could you imagine 
travelling less and staying more locally within a 
15-minute neighbourhood?

20-Minute Neigbourhood
Victorian Government, Australia

99OUTCOME 5

Neighbourhood activity centres are an integral part 
of the city’s vibrant community life and critical to the 
creation of 20-minute neighbourhoods. These high 
streets and specialised strips of shops, cafés, small 
supermarkets, service businesses, community services 
and public spaces serve the needs of the surrounding 
community and provide a focus not only for local jobs but 
also for social interaction and community participation. 

A 20-minute neighbourhood can create a more cohesive 
and inclusive community with a vibrant local economy—
reducing social exclusion, improving health and wellbeing, 
promoting a sense of place, reducing travel costs and 
traffic congestion, and reducing carbon emissions across 
the city as a whole.

Due to the specialised and diverse nature of many 
people’s work, access to employment will often be outside 
the 20-minute neighbourhood.

Policy 5.1.1

Create mixed-use neighbourhoods at 

varying densities

Neighbourhoods need to offer more choice in housing 
so they can accommodate a more diverse population, 
create opportunities for local businesses and new jobs, 
and deliver better access to local services and facilities.

Local government is best placed to understand and 
apply local solutions. The Victorian Government has 
a role in providing a supporting framework, including 
overarching strategies (such as for housing needs and 
metropolitan open space), to enable local government 
to better deliver local solutions for all residents. 

The application of zones, such as the Residential Growth 
Zone and the Mixed Use Zone, can facilitate diverse 
housing and a greater mix of uses at varying densities.

Policy 5.1.2

Support a network of vibrant neighbourhood 

activity centres

The attributes of and opportunities for neighbourhood 
activity centres at the local level vary across Melbourne. 
That is why local communities should lead the planning 
of their own centres.

Where centres are well established or communities 
are seeking to protect the unique character of their 
centres (such as protecting heritage buildings or access 
to public land or open space to achieve community 
benefit), they should be assisted in determining the 
desired built form outcomes.

Local governments will be supported to prepare 
structure plans for their neighbourhood activity centres 
to help deliver 20-minute neighbourhoods.

Figure 12

The 20-minute neighbourhood

Local health
facilities and services

Local shopping
centres

Well connected 
to public transport,
jobs and services
within the region

Local schools

Lifelong learning
opportunities

Safe streets
and spaces

Local playgrounds
and parks

Ability to age in place

Housing diversity

Walkability

Local
public transport

Safe cycling
networks

Affordable housing
options

Green streets
and spaces

Community
gardens

Sport and
recreation facilities

Local employment
opportunities

20-minute
neighbourhood

The ability to meet most of your  
everyday needs locally within a 

20-minute journey from home by 
walking, cycling, riding or local 

public transport

Source: Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning

Quarter Hour Paris
Mayor of Paris, France

Le Paris    du quart d'heure

20-Minute Towns and a 45-Minute City
Land Transport Authority, Singapore

P
age 50



39Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Streets for communities

The role and character of streets in our region 
has significantly evolved in the last 100 years  As 
we’ve become more mobile and car ownership has 
become more affordable, the number of vehicles on 
our streets has increased at a greater rate than the 
space available for them  As a result our streets have 
become ever more heavily trafficked and occupied 
with parked vehicles  

There are some streets in our region where people 
are frequently parking illegally, causing obstructions 
to other people, as the number of local vehicles has 
simply exceeded the capacity to park them safely  The 
space available is not increasing in these places but 
the number of vehicles could continue to rise 

Citizens’ views on the impact of traffic on places

Those who have a generally positive 
experience (around a third) with 
traffic say:

They don’t tend to have much traffic, or 
only have some peak hours, which is seen as 
tolerable at most 

People in the local area tend to drive safely 
(e g  at or below the speed limit )

There are a number of local travel options 
e g  good bus system, trains etc  which 
eases traffic, or helps people to avoid traffic 

Those who have a generally negative 
experience (around two thirds) with 
traffic say:

Congestion is continuous, and some live 
in areas where collisions and accidents are 
commonplace 

There are issues with speeding and 
dangerous driving, making both driving and 
walking difficult 

Roadworks are commonplace and cause 
disruption and delays 

Suggestions to improve traffic 
issues included:

More frequent/reliable public transport 

More policing locally 

Adding speed bumps in areas prone 
to speeding

A focus on ‘walk to school’ schemes to 
reduce congestion and on-street parking 
caused by parents at drop off/pick-up 

Source: TfWM’s Market Research Online Community

P
age 51



40Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Streets are filling with parked cars

1

1.05

1.1

1.15

1.2

1.25

1.3

1.35
20

02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

In
de

x o
f n

o.
 ca

rs
 p

ar
ke

d 
on

-s
tr

ee
t a

t 
ho

m
e 

ov
er

ni
gh

t i
n 

th
e 

W
es

t M
id

la
nd

s

Source: Analysis of NTS (DfT) and APS (ONS)

80%

16%

4%

of the 
time 
parked at 
home

of the 
time 
parked 
elsewhere

of the 
time in 
use

The average car spends…

Source: RAC Foundation

Streets are filling with parked cars…

Source: Analysis of NTS (DfT) and APS (ONS)

The proportion of cars that are kept on-street overnight has remained relatively constant  However, 
the number of cars per household and the number of households have been increasing as motoring 
has become more affordable and as the population has grown  This has meant that in places where 
there is no off-street parking, more and more vehicles are being parked on-street  The space for this 
has run out in some places in our region 

The average car spends   

80% of the time parked 
at home

16% of the time parked 
elsewhere

4% of the time in use

Source: RAC Foundation

P
age 52



41Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The impact of traffic and mobility on local communities

Skipton Building Society UK Survey (2018)

68% Consider neighbours as strangers

67% Admitted that days passed without seeing 
others living on the same street

73% Don’t know their neighbours’ names

51% Don’t know the names of the children next 
door

84% Don’t participate in any local events

40% Felt no sense of pride about where they live

Increased mobility has a two-fold effect on the 
relationships we have with our neighbours  When 
we’re more mobile we spend less time in our own 
neighbourhood cultivating local relationships  
When people are more mobile, streets are more 
heavily trafficked, and this reduces the likelihood of 
people forming relationships with their neighbours 

Community interactions on 3 Bristol streets

Source: Hart and Pankhurst

These conditions are having a significant negative 
social impact; disconnecting communities, especially 
the elderly and children 

It is not only the fact that we spend more time 
online and further from our neighbourhoods that 
has weakened relationships with neighbours, the 
traffic on our streets also makes it less likely that we 
connect with one another  

P
age 53



42Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Older generations experienced more time playing 
outdoors when they were children, often in local 
streets, than children today  As outdoor play became 
more dangerous with greater traffic, and as our 
relationships with neighbours weakened, parents 
became resistant to allowing children to travel 
independently to local parks and to play outside in 
our streets 

The space we all have outside our homes on our 
streets is undervalued  Streets make up 80% of urban 
space in the West Midlands  The function of streets 
is not just to enable the movement of motor vehicles; 
they are also spaces to exercise, enjoy, connect and 
be inspired by our surrounds  However, streets are 
often designed to primarily cater for vehicles and the 
impact of traffic reduces their enjoyment by others 

The benefits of better streets do not only apply to 
residential streets  Investments in the public realm 
to allocate more space for walking and cycling have 
proven to have benefitted many local retailers and 
businesses by increasing trade, even when this has 
reduced space for motor vehicles  Living Streets 
found that where the pedestrian experience has been 
improved, footfall has increased between 20 and 35%  

The COVID-19 pandemic has shown us the benefits of 
quieter streets  Vehicle usage drastically fell in April 
2020 at the start of lockdown  Research undertaken 
during the pandemic found that people have 
welcomed this change  It has helped them rediscover 
their connections with their local communities, 
encouraged them to exercise, and given them cleaner 
air and peace  

Well-designed and managed streets can be pleasant 
and safe places for communities to explore; 
encouraging social contact, physical activity and 
supporting improved community cohesion  They can 
help make the region happier and healthier and more 
economically active  

We think that an objective for a new Local Transport 
Plan should be: 

Streets for communities  - We will strengthen 
communities by reducing the dominance of motorised 
transport in local neighbourhoods to enable 
repurposing of streets 

Reflection

Would you be happy / able to use 
your own vehicle less or could you 
give up road space and/or parking 
space on the highway if it meant 
that it would make your local 
streets safer and cleaner and more 
enjoyable for yourself and others?

P
age 54



43Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Motive 4: Becoming more active 

Physical activity

Economic development has supported 
improvements in many aspects of health 
and wellbeing as access to healthcare has 
become better, and living and workplace 
conditions have become safer  However, 
one set of health problems has been 
traded for another as changes to our 
lifestyles, diet and the nature of work have 
resulted in long term trends of declining 
physical activity and increasing obesity  
Tackling these problems will not only 
improve life expectancy, but it will also 
ensure people can enjoy more of their life 
in good health – helping them to be happy 
and prosperous 

The hill to climb in the West Midlands 
is greater than other areas of the UK, 
with most adults spending less than 
30 minutes participating in physical 
activity each week, far less than the 
recommended 150 minutes per week 

We can create a legacy where future 
generations are more active than we are 
rather than less, where our children are 
spared the associated health issues of 
inactivity as they grow up, improving their 
life chances and happiness  Doing this 
would avoid a future where the economic 
prospects of our region and its citizens  
are constrained by poor health  It is well 
understood that a healthier population is a 
more productive population as:

• People in better physical condition 
tend to have better mental health and 
cognition, helping them perform better 
when working and learning;

• Fewer days off are taken for sick leave;

• People can remain economically active 
for more of their life; 

• Less public funding is needed for the 
treatment of preventable conditions 
and to provide long-term support for 
people who become unable to work 
because of poor health 

West Midlanders are not very physically active 

6

INTRODUCTION

Consultation informed us that one of the biggest 
opportunities we have to realise our vision for a 
‘healthier, happier, better connected and more 
prosperous West Midlands’ is to create an active society 
in a way that has not been achieved here before.  

We recognise that the West Midlands continues to 
produce and deliver world beating athletes, sports 
coaches, events and clubs – but acknowledge that 
for the combined authority it is addressing levels 
of inactivity and inequality which will have the 
greatest impact. 

We have developed the strategic framework following 
extensive consultation with constituent and non-
constituent organisations and stakeholders* with a 
vested interest in physical activity, improving health 
and wellbeing and social and economic development. 

We acknowledge the great work by those 
organisations we consulted and many others who 

are in�uencing behaviour change to get more people 
active and using sport and physical activity to 
support social and economic growth priorities. 

GETTING MORE PEOPLE ACTIVE

In the West Midlands approximately one third of 
adults would be in the category of ‘highest levels 
of adult physical inactivity’ in England - less than 
30 minutes per week. This is an estimated 90,000 
people below the England average for physical 
inactivity and also raises concerns over children and 
young people’s activity levels. 

ADDRESSING INEQUALITIES

Not only do we continue to have high levels of 
inactivity, but inequalities persist within the region’s 
population, across gender, disability, socio-economic 
groups, age and black and ethnic communities. 
We need a concentrated e�ort to ensure opportunities 
for everyone to become physically active, to strengthen 
communities and improve life chances.

WHY DO WE NEED A WMCA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIC 
FRAMEWORK?

      

   

    
 

 
 

 
 

      
 

 
 
  

 

 

A third of adults 
aged 16 and over are 
currently inactive

adults below the England 
average 

90,000
anticipated boost to the 
West Midlands economy

147m

Graph 1: the number of people in the WMCA 3 LEP geography who are physically inactive/ do not take part in physical 
activityby gender, age, disability, ethnicity and socio-economic grouping. Black Country Consortium 2017.

Sports England, Active People Survey 10, December 2016* denotes Incomplete Data

The percentage of adults who are physically inactive/not taking part in physical activity.

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

49.3% 64.7%

GENDER

D
is

ab
le

d

N
ot

 
D

is
ab

le
d

80.6% 52.2%

DISABILITY

16
-2

5

26
-3

4

35
-4

4

45
-5

4

55
-6

4

65
+

37.6%*

43.7%*
48.3%*

57.0%

66.7%

78.2%

AGE

N
S 

SE
C

 1-
4

N
S 

SE
C

 5
-8

NS-SEC

51.1% 69.5%

W
hi

te
 

B
ri

ti
sh

B
M

E

ETHNICITY

57.2% 57.5%

*Available from WMCA

30min
per week of activity

The cost of physical 
inactivity to the 
region economy is 150min

per week of moderate intense physical 

The Government recommends

A third of adults 
in WMCA are 
inactive, doing 
less than

147m

Around a third of adults in the WMCA area are currently inactive, spending less than 30 minutes per 
week on physical activity  The estimated cost to the region’s economy is about £147m a year 

P
age 55



44Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

What are the health benefits of physical activity?

10

WHAT ARE THE HEALTH BENEFITS OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY?

Source: Public Health England

Over two 
thirds

of people feel they are not doing 
enough exercise and want to increase 
their activity levels through habits and 
routines which they can maintain 

Over two 
in five

feel that their loved ones aren’t exercising 
enough, particularly those with older family 
members  However, they do acknowledge 
that the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted 
their routines and activity levels 

Source: TfWM’s Market Research Online Community

P
age 56



45Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The potential of shifting short trips to walking and cycling

Most trips are relatively short but overall 
they don’t account for the majority of the 
total distance we travel over the course 
of a year  

Consider that fifty 1 mile trips in a year - 
perhaps a weekly shop - accounts for less 
annual mileage than a single family trip 
to the Snowdonian National Park 

This means that switching the short 
trips we currently make to walking and 
cycling could be great for increasing 
physical activity, and improving issues 
such as road safety and air pollution by 
reducing traffic in our urban area (by 
reducing the number of vehicles that 
are on our roads at once, particularly in 
peak travel periods)  However, this would 
have limited impact on issues associated 
with our high annual mileage, such as 
carbon emissions that cause climate 
change  Walking and cycling could play a 
bigger role in reducing carbon emissions 
if people reduced the amount of longer 
trips they make and instead travelled 
more locally 

Unfortunately, people currently have 
little appetite for walking or cycling 
more than 1 or 3 miles respectively for 
everyday travel  Most journeys under 
a mile are made by walking, however, 
car use is also still fairly high for trips 
of these lengths  Also, people are more 
likely to jump in the car or on public 
transport than cycle for journeys that are 
1 to 2 miles  Micromobility solutions such 
as eBikes, eScooters, and other light 
and low emission vehicles may provide 
attractive alternatives and help address 
this problem 

Trips and distance travelled accounted for by 
different journey lengths

Trips
Distance 
travelled

Less than 1 mile 24% 1 6%

1 to 2 miles 19% 2 4%

2 - 5 miles 25% 11%

Upper limit of everyday  journeys by active 
travel (85th percentile)

Walk Cycle

Commuting 1 3 miles 2 5 miles

Education/Escort 1 0 mile 2 5 miles

Shopping 1 0 mile 2 5 miles

Personal Business 1 0 mile 3 miles

Percentage of trips and distance travelled for short journeys by main modes

Walk Cycle Car
Public 
transport

Other

Trips
Less than 1 mile 80% 1 1% 18% 0 7% 0 6%

1 to 2 miles 31% 2 8% 60% 5 3% 1 9%

Distance travelled
Less than 1 mile 76% 1 2% 21% 1 0% 0 6%

1 to 2 miles 31% 2 9% 59% 5 4% 1 9%

Source: NTS (DfT)

P
age 57



46Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Re-incorporating physical activity into travel is a 
major opportunity to increase physical activity, 
leaving a healthier legacy for future generations, as 
well as playing a key role in helping to decarbonise 
the transport system and reduce the wider impacts of 
travel 

We need to understand what could motivate those 
who are currently less active to becoming more 
physically active   We need to understand what 
they feel the barriers are in the transport system to 
prevent them from doing so  

The increase in traffic and parked cars have made 
parents reluctant to allow their children to play and 
exercise in the street and made people nervous to 
walk or cycle  This means that children are missing 
out on the potential to exercise outside with local 
children, and lots of trips that could be made either 
by cycling or walking are currently made by car  

Reflection

Our lifestyles, including our travel 
behaviours, have contributed to 
creating some serious health issues 
for our society   Some of these 
would be improved if we undertook 
more physical activity   

Could you swap some of your short 
car journeys to walking or cycling?

Modern life doesn’t really allow for there to be a 
choice; motorised travel is a necessity for most 
and that trade off is accepted 

25-44, Wolverhampton, 2 cars in household, 
Driver Peoples’ view is always short to medium 

term and mainly about what impacts them    
convenience plays more strongly than the 
longer term repercussions 

45-64, Solihull, 2 cars in household, No licence

We need to continue the work we have already 
started to make our urban area safe and convenient 
for active travel   Walking and cycling should be the 
first choice for short journeys   We need to encourage 
people to combine active travel for the first and last 
mile of longer journeys by public transport  

We think that an objective for a new Local 
Transport Plan should be:

Physically active - Enable safe, convenient and 
accessible walking and cycling opportunities, to 
increase active travel for whole journeys and as part 
of journeys, improving the health, wellbeing and 
productivity of people today as well as leaving a 
healthy legacy for future generations 

Amount of time spent active on an average 
journey by mode
Research for London has shown that whilst every trip 
begins and ends with a walk, a car trip involves much 
less walking than a public transport trip 

Source: London Travel Demand Survey 2012/13 - 
2013/14 (TfL)

Car
Less than 
one minute

Public Transport
8 - 15 minutes

Walking
17 minutes

Cycling
22 minutes

P
age 58



47Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Motive 5: Tackling the 
climate emergency

Transport decarbonisation 

It is very important to reduce our carbon 
emissions  Not only is it healthier for ourselves, 
but it is good for the environment  Polluting our 
planet is not something that we should continue 
to do as the knock on effect will be felt for years 
to come  

25-44, Birmingham, 2 cars in Household, Driver

The greatest environmental challenge we face is 
climate change  The majority of carbon emissions 
in the West Midlands are attributed to transport   
Most of these emissions are from car use   Despite 
improvements to engines, transport emissions have 
remained stubbornly high for the last 30 years, largely 
because of increased travel demand associated with 
economic and population growth, increased car 
ownership and the increasing weight and power of 
the cars we drive  

Transport carbon emissions compared to other sectors

Breakdown of UK and surface transport sector emissions (2018)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Emissions Surface Transport
Emissions

Breakdown of UK and surface transport 
sector emissions (2018)

Other Sectors Shipping

Aviation Surface Transport

Cars Vans

HGVs Buses

Trains Other

Estimated UK GHG emissions (by domestic sectors and aviation and shipping)

0.0

50.0

100.0

150.0

200.0

250.0

300.0

1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015

GH
G 

em
iss

io
ns

 (M
tC

O2
e)

Estimated UK GHG emissions (by 
domestic sectors and aviation and 

shipping)

Energy supply Business & industry

Public sector Agriculture & LULUCF

Waste management Residential

Surface transport Aviation*

Shipping*

*excludes military aircraft and shipping

Source: UK GHG emissions national statistics (BEIS) Most transport carbon emissions are now from surface transport, and most of those 
are from cars  Surface transport carbon emissions have not really reduced over the 
last 30 years and so surface transport carbon emissions are now the UK’s greatest 
source of carbon emissions P

age 59



48Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Causes of climate change and how it can affect us

Drivers of 
climate change

Changes to the 
climate system

Impacts

Source: Met Office

Source: Met Office

If we do not reduce our carbon emissions, 
the average global temperature will soon 
reach a point where natural stores of 
carbon will start to be released into the 
atmosphere  This will itself accelerate 
global temperature rises and will create 
a positive feedback loop resulting in 
extensive climate change which we are 
unlikely to be able to prevent  

Such climate change would have substantial 
impacts around the world that would be 
catastrophic in particular places  The World 
Economic Forum agrees that climate change 
is the world’s greatest risk to economic 
stability  The West Midlands would face 
direct and indirect impacts such as:

• Local weather risks including floods 
and heat waves, which could create 
casualties and damage infrastructure 
and property;

• Disruption of access to various global 
supply chains including key resources 
such as imported food and materials, 
placing pressures on people and 
businesses; and

• Diversion of public funds to cover 
and prevent damages caused by 
climate change in our own region 
but particularly more badly affected 
regions such as the UK’s coastal 
communities, leaving less available for 
otherwise improving and maintaining 
local infrastructure and services 

Tangible impacts of climate change on our 
transport system in the West Midlands are 
already being seen  These include more 
occurrences of melting road surfaces in 
the summer and highway drains unable to 
cope with regular heavy rain (no matter 
how often they are cleaned) 

The UK has signed the Paris Agreement 
and is committed to global efforts to 
prevent this environmental breakdown 
by reducing carbon emissions to net-zero 
by 2050  WMCA is committed to these 
efforts and has adopted its own WM2041 
carbon ambition  It is developing plans to 
decarbonise our region by 2041  The first of 
these plans is published and runs from 2021-
2026  Other authorities across the UK have 
ambitions to decarbonise faster 

Rapid and deep reductions of transport 
carbon emissions will be needed to meet 
the region’s targets  

P
age 60



49Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The shift to Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) is critical in the long 
term for meeting mobility needs while decarbonising   There will need 
to be virtually no petrol/diesel powered vehicles on our roads by 2041 
(including hybrids)  However, it will take a relatively long time for ULEVs 
to permeate our fleets and for the energy sector to decarbonise, as 
well as time in service that it will take for these vehicles to offset the 
additional carbon costs of manufacturing these vehicles  

Because the switch to ULEVs and the delivery of their carbon benefits 
will take time, we still need to reduce the energy we use for transport in 
the short term  In simple terms, this means using cars less for passenger 
travel – and this is the case across all local and national targets  

To do this, we could need a significant change in travel behaviour and 
the vehicles we use   It will require a mix of the following:

• Reductions in the frequency of travel – consolidation of trips or 
replacement of travel with use of information and communication 
technologies;

• Changes to where people travel to/from – making shorter journeys 
and/or to places that are more easily accessed and served by more 
sustainable modes of travel; and

• Changing the vehicles we use to travel – modal shift to more 
sustainable modes such as public transport and walking and cycling, 
and switching to personal vehicles that require less energy to use 
such as smaller cars, personal light vehicles, and micromobility 

However, the amount of behaviour change required depends on how 
fast we think we need to reduce our carbon emissions  This is not only 
about our net-zero date but also the path we take to get there, which 
determines how much carbon we will emit overall: 

• The Climate Change Committee has recently advised Government 
that car mileage reduction of 5% by 2030 and 17% by 2050 would 
be required for Government to meet its commitments to the Paris 
Agreement and to be net-zero by 2050   

•  However, research carried out by the Tyndall Centre found that even 
if all new cars were ULEVs by 2035, a 58% reduction in car mileage 
between 2016 and 2035 would be required to meet its recommended 
carbon budget for the UK 

We have been making good progress with building much of the 
infrastructure needed for a decarbonised transport system; supporting 
better public transport services, creating safer routes for active travel 
and enabling a shift to a ULEV based fleet  However, current policy 
delivery won’t result in the scale and pace of behaviour change we now 
need to address the climate emergency  

We think that an objective for a new Local Transport Plan could be:

Transport decarbonisation - We will protect the future of our own 
community as well as communities around the world from the effects of 
climate change by rapidly reducing transport carbon emissions at a rate 
consistent with WM2041 

Reflection

Does climate change concern you?

Do you as an individual / organisation believe you 
have a role in tackling the climate emergency?

What changes could you make and how easy 
would it be to do? 

 Are there things that could make this change 
easier for you?

These kind of changes are on a scale that the UK has never yet 
achieved to tackle congestion or air quality concerns  They cannot 
be achieved through incremental changes to existing policy 
packages and through nudging people to make slightly different 
choices  

This level of systemic change requires investment in new options, 
but also a good deal of local political bravery and engagement 
with people to create a vision of a zero carbon future which 
communities benefit from 

Local Government Agency - Decarbonising transport: Getting 
carbon ambition right

P
age 61



50Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The limitations of ULEVs in driving immediate carbon reductions

Projected take-up scenarios of ULEVs as a percentage of new sales 
(blue), and the whole fleet on our roads (green)

TfWM ULEV Strategy 

Project Code (742/002) Page 64 of 144  

% of new registrations % of all vehicles registered 

Low 30% 11% 

Mid 50% 17% 

High 70% 23% 
 

 
Figure 23: Plug-in vehicle uptake 2018-2030 

For the West Midlands, a fourth scenario (Business as Usual, BAU) was added which is derived from 
the last 8 years’ vehicle registration data analysed in Work Package 3.  A polynomial extrapolation 
of this data was combined with the scenarios described above to project the overall number of EVs 
for the study area.  It is generally accepted that the BAU scenario represents a significant 
underestimate of the likely number of EVs but it gives a good baseline to illustrate the scale of change 
which will be required to achieve the Road to Zero projections.  Figure 24 shows that between 
700,000 and 1.2 million PiVs are projected for the study area by 2040. 

Source: TfWM ULEV Strategy

The total proportion of vehicles on our roads that are electric vehicles will lag 
behind the total proportion of sales that are electric vehicles in a given year  It 
will take time for people to upgrade their vehicles 

How far an electric vehicle must drive to become cleaner 
than a conventional equivalent 

Source: Drax

Not all electric vehicles (EVs) are as good for climate change as each other  The 
use of some EVs will take considerably longer to offset the additional carbon cost 
of manufacturing them than others 

P
age 62



51Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Section 4: Reimagining transport in the 
West Midlands
As we “build back better” from the COVID-19 
pandemic, we have the opportunity to reimagine 
transport in our region to support an economic 
recovery that enables us to address all our Motives 
for Change  All of the Motives for Change could be 
argued to be as important and urgent as each other, 
and all could require significant changes to the way 
we travel  

Although all of our Motives for Change are 
independently important, the climate emergency is 
unique; there is a more definitive level and pace of 
change required in the way we travel to preserve the 
region for future generations, as well as to address 
global challenges 

The Paris Agreement binds its parties to pursue 
efforts to limit global warming to 1 5°c above “pre-
industrial level”  If average global temperature 
rises exceed this, the impacts of climate change 
on people around the world will ramp up and we 
will pass particular tipping points where climate 
change will accelerate beyond our control and will be 
irreversible  The United Nation’s Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change have warned that at current 
rates of emissions, we could exceed 1 5°c of global 
warming by 2030; carbon emissions would need to 
substantially reduce before that date to avoid passing 
this point  

How we change transport in the West Midlands 
before 2030 will be critical for the legacy we create 
for future generations 

The switch to ULEVs, whilst positive and important, 
will not deliver substantial reductions in carbon 
emissions until later in that timeframe and will not 
address wider issues such as road safety, the impact 
of traffic on streets and physical inactivity  So there 
is a need and opportunity for wider changes to the 
way we travel as well; we also need to reduce the 
energy demand for transport 

Whilst the COVID-19 pandemic has presented us 
with new challenges, it has also demonstrated that 
we are incredibly resilient to change and that there 
are viable alternatives to what we have  For example, 
many people switched to working from home and 
using videoconferencing, the commuting peaks and 
pressure on the transport network were reduced, and 
people also ordered more goods online and via local 
shops rather than travelling far  People benefitted 
from quieter streets and reduced emissions  

We understand that change can be a difficult process 
to navigate and that some will find it easier to adapt 
than others, that some will need more support  
However, whilst change can be intimidating it can 
also be exciting and offers us a chance to make things 
better  As a world leader in transport innovation and 
the UK’s first Future Transport Zone, we’re well placed 
to develop a vision to enable a smooth transition to a 
low carbon future and a green recovery moving out of 
the COVID-19 pandemic  

Reflection

We know that rapid and significant 
change is possible before 2030  
The question is whether people 
are up for it…do people agree 
that there’s a need to transform 
transport within the next decade 
and are people excited about the 
opportunity?

Is it right that the climate 
emergency should set our pace, or 
are there other issues which mean 
we need to go faster? 

P
age 63



52Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

2030 doesn’t seem so far away, but a lot of change has 
happened in few years previously… 

14 
years

US announced its intent to launch 
a satellite in 1955 and put a man on 
the moon in 1969 

8 
years

In 2000 the most popular mobile phone 
was the Nokia 3310  By 2008 the most 
popular phone was the iPhone 

11 
years

UK’s first motorway opened in Lancashire 
in 1958 and the first 1000 miles of 
motorway are completed in 1969 

There are many ways to reduce transport carbon 
emissions rapidly, however, we will need to find a way 
that helps us address our wider Motives for Change 
too  It will be important to understand and resolve 
any trade-offs required to reach goals, where change 
may create new but different issues  

“Avoid, shift, improve” provides a useful framework 
for the sorts of changes that we need to make 

A new LTP can be more than a plan to create a great 
legacy for future generations, we can also set out how 
we want to make a difference in the lives of citizens 
today  We will need to challenge ourselves to build a 

consensus around what kind of future people want 
and make decisions at a pace which reflects the 
urgency of the challenges we need to solve  People 
will clearly hold a range of different views on what 
is acceptable and what is not, and it is right that we 
account for them, however, we must also consider 
the risks of inaction if we are paralysed by a fear of 
change 

Once we have had these conversations, we can set a 
new vision and ambition to reflect what policy actions 
and changes are needed  

Avoid
Avoiding travel – for example by accessing services online 
and consolidating the trips we make;

Shift
Shifting travel – to places that are more accessible by 
sustainable modes of transport, such as cycling, walking or 
public transport and travelling by those modes; and

Improve
Improve travel – by designing out emissions and other 
impacts from the vehicles we use and tailoring their use, 
for example by adopting ULEVs 

P
age 64



53Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Rethinking the role of mobility 
in accessibility  

There are many options available to us that will help 
us deliver Inclusive Growth  To understand the range 
of options available to us, we need to consider:

• It is access that is critical for social and economic 
prosperity  The ability to access what we need 
is not just dependent on how physically mobile 
we are, it also depends on the spatial proximity 
of opportunity and our digital connectivity  This 
means for example that it is actually possible to be 
less mobile without necessarily sacrificing access 

• There are many ways of being mobile using today’s 
technologies that will help us address our Motives 
for Change; these are modes of travel that result 
in fewer negative impacts, allow us to use space 
more effectively and are more affordable  

The Triple Access System

This is the triple access system that shows how physical mobility, digital 
connectivity and spatial proximity interrelate and provide access 

Spatial 
Proximity

Physical
Mobility

Digital
Connectivity

Land Use
System

Transport
System

Telecommunications
SystemAccessibility

Source: Lyons, G  and Davidson, C  (2016)  Guidance for transport planning 
and policymaking in the face of an uncertain future  Transportation Research 
Part A: Policy and Practice, 88, 104-116  P

age 65



54Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Sustainable modes - modes of travel with lower impacts

The impacts of vehicles are affected by a complex 
combination of factors such as their emissions, speed, 
size, and noise  The cumulative impacts of the sheer 
volume of traffic also needs to be considered 

Aside from travelling less and increasing the 
segregation/increasing barriers between people and 
traffic, there are two universal ways to reduce the 
impacts of vehicles and traffic:

• Use vehicles with higher occupancy; and/or

• Use more energy efficient vehicles (by reducing 
power, weight, and/or speed) 

Cars are mainly used to transport just one person, the 
driver, and only 0 3% of the energy used by a car is 
actually used to move the driver…

En
er

gy
 e

ffi
ci

en
cy

Occupancy

SUV

Small electric car

Personal Light vehicle / 
Powered two wheeler

Micromobility (e.g. ebike, 
escooter, or mobility scooter)

Active travel (e.g. 
walking and cycling)

Community and Demand 
Responsive Transport Bus, rail and tram

Very Light RailAutonomous pods

There are lots of options 
for changing the vehicles 
we use to generally 
reduce the impacts of 
traffic…62%

car trips 
are single-
occupancy trips

The average 
occupancy of 
a car is

1 6 
people

Modes of travel with lower impacts

The impacts of vehicles are affected by a complex combination 
of factors such as their emissions, speed, size, and noise. 

The cumulative impacts of the sheer volume of traffic also 
needs to be considered.

Aside from travelling less and increasing the 
segregation/increasing barriers between people and traffic, 
there are two universal ways to reduce the impacts of vehicles 
and traffic:

• Use vehicles with higher occupancy; and/or
• Use more energy efficient vehicles (by reducing power, 

weight, and/or speed).

Cars are mainly used to transport just one person, the driver, 
and only 0.3% of the energy used by a car is actually used to 
move the driver…

62% car trips are single-
occupancy trips

The average 
occupancy 
of a car is

1.6 people

Li
gh

te
r 

ve
hi

cl
es

Higher occupancy vehicles

SUV

Small electric car

Personal Light vehicle / 
Powered two wheeler

Micromobility (e.g. ebike, 
escooter, or mobility scooter)

Active travel (e.g. 
walking and cycling)

Community and Demand 
Responsive Transport Bus, rail and tram

Very Light RailAutonomous pods

There are lots of 
options for changing 
the vehicles we use to 
generally reduce the 
impacts of traffic...  

P
age 66



55Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

However, we are a mature urban area - we are not 
building a transport system and urban environment 
from scratch - and we are constrained by the pace of 
change required  This has consequences for options 
that are more or less likely to be successful 

Land use 

Investments in land are some of the longest term 
and most important investments that people and 
businesses make  It took hundreds of years to build 
our towns, cities, villages and neighbourhoods  We 
can, and should, ensure that new developments 
are built in a way that is well suited to our future 
vision for transport, and this could for example 
involve encouraging higher density walkable mixed-
use developments in places accessible by public 
transport  However, it will take a long time for our built 
environment to be renewed, and so we will also need 
to consider how to adapt the existing built environment 
in the short-term, for example by enabling land use 
changes within existing building stock  

Physical mobility 

Many of our places have either been developed or 
retrofitted for car-use  Many people’s lifestyles are 
also dependent on cars  This means that our places 
and people are adapted for higher levels of mobility 
and disperse travel patterns  We could and should 
make those trips that could be made by walking, 
cycling and/or public transport by those modes  
However, a lot of where people want to travel is to 
places that are unfeasible to access by these modes 
and where demand is too low to enable a high 
frequency public transport service  It is therefore 
important that we also consider new ways to provide 
a similar degree of mobility as a car does in the urban 
environment without the associated disbenefits  

Digital connectivity 

The COVID-19 pandemic has demonstrated how 
people can communicate and work remotely  Using 
digital connectivity, we can modify or avoid the 
need to travel on a daily basis  eCommerce has 
increased the range of goods available to consumers, 
consolidating delivery trips and drastically reducing 
travel for shopping while still providing accessibility 
for consumers  Use of telecoms could offer a 
compelling alternative to business travel in many 
instances with the added benefit of being able to 
reach a broader market  For those whose personal 
circumstance enables it, remote working can help 
reduce the costs and time spent commuting and 
help people access work over a broader geography  
Many aspects of public and private services have also 
been successfully migrated online helping people 
stay up to date with their finances at any time, and 
even helping doctors provide advice to patients  
The pandemic has seen a strong movement towards 
home working  Even by September 2020, only a 
third of workers in the West Midlands were mainly 
working from their usual/pre-pandemic work location  
Digital connectivity presents a huge opportunity for 
improving access, however, there is also a risk that 
as society shifts more towards online systems, an 
inequality gap defined by digital skills and capability 
will widen, with some households becoming more 
excluded and isolated 

P
age 67



56Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Transport is different across the world

A particular kind of transport system is 
not necessarily a prerequisite for different 
levels of productivity/growth – there are 
functioning urban areas across the world 
where the defining characteristics of 
accessibility are very different 

Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam Copenhagen, Denmark Tokyo, Japan

Curitiba, Brazil Houston, USA Kampala, Uganda

P
age 68



57Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

A framework for change

With the right mix of policies and measures, we can 
create an even better West Midlands  One that is 
fairer, greener, and healthier as well as a great place 
to live, work and visit  In order to achieve this we 
will, collectively, need to think differently about how 
we could travel and to agree what changes to the 
transport system would effectively help us shift  

The pace and scale of changes needed of our travel 
behaviour are unprecedented and will need to happen 
at the same time as planning for a shift to a ULEV 
based fleet, as well as other fundamental changes to 
the vehicles we use  This is change on a grand scale 
and could herald the start of a low carbon transport 
revolution that supports a growing green economy 
across the region 

We are not proposing a specific plan of action 
within this green paper  It is through our 
conversations with the public using this green paper 
that we will identify actions to change in the way 
we govern and invest in our transport system to 
respond to our Motives for Change  

Through these conversations we will need to 
consider how travel behaviour, the way we govern 
our transport system and citizens and businesses 
experience of the transport system are interlinked 

The way we govern the transport system changes 
people’s experience of it, which in turn influences 
their decisions on how, when and where we travel  
However, in a democracy, citizens’ experiences also 
influence the way we govern 

 

Governance of the 
transport system

Travel Behaviour

Experience of the 
transport system

Travel behaviour 

How we choose to change our travel behaviour is at 
the heart of a new Local Transport Plan 

We need to think about how we want to travel in the 
future by making best use of what we have, before 
understanding what changes to infrastructure, 
services and governance would enable that change  

We know that people make transport and mobility 
decisions as a result of a complex range of factors, 
influenced by their own wants and needs, as well as 
options available to them, which are affected by the 
way the transport system is governed 

People are influenced by various lifestyle choices: 

• Long-term choices - including family size, career 
and leisure activities; 

• Medium-term choices - where to live and work; 
and 

• Short-term day-to-day choices - which shop to visit 
or service to access  

Alongside these lifestyle choices, mobility decisions 
are influenced by practical, economic, psychological 
and social factors as well as by demographics and 
circumstances  These can change over time  

P
age 69



58Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Current average 
impacts per person

Future average 
impacts per person

Generally, daily routines are repetitive and habitual  
People start a pattern of behaviour, and they usually 
continue with it until particular events or triggers 
prompt them to change  

If people want the West Midlands to meet the 
proposed objectives associated with our Motives 
for Change, this will involve people changing their 
behaviour - doing less of one thing and more of 
another 

We must approach our new strategy in a way that 
helps us deliver Inclusive Growth; growth that is more 
equitable and sustainable  

Reflection

The people who have the highest 
impacts are also likely the people 
who feel they’ve become most 
dependent and accustomed to 
their cars  Is it fair to expect those 
who are dependent on their cars 
to use them less, and to help those 
who are less mobile and have less 
impacts to increase their mobility? 

Fair contributions to transport challenges 

Generally, transport impacts 
are caused by more mobile 
people   

Those who currently make the 
biggest impact will need to 
make the biggest changes  

 However, there is a real 
opportunity to help level-up 
those who are less mobile 
whilst still reducing impacts 
of transport overall  

Lowest quartile Highest quartile

Fair contributions to transport challenges 

Tr
an

sp
or

t r
el

at
ed

im
pa

ct
s p

er
 p

er
so

n

Current average 
impacts per person

Future average 
impacts per 

person

(Generally) increasing affluence and car use

Generally, transport 
impacts are caused by 
more mobile, affluent 
people.  

Those who currently 
make the biggest 
impact will need to 
make the biggest 
changes.  

However, there is a real 
opportunity to help 
level-up those who are 
less mobile whilst still 
reducing impacts of 
transport overall. 

P
age 70



59Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Our experience of the transport system 

Citizens’ experiences of the transport system shape 
and influence their behaviour and decisions of when 
and how to travel  The quality of the experience is 
largely influenced and shaped by how we plan, deliver 
and manage the transport system  

For example, we know that road safety is often a 
reason cited for people not walking and cycling more 
and that journey time reliability is often a problem 
raised by people using public transport  

For many, less time spent travelling can also 
contribute to good wellbeing, and people have more 
time for other activities that are good for their health 
and wellbeing such as sleep, exercising or spending 
time with friends and family 

We’ve recently worked with members of the public 
who told us what they believe makes a good travel 
experience  The following principles are important 
if we are to transform the user experience of 
the transport system to an easy to use, safe and 
accessible transport system which will give people a 
real alternative to using cars  

• Easy/Reliable: Reliable, seamlessly works, 
available when and where needed  

• Trusted/Safe: Safe, predictable, and informed  

• Valued: Desirable and affordable  

• Efficient: Quality assured with real choice 

Our engagement with the public during the pandemic 
has shown that people have hopes to retain some 
of the benefits of the pandemic and go further by 
building back better  However, they are also anxious 
about the economic challenges ahead  

P
age 71



60Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Governance of the transport system 

We need to develop our transport system to 
encourage people to travel differently in the future; 
we need to plan the infrastructure and manage it 
so that it doesn’t exacerbate existing problems or 
become quickly redundant  

Investment in new roads can initially reduce 
congestion  However, the benefits are often short 
lived as capacity fills up again  There are other 
ways that can help deliver more sustainable and 
transformational improvements to the transport 
system so that it meets our long-term needs 

The pandemic has changed travel demands in an 
unprecedented way  There is uncertainty over how 
the influence of market forces, such as how land 
might be used and the nature of future employment, 
could affect future travel demands  However, we 
can influence this through public policies rather than 
leaving things to chance 

If we want to travel differently in the future, then we 
need to change how our transport system is governed 
to support the types of travel that we want to 
encourage  This could mean ensuring that regulations 
are in place to permit the safe use of new forms of 
travel, it could mean building new infrastructure that 
new modes may rely on, and – in our constrained 
urban area where space is not always an abundant 
resource – it may mean reallocating space and 
priority of right of way from modes that we don’t 
want to travel by in future to those that we do 

We think there is a need to update and define what 
the West Midlands integrated transport system needs 
to be  This should set out clear plans and priorities 
for the network and how we can best deliver them to 
meet our objectives  

Notwithstanding recent years, there has been a 
long-standing downward trend of funding available 
to maintain our transport system and the capital we 
receive to enhance our transport system has been 
increasingly subject to competitive bidding processes 
(which means we lack long term security of funding)  
With such a significant change in behaviour required, 
this means we may need to consider more actions 
that can be delivered quickly and with greater impact 
across a larger area – which could be achieved using 
many low-cost interventions 

We know that our current approach of investing 
in public transport and active travel is critical, but 
alone won’t be sufficient to generate the level of 
behaviour change needed  Our modelling shows 
us that increasing investment in initiatives such 
as e-scooters and e-bikes could have important 
benefits, but again is unlikely to generate the level 
of shift needed away from car use 

We are seeking to understand if people agree 
that car use needs to be replaced by alternatives 
(including options to avoid travel) in order to 
address the challenges and opportunities set out in 
this green paper  We want to explore more effective 
measures to change travel behaviour with the 
public as we shape the new LTP 

A coherent and effective plan must be able to 
match the ambition of our goals with the appetite 
for action  If effective measures that the public 
are willing to accept to deliver behaviour change 
cannot be identified, then together we must 
consider whether goals should change 

P
age 72



61Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Impact of high level policy option testing
(comparing modelled transport in 2036 to 2016)

Testing of policy options shows that whilst 
investment in and improvement of sustainable 
forms of transport will improve access to 
opportunities for those without cars, it is unlikely 
to have a significant impact on car travel  Measures 
that in effect restrain car use would be required to 
shift behaviours in a way that significantly reduces 
car travel 

Green indicates a change is good for the 
Motives for Change.

Red indicates a change is bad for the 
Motives for Change.

As car travel increases, the impacts of 
traffic increase (carbon, physical 
inactivity, air pollution, noise, road 
accidents, on-street parking).

As access without a car increases, this 
helps those who are less mobile access 
more opportunities but does not 
necessarily reduce car travel.

Symbol Change relative to levels 
before the COVID-19 pandemic

- Little/no change

▲/▼ Notable increase/decrease
▲▲/▼▼ Significant increase/decrease

Ac
ce

ss
 fo

r t
ho

se
 w

ith
ou

t a
 c

ar

Am
ou

nt
 o

f c
ar

 tr
av

el
 e

ve
ry

w
he

re

Am
ou

nt
 o

f c
ar

 tr
av

el
 to

/fr
om

 c
en

tr
es

Scenario

1. Do minimum - ▲▲ ▲▲
2. Significantly improve public transport ▲ ▲▲ ▲▲
3. 2 + enable micromobility ▲▲ ▲▲ ▲▲
4. Restrain car access to centres only - ▲▲ -

5. Restrain car travel across the region - ▼ ▼▼

6. 5+2 ▲ ▼ ▼▼

7. 5+3 ▲▲ ▼ ▼▼

P
age 73



62Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The challenge with improving alternatives such 
as public transport, walking and cycling, and 
micromobility, is that there is simply a limit to how 
much mobility, comfort, and convenience these can 
offer in contrast to the car today  This significantly 
limits the extent to which people are likely to switch 
from cars to the alternatives to meet their travel 
needs if the level of mobility that the car provides 
remains as it is today  Furthermore, without that 
switch, consumer spending on alternatives will remain 
relatively low, which will also reduce the extent to 
which those services and products can be improved    

Evidence suggests that to effectively and significantly 
change behaviours without compromising what 
people can access, simultaneous measures would 
be required to: 

• reduce barriers and costs to travel by the 
alternatives to the car; at the same time as 

• restraining the use of cars using physical measures 
(such as allocating less space to cars), and 
regulatory measures (such as increasing the price 
of car use or restricting access to particular roads) 

Often these measures can be combined, for example: 

• Space can be reallocated from cars to other forms 
of transport to both improve the alternatives to car 
while restraining car use  

• Public funds generated by increased price of car 
use can be reinvested into alternative services and 
support for those who are disadvantaged and face 
greater barriers to change 

Measures to stimulate behaviour change 
couldn’t and shouldn’t be taken forward without 
understanding and acceptance from the public that 
they’re a critical component of an overall plan that 
aims to create the kind of transport system and 
region that citizens want 

Whether or not these measures could be needed in 
such a plan largely depends on whether the public 
agrees that the role of the car in the future transport 
system should be considerably lower (with much 
lower levels of use) to reduce the impacts of traffic 
on people, places, communities and the environment 
on which we depend, and to help improve alternative 
choices for accessing what we need 

There are limits to the restraints on car use that local 
authorities can effectively implement in isolation 
without wider support and action from Government 
and neighbouring authorities  Government has 
also recognised the need for action to change 
behaviours, particularly to reduce carbon emissions  
The Chancellor of the Exchequer has also recently 
signalled the Government’s interest in exploring Road 
User Charging as part of fiscal policy reforms required 
to address the anticipated significant shortfall in tax 
revenue from fuel duty as more electric vehicles are 
adopted  There may be ways at a national level to re-
structure how way we pay for highways infrastructure 
that also support lower carbon travel choices and 
more viable travel alternatives 

P
age 74



63Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

When asked their opinions on the need for sticks 
as well as carrots, here’s what citizens said   

Carrots

1 in 2 think better 
alternatives to driving 
need to exist first

It’s not about making the car obsolete and 
making that a poorer item, but more of making 
public transport the better alternative as it 
offers way more presonalised and more luxury 
items for the price we pay then owning a car 

16-24, Dudley, 2 cars in household, No licence

Sticks

1 in 2 think restrictions 
to driving need to be 
applied first

If any added financial expenses of making a 
car journey far outweigh the cost of making 
a journey by a workable alternative method, 
I would chose the alternative option, even 
if the journey took longer 

45-65, Birmingham, 1 car in household, Driver

Which ones of these measures do you think would be most effective at making the car less advantageous?

Controlling the supply of parking 31%

Reallocating road space from cars 
to other forms of transport 17%

Restricted access to particular 
places by car 29%

Fuel and vehicle taxes 17%

Road user charges 23%

Speed bumps, chicanes and other 
“traffic calming” measures 11%

Source: TfWM’s Market Research Online Community 

Change over time

To help inform the development of a 
new Local Transport Plan, TfWM has 
undertaken an initial review of the 
transport delivery plan  The review has 
sought to assess both the current and 
alternative approaches to delivery to 
establish and understand the areas of focus 
and change, which are needed to support 
the refreshed strategy and new objectives  

From the review, we understand that our 
current mix of policies and strategies are 
likely to have shortcomings in responding 
to the Motives for Change  The analysis 
suggests a number of changes could be 
needed in the short, medium and long-term 
to better deliver objectives  Urgent action 
will be needed in certain intervention areas 
such as personal mobility to help ‘shift the 
dial’ in delivering positive outcomes in the 
region  

We have started to identify the measures 
and approaches to help address the gaps 
in the current approach and issues raised in 
the Motives for Change  This could include 
a change in focus on policy priorities and 
a reallocation of spend and effort to effect 
change  These measures will be critical to 
help us achieve a significant reduction in 
transport carbon emissions before 2030  
If progressed right, it could also help us 
deliver Inclusive Growth 

P
age 75



64Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

What change 
could happen 
quickly, 
before 2030?

Avoiding travel through digital connectivity

We might be able to have a conversation, 
access a service or collaborate without 
having to physically meet  This could reduce 
the impacts of travel and improve access to 
opportunities that people may not be able to 
physically access  

Shifting and improving how we access goods

Through e-commerce and better consolidation and 
management of deliveries by lower impact vehicles we 
can access a broader range of goods with less travel  

Shifting to public transport and active travel

We can shift many short trips to walking 
and cycling 

We can shift journeys to centres and within 
congested corridors to public transport  Bus 
will have greatest capacity and coverage to 
support this modal shift up to 2030 

High energy use Low energy use

Shifting and improving personal mobility

There are motorised personal vehicles we can use that have 
lower impacts, could be more affordable and enable people 
to reach places that are not accessible by public transport, 
walking or cycling 

Supplementing public transport with 
demand responsive services to help us shift

Demand responsive services could let you 
arrange to be picked up near to or at home 
to get to places you can’t by other means  

Demand responsive services could include 
taxis, much as they function today, as well 
as new demand responsive forms of public 
transport which could provide coverage 
where demand is too low for good quality 
fixed public transport and for people who 
are unable to drive or use public transport 

Supplementing consumer choices with 
information, booking and payment options 
to help us shift

With a broader range of transport services 
you could select the right tool for the job 
where privately owned cars are currently 
being used for too many trips (like a 
sledgehammer to crack a nut) 

We could help bring these together 
with information, booking, and payment 
services to help people access what they 
need when they need it for a fair price 

Supplementing what we own with shared services to 
help us shift

Car/van clubs could reduce the need to own a car for 
some whilst improving access to the benefits of these 
vehicles for those who can’t afford to own 

Bike/micromobility share schemes could help people 
get around town/city centres or other areas who arrive 
by other means, where walking isn’t good enough 

P
age 76



65Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

What 
change 
could take 
longer to 
happen?

Shifting more journeys onto public transport, walking and cycling through 
land use changes

If we really want to shift even more journeys onto public transport, walking 
and cycling, this requires changes to where people are travelling to and 
from  This could be supported by changes to the way we use land; not 
just where we put new developments, but how we adapt the existing built 
environment so that there are more of the things people need nearby 

Shifting more journeys onto an 
expanded rail and rapid transit 
network

Improvements to rail and rapid 
transit that require significant 
infrastructure works will take 
time but it will increase the 
number of journeys that can 
switch to public transport 

Improving emissions by changing vehicle 
propulsion technology

It will take time for a shift to zero emission 
vehicles (battery electric and hydrogen) to 
eliminate carbon emissions  It will take time for 
the UK grid to decarbonise and it will take time 
for vehicle fleets to upgrade  However, we are 
making great progress  

Shifting more journeys to active travel and 
improving the experience of streets through 
redesigning the public realm 

The public realm, the everyday streets and public 
places we all enjoy access to, is everywhere and 
extensive  There are quick changes we can make 
using low cost infrastructure changes, however, 
fundamental redesign and rebuilding of places 
would take time 

Improving and shifting travel through the 
adoption of connected and autonomous vehicle 
(CAV) technologies 

CAV technologies have the potential to improve 
many aspects of travel, potentially revolutionising 
public transport, improving the productivity of 
time spent travelling, reducing road accidents 
and improving the flow of traffic  However, these 
technologies are still in development  Some 
technologies, such as driver aids, are already 
being implemented, however, full automation will 
take a long time if it occurs 

P
age 77



66Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Reflection

We want to understand what you 
think about how your travel behaviour 
could change:

What could you do to avoid, shift, 
or improve your journeys?

How much different would your life 
be if you travelled less frequently, or 
less distance, or if you used different 
types of transport such as walking 
and cycling for some of the journeys 
you might currently make by car? 

Could you see yourself using an 
e-scooter?

Could you see yourself using a car 
club vehicle as and when you need it 
instead of owning your own car?  

Why would you make those changes?

Our vignettes paint a picture of what 
transport might look like in our region 
in the future  Can you see yourself 
living in these places?

What do you think you would be 
losing? 

What do you think you could gain?

Who do you think is responsible for 
making these changes possible?

Some of these changes could be 
expensive, who should pay?

P
age 78



67Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Change in different places

City and town centres

A possible future vision for our 
city and town centres:

This is an inclusive urban centre that attracts all 
kinds of people and businesses  The many unique 
experiences on offer have created an exciting and 
popular destination in which to live, work and play  
Deliveries are made to the area using small electric 
vehicles and cargo bikes that are effective but low 
impact  

Getting to your nearest urban centre is quick and easy 
using the clean and efficient public transport network 
that connects the region  An increase in digital 
working and shopping means that people travel at 
different times, resulting in a quieter and more reliable 
transport network  

Moving around the centre itself is easiest by walking, 
wheeling and cycling which is prioritised and provided 
with plenty of space  Low levels of traffic have created a 
quieter and cleaner urban centre for you to enjoy  Public 
spaces are engaging and fun places for you to interact 
with the environment and with other people  

What could we do to achieve this in the West 
Midlands? 

There will be more opportunities to live within urban 
centres close to transport hubs which will make it 
easier for you to travel by sustainable modes 

Embrace changes to our lifestyles and working 
practices which allow us to think about how and when 
we travel differently 

You will have the opportunity to try out and support 
new transport innovations which help you to connect 
with people and places cleanly and safely 

What do you think? 

How would you feel about sharing your data in 
order to get a more personalised transport service?

How would you feel about working from home 
more (if it was possible for you) in order to reduce 
the level of traffic in your neighbourhood?

P
age 79



68Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Local high street

A possible future vision for transport 
in our high street:

Your local High Street is designed for you, rather than 
for other people’s cars  There are plenty of green 
spaces, wide footways and places for you to sit  

The street is accessible, regardless of age or ability, 
and provides a pleasant and safe environment for you 
to enjoy  There are many local shops and services and 
flexible co-working spaces save you making longer 
trips out of your neighbourhood  

The street is connected by shared and active 
transport, including bike and scooter hire schemes, 
as well as car-clubs and ride hailing services  Access 
to all of these services is available via one app and at 
your nearest travel hub  

What could we do to achieve this 
in the West  Midlands?

Taking public transport or walking and wheeling on 
your journey reduces traffic on your own and other 
people’s high streets 

Think before you travel outside of your own 
neighbourhood - can you make a shorter trip to stay 
local 

Spaces for people are provided instead of space for 
cars 

Parking spaces will be limited and reserved for those 
who really need them 

What do you think? 

How would you feel about using a local parcel 
locker if it was attached to a bus/tram stop or train 
station rather than always having deliveries direct 
to home?

How would you feel about walking more to the 
shops if your local shops were arranged to deliver 
heavy and bulky items later that day using an cargo 
bike or an electric vehicle?

P
age 80



69Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Rural living

A possible  future vision for transport 
in our rural areas:

Your safe rural area is well connected and 
convenient to get around  Sustainable travel brings 
health benefits to the whole rural community, and 
reconnects people with nature and each other 

You don’t need to travel unless you want to, as you are 
able to access services online or nearby  Less traffic 
and time spent travelling creates a more relaxed way 
of life and more time to do what you enjoy 

When you do travel, active travel is the go-to for 
getting around on a daily basis, supporting cleaner 
and more agile local transport including taxi services 
and Demand Responsive Transport  Rural mobility 
hubs provide access to services including zero carbon 
community car hire schemes and Park and Ride to help 
you reach destinations in a timely fashion  Information 
is accessible whenever and wherever you need it to 
help you reach local places of interest to support your 
lifestyle choices in the most sustainable way 

What could we do to achieve this 
in the West Midlands?

An even better sense of community as you get out and 
about without the car 

Order things to your door to reduce your need to travel

Charge points are available so you can use an electric 
bike to make your medium length trips more do-able

Power your home and your vehicle sustainably

Better active travel infrastructure provides connections 
to rural mobility hubs

Would you consider making more active trips if you had 
access to an electric bike?

What do you think? 

How would you feel about using an electric bike or 
scooter to reach your nearest village if safer routes 
were provided?

How would you feel about using demand 
responsive transport instead of a timetabled bus 
service?

P
age 81



70Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Older urban neighbourhood

A possible future vision for your 
local neighbourhood:

There is a greater sense of community spirit as you 
spend more time in your neighbourhood  Your local 
neighbourhood is safe, quiet and pleasant to walk 
around  The street has become a social space and is 
now designed for people  There is safe space for kids 
to play outside and for you to stop and chat with your 
neighbours  

Working from home is easy and you can recieve your 
online shopping to your door by cargo bike or electric 
van  When you need to leave the neighbourhood 
there is public transport and cycle paths nearby  

People own fewer cars and remaining cars are electric 
and shared within the community  This results in a quieter 
and cleaner environment which is positive for people’s 
physical and mental health  Reduced need for parking 
results in space you can use for other needs 

What could we do to achieve this 
in the West Midlands?

You might not own your own car, but you will have 
access to car sharing, public transport and walking and 
cycling paths 

If you do need to own a car, electric vehicles will be 
the default option with easy to access EV charging 
solutions 

Saving a journey by working from home or on 
line shopping will result in less traffic in your 
neighbourhood 

Your neighbourhood is inclusive, safe and enjoyable as 
there is a greater sense of community 

What do you think? 

How would you feel about walking more if pedestrians 
were prioritised over cars in your neighbourhood?

How would you feel about not having your own 
car and using an electric car club if it was available 
near your home instead?

How would you feel about letting your kids play 
in the street if the movement of cars was reduced 
and restricted?

P
age 82



71Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Modern suburban neighbourhood

A possible future vision for transport in 
our suburban areas:

Your suburban neighbourhood is a safe place in 
which to live, work and and travel in  The local area is 
attractive with lifestyles focussed on health and well-
being with plenty of space for walking, cycling and 
recreation 

Working and shopping from home are embraced 
more with spare time well-spent with family and 
friends  You are connected to your local centre by 
public transport links that are within easy reach by 
walking, cycling or wheeling   

Less travel results in a reduced need for car 
ownership  Instead local neighbourhood/community 
car clubs make it easy for you to have access to a car 
when you really need it without the hastle and cost of 
owning and running your own 

This creates a cost-saving lifestyle whilst also helping 
you to contribute towards local zero carbon targets, 
also making your suburban neighbourhood a more 
pleasant and safe place to live 

What could we do to achieve this in 
the West Midlands?

Embrace sustainable transport as a way to create a 
friendlier and safer neighbourhood

Seek alternatives to travelling, in particularly 
commuting, to improve air quality and safer 
environments for the community

Improvements to local neighbourhoods and the 
development of ‘20 minute neighbourhoods’ help you 
to be more active and access all the important things 
within easy reach of home 

Due to reduced traffic and improved infrastructure, 
active travel is a joy and is embraced by the local 
community 

What do you think?

How would you feel about reducing access to 
private vehicles on your road it meant you could 
live in a low traffic neighbourhood?

How would you feel about cycling or wheeling? 
into town if there was a network of quiet routes 
and separated cycleways?

P
age 83



72Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Main road 

A possible future vision for transport on 
our main roads:

This street prioritises walking, cycling, wheeling and 
public transport  The cleaner air and reduced noise 
levels result in a welcoming place for you to access 
different travel options  Travel information, booking 
and payment that is personalised to you make travel 
easy and enjoyable 

The streets are active with more people around, 
heading to many dynamic workplaces and leisure 
activities  There is more space for you to walk, cycle 
and scoot, and the street is designed to be accessible 
to everyone, including people of all ages and abilities 

It is easy to travel without having a negative impact 
on the planet - public transport is cleaner and more 
comfortable and with less traffic on the roads it is 
faster and more reliable 

Roads will be clean, safe and smooth with vehicles 
communicating with each other to reduce accidents 
and pot holes detected and fixed before they appear 

What could we do to achieve this in 
the West Midlands?

Public transport might look different with shared 
autonomous vehicles operating alongside conventional 
buses and trams   

More of the space on our streets will be given over to 
cycling and walking  

We will use our cars less as we work from home more 
and use new, innovative and clean transport services 

All of these services can be booked through an easy to 
use app that lets you know you are getting good  value 
for the journey you are taking

What do you think?

How would you feel about walking and cycling 
more if you had priority over cars and vans and if 
there was less traffic?

How would you feel about getting in a shared 
vehicle (with comfy seats and WiFi) with others 
to get to your nearest public transport hub or 
destination?

P
age 84



73Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Section 5: Developing the Local Transport Plan
Our partners

Transport governance in the UK is complex and made 
up of a number of key public and private authorities 
and agencies  The LTP will affect and need the 
cooperation of these parties, including:

• Government – Ultimately, Government sets 
national policies on transport, planning and digital 
infrastructure  It also proposes and sets (through 
parliamentary approval) legislation and distributes 
significant public funding 

• National transport agencies – Government tasks 
Highways England with running trunk roads and 
motorways, and Network Rail with running the 
vast majority of heavy rail in the UK 

• West Midlands Combined Authority – WMCA, 
working through Transport for West Midlands, is 
the local transport authority responsible for setting 
local transport policies in the Local Transport 
Plan  It also has wider powers and duties including 
those previously held by the Integrated Transport 
Authority and Passenger Transport Executive and 
additional powers granted through devolution 
agreements  This includes subsidising bus routes 
and fare concessions, providing travel information, 
developing transport schemes, and managing and 
maintaining some public transport infrastructure 

• Seven metropolitan borough authorities – These 
authorities are the highway and traffic authorities 
responsible for managing, maintaining and 
operating local highways and parking  They are 
also responsible for local development plans 

• Public transport operators – Private bus 
companies run services at their discretion 
including subsidised services  Train operating 
companies operate rail services under franchise 
agreements with Government  West Midlands 
Metro Ltd is a company owned by WMCA that 
operates the West Midlands Metro 

• Transport partnerships – WMCA is a partner 
of West Midlands Rail Executive and Midlands 
Connect, which are both partnerships including 
other local authorities to speak with one voice on 
rail issues across the West Midlands wider region, 
and strategic rail and highways investment across 
the Midlands 

We will also need to work closer with other bodies 
responsible for wider areas of public policy that affect 
and are affected by transport  In particular, we will 
work closely with local planning authorities to ensure 
that - through a mix of planning new developments 
and enabling the existing urban environment to be 
repurposed - the ability to access resources through 
more sustainable ways of travelling and transporting 
goods is improved 

A new framework for transport policy

As part of the development of the new Local 
Transport Plan, we intend to develop a new 
framework for policy  The framework will cover both 
the form of the LTP (noting that the LTP can be set 
out in more than one document covering different 
aspects of policies and implementation plans) and 
how we are held to account on delivering it 

We intend to develop the new LTP in stages:

• An initial overarching vision, objectives and 
strategy, alongside an initial implementation and 
funding plan; and

• Supplementary system-wide and place-based 
policies, alongside detailed refinement of the 
implementation plan to reflect actions required 

The development of supplementary system-wide and 
place-based policies will enable more detailed policy 
making and planning and focussed engagement 
with partners  The development of system-based 
policies will allow us to develop policy with key 
delivery partners such as public authorities with 
relevant powers/duties and service providers  The 
development of place-based policies in specific 
parts of the West Midlands will allow us to work with 
relevant local authorities to tackle specific challenges 
in these areas 

Local Transport Plan

System-wide policies
(examples)

Place-based policies
(examples)

Parking Centres

Metropolitan rail
and rapid transit Corridors

Fares and 
ticketing Neighbourhoods

Overarching vision, objectives and strategy

Implementation and funding plan

LTP performance monitoring and governance

Policy impactPolicy delivery

Delivery of the LTP requires action from wider 
partners  Therefore, we will work with our local 
partners to establish governance that monitors the 
policy delivery of all key stakeholders in the area in 
addition to monitoring the impact of policies 

Local Transport Plan

System-wide policies
(examples)

Place-based policies
(examples)

Parking Centres

Metropolitan rail
and rapid transit Corridors

Fares and 
ticketing Neighbourhoods

Overarching vision, objectives and strategy

Implementation and funding plan

LTP performance monitoring and governance

Policy impactPolicy delivery

P
age 85



74Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Working with the public, private 
organisations and public authorities

This green paper is starting our journey to develop 
a new Local Transport Plan for the West Midlands   
Given the challenges we face, we will need to engage 
with the public and key stakeholders to shape its 
direction, particularly around difficult and complex 
decisions  The green paper will be used to engage 
with four key groups using a range of techniques:

• General public – deliberative engagement 
and consultation

• Private organisations – targeted events with 
representative organisations

• Transport service providers – targeted events 
with key operators and public agencies

• Transport and place policymakers and planners – 
transport summit and ongoing co-development of LTP

Using this green paper as a starting point, we will use 
feedback to help us develop a new West Midlands LTP 

The timelines for developing the overarching strategy 
of the LTP are shown across  Development of 
supplementary policies will follow, and engagement 
will continue throughout 

2021
Q1

Agreeing objectives and 
identifying options

2021
Q2

Assessing options

2021
Q3

Drafting LTP

2021
Q4

Finalising LTP

P
age 86



75Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 Purpose of this strategy 

 
A safe, sustainable and reliable transport system is essential to the effective functioning of any 
community, and Coventry is no different.  This strategy sets out Coventry City Council’s plans to 
deliver a transport system that meets the need of the city’s population, businesses and wider 
community, providing access to community facilities and supporting a thriving economy and a 
healthy population.   
 
It sets out plans to bring about a fundamental change to the way that people and goods travel to, 
from and around the city in the future, and identifies how we will work with various partners to 
achieve this.   
 
More specifically, it includes:  

 the case for change.  A summary of how our transport system is working currently and why it 
needs to change 

 a long-term vision, including a set of objectives which we will aim to meet over the next 15 years  

 a broad description of what we will do over the lifetime of the strategy (2022/23 – 2037/38) to 
achieve these objectives.  A more detailed implementation plan for 2022-27 will be incorporated 
within the final strategy document once funding settlements have been agreed with 
Government 

 a summary of how we will measure our progress, through annual reporting. 
 
This strategy is fully integrated with the West Midlands Local Transport Plan, and the two 
documents together provide the transport policy framework for Coventry. 
 
The strategy will be subject to regular review, to allow for response to changes in national or 
regional policies, the emergence of new technology such as autonomous vehicles, or to respond to 
changes in travel behaviour, such as those brought about during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
An Annual Progress Report will also be prepared to outline progress in implementing the strategy, 
and to report any changes to the implementation plan. 
 
1.2 Vision and key principles 
 
The overall purpose of our strategy is to offer a safe, sustainable, equitable and resilient transport 
system, which enables our residents, visitors and businesses to thrive.  In seeking to realise this 
vision, there are also some important principles that we will adhere to.   
 
We will: 

 engage with local residents and businesses and ensure that our plans reflect and incorporate 
their views 

 strive to ensure that all parts of the transport system are accessible to everyone 

 be flexible in how we achieve our objectives, recognising that we are entering a period of 
considerable uncertainty 

 be innovative.  Coventry already has a reputation as a leader in the field of transport innovation.  
We will seek to maintain and strengthen this over the lifetime of the strategy 

 balance tackling local challenges with improving Coventry’s regional, national and international 
connections 

Page 89



 balance detailed short and medium-term planning with longer-term thinking  

 take a ‘multi-modal’ approach, recognising that no one form of transport can meet everybody’s 
travel needs.  This will include actively considering walking, cycling and any emerging modes of 
travel arising from new technology 

 think holistically, combining physical improvements to the city’s infrastructure with other 
measures, including for example measures that encourage and incentivise people to change 
their travel habits  

 align our strategy with those of our neighbours and with other key partners working in the 
region, and work collaboratively with them to implement it. 

 
1.3 Engagement with residents 
 
As part of the work to develop this strategy, we carried out a survey of residents, using the Council’s 

online consultation platform Let’s Talk, over February and March 2021.  In total more than 250 

residents participated.  The views of individual survey participants have been included throughout 

the strategy to illustrate key points.  Further consultation will take place as the draft strategy 

evolves, and the annual reporting process will also provide a forum for people to comment on our 

progress in delivering the strategy. 

  

Page 90



2. STRATEGIC CONTEXT 
 
This section summarises the current priorities of international, national, regional and local 
policymakers, which have influenced this strategy.  It identifies the key strategies which support, or 
which are supported by, this document. 
 
2.1 International priorities 
 
There are a number of international agreements which are relevant to this strategy. 
 
Tackling climate change 
 
In 2015, the UK joined 196 other parties in signing the Paris Agreement on climate change.  This was 
a major international commitment to a goal of keeping global temperature rise this century to well 
below 2 degrees Celsius (compared to pre-industrial levels) and to pursue efforts to limit this even 
further to 1.5 degrees. To deliver on this commitment, in 2019 the Government set itself a legally 
binding target to achieve ‘net zero’ greenhouse gas emissions by 2050.   
 
Ensuring sustainable development 
 
Also in 2015, the United Nations published its Sustainable Development Goals, described as 17 goals 
to transform our world.  These aim to address major global challenges, including poverty and 
inequality, health and education and climate change, and should be a consideration in all nations’ 
plans for the future. 
 
The 17 goals are: 

 No poverty 

 Zero hunger 

 Good health and wellbeing 

 Quality education 

 Gender equality 

 Clean water and sanitation 

 Affordable and clean energy 

 Decent work and economic growth 

 Industry, innovation and infrastructure 

 Reduced inequalities 

 Sustainable cities and communities 

 Responsible consumption and production 

 Climate action 

 Life below water 

 Life on land 

 Peace, justice and strong institutions 

 Partnerships for the goals 

 
2.2 National priorities 
 
The UK Government has also identified its own strategic priorities, several of which are directly 
relevant to this strategy. 
 
Tackling climate change 
 
As noted above, the UK Government is legally committed to achieving net zero greenhouse gas 
emissions by 2050.  As transport is currently the largest source of emissions, Government is 
targeting a major shift in the way that people and goods travel in order to achieve this.   
 
In July 2021 the Department for Transport (DfT) published Decarbonising Transport: A Better, 
Greener Great Britain, its strategy to achieve this.  The strategy’s priorities include encouraging a 
shift in travel behaviour away from car travel and towards both public and active transport, 

Page 91



replacing existing passenger and freight vehicles with zero emission alternatives and establishing the 
UK as a hub for green transport technology and innovation. 
 
More detailed plans are set out in various further strategy documents focused on specific modes, 
including: 

 the Williams-Shapps Plan for Rail – a White Paper which proposes substantial reforms of the rail 
industry.  This will see major changes, including the creation of a new organisation, Great British 
Rail, and the publishing of a new 30-year strategy covering the rail industry as a whole 

 Bus Back Better – a new National Bus Strategy aimed at reversing a long-term decline in levels of 
bus patronage (outside of London).  It includes plans to make services more frequent and more 
reliable, to better integrate services that are operated by different bus companies and to 
accelerate the rollout of electric buses 

 Gear Change: A Bold Vision for Walking and Cycling – a further strategy focused on bringing 
about a long-term shift towards active travel.  Gear Change includes a specific commitment to 
ensure that by 2030 50 per cent of all journeys in towns and cities will be made by walking and 
cycling.   

 
As well as enabling the UK to achieve its goal of being Net Zero by 2050, these changes also form a 
key part of the Government’s economic strategy.  In November 2020 the Government published The 
Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution, which sets out plans to invest in order to both boost 
to country’s economic recovery, following the Covid-19 pandemic, and to tackle climate change.  The 
key transport priorities included in that plan are:  

 accelerating the shift to zero emission vehicles 

 green public transport, walking and cycling.  
 
‘Levelling up’ across the UK 
 
Government has also expressed a desire to address economic inequalities between different parts of 
the country.  This includes reducing deprivation in parts of the Midlands and the North of England, 
which are perceived to have been ‘left behind’ economically over recent decades.  Investment in 
transport infrastructure to improve connectivity across the Midlands and the North is a key 
component of this.   
 
In the West Midlands, major planned investments include:  

 HS2, a new high-speed rail line connecting London to the North of England.  Two stations are 
being built in the West Midlands, in Solihull and central Birmingham 

 the Midlands Rail Hub, a £2 billion package of further rail improvements  

 improvements to the region’s Strategic Road Network, via Highways England’s current and 
future Road Investment Strategies, including the grade separation of the Binley and Walsgrave 
junctions on the A46 Coventry Eastern Bypass.  

 
These investments are intended to support the region’s recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic and 
to secure future economic growth. 
 
Building more homes 
 
The Government has set a target to significantly increase the number of new homes being built to 
300,000 per year.  One of the policy measures being introduced to achieve this is substantial reform 
of the planning system.  This is expected to result in many Councils being set more challenging 
targets for the number of new homes that need to be built in their area in the future, creating 
further travel demand which will need to be met in a sustainable way. 

Page 92



 
2.3 Regional priorities 
 
The picture with regards to regional priorities is more complex.  There are several different bodies 
with an interest in improving transport across the Midlands, each of which has a different remit and, 
in many cases, covers a slightly different geographic area.  Each of these organisations has its own 
strategic priorities. 
 
However, of particular importance is Transport for West Midlands’ (TfWM) regional transport 
strategy, Movement for Growth.  This strategy is intended to align closely with Movement for 
Growth and to set out Coventry’s local contribution to achieving the region’s wider vision and 
objectives. 
 
Movement for Growth is currently under review.  A Green Paper published by TfWM in June 2021 
makes clear that the refreshed strategy is expected focus on addressing five ‘motivations for 
change’.  These are tackling the climate emergency, reducing transport inequality, reducing physical 
inactivity, enhancing local communities & places and building a strong inclusive economy. 
 
Also of particular significance is the West Midlands Combined Authority’s (WMCA’s) Climate Change 
Strategy, #WM2041.  This sets a target for the region to achieve net zero status by 2041, nine years 
earlier than the current national target.  In 2016 transport accounted for 39 per cent of the region’s 
emissions.  
 
Other key regional strategies, which are also supported by this document include: 

 The West Midlands Local Industrial Strategy  

 WMCA’s Strategic Economic Plan, Making our Mark  

 Coventry & Warwickshire Local Economic Partnership’s (CWLEP) Updated Strategic Economic 
Plan  

 CWLEP’s Strategic Reset Framework 

 Midlands Connect’s Powering the Midlands Engine 

 The Coventry & Warwickshire Health Protection Strategy. 
 
As with the Government’s Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution at a national level, several 
of these documents set out the benefits of investing in green industries in order to create jobs and 
tackle climate change.  There is a clear aspiration to make the West Midlands a focal point for 
research into, and for the manufacturing of, zero emission transport options, such as electric 
vehicles and Very Light Rail (a new form of battery powered mass transit, similar to existing tram 
systems but suitable for smaller cities).  
 
2.4 Local priorities 
 
At a local level, there are also several relevant plans and strategies.  However, of particular 
importance is the Council’s current Local Plan, which covers the period 2011-31 and which sets out 
plans to stimulate economic growth and to meet a growing housing need.  
 
Coventry is a rapidly growing city, with a need for a large number of new homes.  The current Local 
Plan makes provision for 25,000 new homes to be built.  In addition, further commercial 
development is also planned.  This includes, for example, the establishment of a new business 
district at Friargate, in the city centre, and the regeneration of City Centre South.  These 
developments, which are described in more detail in section 4, will create a significant increase in 

Page 93



travel demand, which will need to be met in sustainable way, without worsening existing levels of 
congestion or the city’s carbon footprint.  
 
The Council is also currently working with various partners on establishing an Independent 
Commission for a Sustainable Coventry.  Once established, the Commission will develop a new 
Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan.  This will set out detailed plans to reduce Coventry’s 
annual CO2 emissions to net zero by 2041, or earlier if possible.  
 
Other key local strategies, which are also supported by this document include: 

 The Coventry Health and Wellbeing Strategy, MARMOT Strategy and the Director of Public 
Health’s Annual Report 

 Coventry City Council’s Local Air Quality Action Plan 

 Coventry City Council’s Economic Growth and Prosperity Strategy 

 Coventry City Council’s Electric Vehicle and Charging Infrastructure Strategy 

 Coventry City Council’s City Centre Area Action Plan 

 The Coventry Partnership’s Sustainable Community Strategy 

 Coventry City Council’s Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Strategy 

 Coventry City Council’s Flood Risk Management Strategy. 
 
Several of these local strategies place a strong emphasis on ensuring that economic growth is 
inclusive and that it benefits those who are currently economically disadvantaged, as well as the 
need to rapidly reduce the city’s carbon footprint and to improve health outcomes for local 
residents.   
 
2.4 Summary 
 
Considering all these national, regional and local strategies together, a clear set of priorities emerge.  
These suggest a need for this strategy to: 

 reduce the level of greenhouse gas emissions from transport, ultimately to net zero 

 support the city’s economy to recover from the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and secure 
future economic growth, including by investing in green industries such as zero emission 
transport 

 ensure that future growth is inclusive and delivers benefits for those who are on lower incomes 
or who are currently excluded from the labour market 

 capitalise on the potential benefits of HS2 and other planned improvements to regional, national 
and international connectivity 

 deliver improved public health outcomes for residents 

 enable new homes to be built to meet a growing housing need, and to meet the increased travel 
demand arising from this in a sustainable way.  
 

These issues are explored in more detail in section 4.   

Page 94



3. CURRENT TRAVEL PATTERNS 
 
This section provides a brief summary of recent travel patterns in and around Coventry, including 
the places that people most commonly travel to and form and the modes of transport that they 
most commonly use.  
 
3.1 Travel demand 
 
In 2018 there were 366,800 people living in Coventry, making it the 9th largest city in England.  It is 
also a rapidly growing city, in the past ten years, its population has grown by a fifth, making it the 
second-fastest growing local authority outside of London.   
 
This generates a significant level of travel demand, both within the city and to and from 
neighbouring areas.  Demand is particularly high during peak commuting hours, when large numbers 
of people travel to and from places like Nuneaton and Bedworth, Warwick, Rugby and Birmingham.  
However, the largest group of commuters are those who both live and work within Coventry.  In 
2011 it was estimated that 78,000 residents regularly commuted within the city. 
 
However, travel demand fell significantly during the Covid-19 pandemic and this particularly affected 
commuter journeys.  For example, a TfWM survey showed that, across the West Midlands, more 
than half of all workers worked from home during the initial lockdown period from March 2020. 
 
3.2 Current travel patterns by mode 
 
Car travel 
 
Coventry is a city that is largely dominated by car travel.   
 
Both the total number of cars owned by Coventry residents and the number of cars per household 
have been increasing steadily over the long-term.  In recent years, the Council has encouraged 
residents to switch from petrol and diesel to electric, and other zero emission, vehicles, including by 
installing more than 400 electric vehicle charge points – one of the largest public networks of charge 
points in the country.   
 
Government statistics show that the number of electric vehicles in Coventry is increasing rapidly.  
However, they remain a small minority of the total.  At the end of 2020 there were 613 battery 
electric vehicles registered to addresses in the city.  When other forms of ultra-low emission 
vehicles, such as plug-in hybrids, are also included this figure rises to 1,017. 
 
Regular counts of private and public transport trips into the centre of Coventry show that between 
2007 and 2019 car travel consistently accounted for around 70 per cent of both in-bound and out-
bound trips.  This is particularly true of commuter journeys, with data from the Council’s regular 
household survey suggesting that, both before and during the Covid-19 pandemic, around 70 per 
cent of commuter journeys made by Coventry residents were made by car (either as a driver or as a 
passenger).   
 
The Council’s household survey also shows that residents believe that car is the easiest way to 
travel, in 2021 85 per cent of respondents agreed that it was easy to get around Coventry that way.  
However, despite this, congestion is common on the parts of the city’s road network, particularly 
during peak hours.  Furthermore, the high volume of car trips also contributes heavily to the city’s 

Page 95



carbon footprint, as well as creating air pollution and leading to around 600-700 casualties from 
road traffic accidents every year. These issues are discussed in more detail in section 4. 
 

 
While there were substantial falls in the number of people travelling during the Covid-19 pandemic, 
car travel did not fall as sharply as other modes during lockdowns and was quicker to recover 
afterwards.  By June 2021, the total number of cars on the city’s roads had pre-Covid levels, albeit 
with less pronounced peaks during the morning and afternoon ‘rush hours’. 
 
Public transport 
 
The city is served by four railway stations (Coventry, Tile Hill, Canley and Coventry Arena) and has 
good rail connections to London, with (prior to the emergency rail timetables introduced during the 
pandemic) 3 high speed trains per hour from Coventry, and Birmingham, with 6 trains per hour from 
Coventry.  Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, passenger numbers were increasing steadily, with the 
Office of Rail and Road estimating that there were more than 9 million entries and exits across the 
city’s 4 stations in 2019/20. 
 
However, there is significant scope to improve the city’s rail connectivity.  For example, local services 
to Leamington, Kenilworth and Nuneaton currently only run once per hour, while the city has no 
direct rail links to the East Midlands at all.  As a result, Midlands Connect estimate that only 3 per 
cent of trips between Coventry and Leicester are made by rail.  This compares to 30 per cent of trips 
between Coventry and Birmingham. 
 

 
The city also has an extensive network of bus services.  This is largely based on a series of radial 
routes which connect the city centre to various residential and employment centres.  Longer 
distance services also connect it to neighbouring conurbations including, for example, Nuneaton, 
Bedworth and Solihull. 
 

“The only convenient and safe way to travel is via a car” 

“When there are more cars back on the road again, the sheer volume of traffic is just too much” 

“Car traffic is terrible at peak times” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

“Good railway links to London and Birmingham, and thus to the rest of the UK from these nodes” 

“The frequency of trains in and out of Coventry might be increased, for instance to Nuneaton and 

other places where people who live in Coventry… work” 

“Although rail services are much improved compared to 20-30 years ago, much still needs to be 

done in terms of providing services direct to more destinations” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

Page 96



However, there are some challenges regarding the reliability of services, which can be affected by 
congestion on the road network, and the frequency of services on some routes, particularly outside 
of peak hours.  The radial nature of the city’s bus network also means that many passengers need to 
travel into the city centre in order to change buses.  This often leads to longer journey times that are 
not competitive, compared to travelling by car.  Furthermore, disabled residents, particularly 
wheelchair users, have raised concerns about difficulties accessing services.   

 
Prior to Covid-19, levels of bus patronage had remained broadly consistent in recent years.  
However, during the pandemic, the sharpest falls in travel demand were seen on public transport.  
During the initial lockdown in March 2020 bus patronage dropped to around 10 per cent of pre-
Covid levels and rail to around 2 per cent.  At the time of publication, these still have not recovered 
to anything close to pre-pandemic levels.  
 
Walking and cycling 
 
Although Coventry is a relatively compact city, the number of people walking and cycling is not as 
high as it could be.   
 
While data from the Council’s household survey suggests that many residents walk when escorting 
children to school or travelling to their own place of education, in 2018 only 12 per cent of 
commuters travelled to work on foot.  In 2021, during the Covid-19 pandemic, this fell even further 
to 9 per cent.  
 
Levels of cycling are particularly low, accounting for only around 1 per cent of journeys into the 
centre of Coventry and between 1 and 4 per cent of residents’ journeys when they are commuting, 
escorting children to school or traveling to their own place of education.  
 
A lack of convenient and safe routes for cyclists is likely to be a barrier to higher levels of uptake.  In 
2021 only 52 per cent of residents agreed that it was easy to travel around Coventry by bike.  This is 
significantly fewer than the number who felt it was easy to walk, drive and travel on public 
transport. 
 

 

“Coventry is a city (where) you can cycle to most places quite quickly but the roads don’t feel very 

safe for cyclists” 

“Getting around Coventry by bicycle is not a pleasant or safe feeling thing to do” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

 “Bus services are generally good, but need a more regular service outside peak times” 

“The bus network, whilst the coverage is good, doesn’t always perform reliably” 

“Bus routes are generally good but certain journeys across the city are slow because of (the) need 

to go via (the) city centre and change” 

“Buses do not have enough seating for passengers that are wheelchair users” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

Page 97



4. THE CASE FOR CHANGE 
 
This section provides a summary of the key challenges that this strategy is intended to address.  It is 
informed by national, regional and local priorities and by how the city’s transport system is 
operating currently, as set out in sections 2 and 3.   
 
In summary, we have identified seven specific challenges which this strategy is intended to address, 
and which are discussed below. 
 
4.1 Tackling climate change 
 
As noted in section 2, the UK Government has set itself a legally binding target to achieve net zero 
carbon emissions by 2050, while as a region the West Midlands is currently aiming to reach this 
milestone nine years earlier. 
 
Coventry City Council is currently working on a new Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan, which 
will set out in detail our plans to achieve net zero by 2041, or earlier if possible.  However, it is 
already clear that a major change in the way in which we travel will be required to achieve this.  
Midlands Connect estimate that in Coventry in 2019 376 million kgs of CO2 (or equivalent amounts 
of other greenhouse gases) were generated from transport.  This is equivalent to around 1,000 kgs 
of CO2 for every person who lives in the city.  By far the largest share of these emissions are 
generated by car travel.  
 

 
Current levels of car travel will simply not be sustainable in the future.  This is true, even though a 
shift towards electric and other forms of zero emission vehicles are expected to make car travel 
more environmentally sustainable.  Policymakers at both a national and regional level are clear that 
this alone will not be enough to meet current carbon reduction targets.  In practice this will require 
both a significant reduction in the total number of vehicles on the city’s roads and a shift towards 
zero emission vehicles for those journeys which are still made by car. 
 
4.2 Improving health outcomes for local people  
 
Life expectancy has been rising in Coventry over the long-term but remains below both national and 
regional averages.  Furthermore, there are substantial variations between different parts of the city, 
with women in the 10 per cent most prosperous parts of the city living on average for 7.8 years 
longer than those in the 10 per cent most deprived.  For men this rises to 10.1 years. 
 
Health inequalities are strongly linked to both economic inequality and levels of physical inactivity.  
Higher levels of walking and cycling and improved public transport options, which enable those on 
the lowest incomes to easily access major employment centres and transport hubs, will be essential 
to address these issues. 
 
Air pollution is also a significant concern.  Diesel, and to a lesser extent petrol, vehicles are major 
producers of both NO2 and PM2.5.  Prolonged exposure to high concentrations of these pollutants 
can be very serious and can include, for example, increased risk of asthma, heart disease, strokes, 

“The overriding message of the strategy should be about climate change. Everything should be 

focused towards reducing the amount of carbon (and related) emissions in the city” 

Let’s Talk survey respondent 

Page 98



lung disease and dementia.  In 2014 Public Health England estimated that in Coventry 168 deaths 
per year could be attributed to exposure to PM2.5. 
 

At present there are a number of air pollution hotspots across the city where average annual 
concentrations of NO2 currently exceed the legal limit (40µg/m3).  A Ministerial Direction issued in 
May 2021 legally requires the Council to implement an Action Plan to reduce NO2 levels below this 
legal limit.  The Council’s approved Local Air Quality Action Plan sets out a package of measures to 
reduce concentrations of air pollution in these areas, and to bring them below the legal limit in the 
shortest possible time.  However, achieving a more general, long-term improvement across the city 
as a whole will require further action. 
 
4.3 Preventing road traffic accidents 
 
As noted in section 3, at present around 600-700 casualties occur each year as a result of incidents 
on Coventry’s roads.  While this has reduced significantly over the longer-term, in recent years these 
numbers have remained more consistent, indicating a flattening of the previous downward trend.  
The number of serious and fatal incidents fluctuates from year to year, however in 2018 there were 
114 serious incidents and 16 fatal incidents. 
 
It is our ambition both to reduce the number of incidents overall and to reduce the number of fatal 
incidents to zero.  We recognise that this is an ambitious target but every fatality has a significant 
impact on the local community, and we believe it is right to be ambitious in seeking to minimise the 
number of people who are killed or injured when using the city’s transport network. 
 
Initiatives such as the introduction of Average Speed Enforcement on main routes into the city have 
been highly successful in reducing casualties on these corridors and making further improvements to 
road safety will remain a high priority for this strategy. 
 
4.4 Supporting the city’s economic recovery and reducing levels of economic inequality 
 
In 2018 there were around 113,000 private sector and 51,000 public sector jobs in Coventry.  The 
Council has ambitious plans to increase this and, as noted in section 2, there is potential for 
investment in green businesses, including zero emission transport, to help support the city’s 
economy to recover from Covid-19.  
 
Current plans to create new jobs in the city include: 

 delivering a major regeneration of the South side of the city centre.  This will include improved 
leisure and retail facilities, as well as new homes 

 creating a new business district at Friargate, where one new office building has already been 
constructed and where work is currently underway on a second and on a hotel 

 a further expansion of Ansty Park 

 plans to establish both a UK Battery Innovation Centre and a Gigafactory in the South of the city.  
The plans would make the city a centre for both research and development and manufacturing 
relating to battery technology for zero emission vehicles 

 working with several major employers to facilitate their plans to expand, this includes Coventry 
University, the University of Warwick and Jaguar Land Rover. 

 

“(I am) hugely concerned about air quality as a result of congestion” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

Page 99



While creating new jobs and supporting the city’s recovery from Covid-19, these developments will 
also create additional travel demand, which will need to be met in a sustainable way.  It is also vital 
that the benefits of these developments are inclusive and that residents in all parts of the city share 
in them.   
 
At present there are substantial inequalities between different parts of the city.  While some areas 
are affluent, there are also significant concentrations of deprivation. For example, according to the 
Government’s Index of Multiple Deprivation, in 2019 there were 28 (out of 195) neighbourhoods in 
Coventry in the 10 per cent most deprived in the country.  This rises to 50 amongst the most 
deprived 20 per cent. 
 
It is therefore essential that, as well as providing the necessary infrastructure to help create new 
jobs, we also improve transport links to and from the most deprived parts of our city.  Enabling a 
more general shift towards public transport and walking and cycling will also help to address this, 
given that car ownership and car travel is expensive, and that these are more affordable and 
inclusive forms of transport. 
 
4.5 Maximising the benefits of HS2 (and other major investments in the region’s infrastructure) 
 
Following confirmation that HS2 will go ahead as planned, the first phase is currently due to 
complete by late 2028.  It is expected to bring substantial economic benefits to the West Midlands. 
 
As noted in section 2, the planned interchange in Solihull will bring HS2 close to Coventry.  Although 
the first phase of the project connects London and Birmingham, two cities with which Coventry 
already has good transport links, later phases will extend it to the North East and North West of 
England which will provide real benefits to the city.   
 
The planned interchange is also located close to Birmingham Airport and the National Exhibition 
Centre (NEC) and forms part of ‘UK Central’.  This is expected to become both a major transport hub, 
with national and international connections, and a significant employment centre in its own right.  
Connectivity between Coventry and UK Central is therefore a key consideration for this strategy. 
 
HS2 is also significant because it is expected to alleviate some of the pressure on existing rail 
services.  This will enable other improvements to be brought forward.  At the same time, the 
Government is also continuing to invest in the region’s Strategic Road Network through a series of 
planned improvements set out in Highways England’s Road Investment Strategy, and these 
investments will also bring further benefits for Coventry. 
 
4.6 Meeting travel demand arising from new homes 
 
As noted in section 2, Coventry is a rapidly growing city, with plans to build 25,000 new homes to be 
built over the period 2011 – 2031.  This figure was based on an Objectively Assessed Need of 42,400 
new homes, with Warwickshire authorities providing those that cannot not be delivered within the 
city.  Since the adoption of the current Local Plan, the Government has introduced a new way of 
calculating housing need (the Standard Methodology), which delivers a similar estimate for the 
number of new homes required. 
 
Current plans include several large-scale developments, most notably Sustainable Urban Extensions 
(SUEs) in Keresley (allocated for 3,100 new homes) and Eastern Green (allocated for 2,250).  A 
further planned SUE in Kings Hill (initially 2,500 homes) lies within Warwickshire but is located right 

Page 100



upon the boundary with Coventry and will therefore also have a significant impact on the city’s 
transport network. 
 
In many cases, these developments are directly dependent on new transport infrastructure being 
delivered.  More generally, the increase in the city’s population will generate additional travel 
demand.  It is essential that this demand is met in a sustainable way, without exacerbating existing 
problems with congestion, air pollution and the city’s carbon footprint. 
 
4.7 Adapting to changes in the way that people live, work and travel 
 
It is possible that we may be on the cusp of a fundamental change to people’s travel habits.  For 
more than half a century, fossil fuel powered cars have been the dominant form of travel in the UK 
and, as noted in section 3, these remain by far the most common form of transport in Coventry 
today. 
 
However, new technology means that this may be beginning to change.  Electric vehicles are already 
becoming a ‘mainstream’ technology and now account for around 3 per cent of the total new car 
market.  This is highly likely to rise much further in the near future, but this may only be one part of 
a much more fundamental change to the way that people and goods travel.   
 
Other emerging technologies, which could have a major impact include: 

 Very Light Rail (VLR), a new form of urban mass transit, similar to existing tram systems but 
suitable for smaller cities such as Coventry, which is why the City Council has invested 
significantly in the development of this new innovative technology 

 driverless cars, or Connected and Autonomous Vehicles (CAVs), which can be tested in real-life 
conditions within Coventry utilising the CAV Testbed being installed in partnership with TfWM 

 the use of drones for deliveries and/or to transport passengers 

 micromobility.  This describes small, lightweight forms of transport like e-scooters, currently 
being piloted within the southern area of the city 

 Mobility as a Service (Maas).  This describes a change in the way that people travel, away from 
privately owned vehicles and towards a system where a variety of different travel options can be 
easily accessed on demand.  In practice this would most likely see residents using a single 
integrated platform (such as a mobile phone app) to plan, book and pay for journeys across a 
range of different modes 

 Demand Responsive Transit (DRT) services.  These operate in a similar way to Internet-based taxi 
services, such as Uber, but with larger vehicles.  They allow different passengers’ journeys to be 
aggregated, essentially creating a bus service with no fixed route, with a pilot project underway 
based on the University of Warwick campus.   

 
The precise impact of these emerging forms of transport is difficult to predict but it is highly likely 
that we will witness some dramatic changes in the ways in which people and goods travel over the 
next 15 or so years. 
 
As described in section 2, Covid-19 has also brought about substantial changes to the way that 
people travel.  However, its longer-term implications are difficult to predict.  The trends that we 
observed over 2020 and 2021 may continue after the pandemic has passed completely.  
Alternatively, most people may revert to their previous travel habits, or there may be further 
changes which cannot yet be anticipated. 
 
In response to this, we will seek to actively shape the future wherever possible, for example by 
proactively seeking to trial and to roll out new modes of transport.  More generally, we will also 

Page 101



remain flexible and adapt our strategy to any changes in residents’ travel habits, as these become 
clearer.   When considering the benefits of individual schemes, we will also use sensitivity testing to 
understand how the scheme would perform in different future scenarios. 
  

Page 102



5. OUR OBJECTIVES AND OUR PLANS TO ACHIEVE THEM 
 
This section sets out what we are aiming to achieve over the lifetime of this strategy and provides a 
summary of how we will do this.   
 
5.1 Our objectives 
 
In order to address the challenges, set out in section 4, we have identified four broad objectives for 
this strategy.  These are: 
 
1. Supporting the city’s economic recovery and enabling long-term growth 
2. Delivering a sustainable, low carbon transport system 
3. Ensuring equality of opportunity 
4. Maximising health and wellbeing. 
 
In order to achieve these objectives, we need to bring about a fundamental change to the way in 
which people and goods travel to, from and around our city.  In particular, current levels of car travel 
will simply not be sustainable in the future.  It is therefore our aspiration to create a city where it 
easy, convenient and safe to walk, cycle and travel on public transport, and where most people do 
not need to use a car to access the services that they need for day-to-day life. 
 
To achieve this, action will be required across a range of different areas, as set out below.  The more 
detailed implementation plan will be incorporated in the final version of this strategy once funding 
has been agreed with Government and the WMCA, as this will allow a firm investment programme 
to be identified.   
 
In practice, not all the activity described in this section will be delivered directly by the Council.  
Some things will be delivered by, or in partnership with, our various partners in the region, with 
whom we will continue to work closely.  This will also be set out in more detail in the 
implementation plan. 
 
5.2 Public transport (contributes to objectives 1, 2, 3 & 4) 
 
Although the number of people using public transport has dropped considerably as a result of the 
Covid-19 pandemic, it remains a major part of our long-term plans to reduce car travel.   
 
At this time, it is unclear for how long additional safety measures that have been introduced during 
the pandemic will be required for.  However, we will work with partners to keep them in place for as 
long as necessary and will also integrate measures such as contactless ticketing, anti-microbial grab 
handles and optimised ventilation into our future plans.  Furthermore, we will ensure that the city’s 
public transport network is accessible to everyone and have recently published a Transport Charter 
for People with Disabilities aimed at achieving this.  We will implement all the commitments set out 
in that Charter. 
 
Over the next fifteen years, together with our partners, we will also deliver major improvements to 
the city’s public transport network.   
 
Very Light Rail (VLR) 
 

Page 103



VLR will be a new form of mass transit, similar to the tram systems seen in other major UK cities but 
with smaller, electric powered vehicles.  The first VLR route will connect Coventry city centre to 
University Hospital.  However, in the longer-term we will develop a complete network of routes to 
provide residents with a fast, frequent and affordable connection to various major employment 
centres and ‘transport hubs’, where people will be able to easily change between various different 
modes of transport.   

 
Coventry’s VLR network will be the first system of its kind in the world, and it is anticipated that 
many other small cities may eventually wish to develop their own networks.  Therefore, by 
pioneering this technology and establishing a local supply chain for it, we anticipate that there will 
also be longer-term benefits for the local economy. 
 
We will explore various funding options to introduce VLR.  This could include applying for grant 
funding from central and regional Government, seeking investment from private sector partners and 
considering options to raise revenue locally.  
 
Rail 
 
We will also work with our partners to deliver major improvements to the city’s existing railway 
infrastructure and services.   
 
We are already investing over £82m to enhance capacity at Coventry Railway Station.  Over the 
lifetime of this strategy, we will complement this with further improvements at Coventry, including 
the addition of a fifth platform, and at Tile Hill, where improvements will enhance the role of the 
station as a strategic park and ride site.  We will also develop at least one new railway station, in the 
South of the city close to the University of Warwick, and we will explore options for several further 
potential new stations. 
 
These improvements, and the opening of the new HS2 interchange in Solihull, will enable us to 
deliver significant improvements to the city’s rail connectivity.  Our priorities for this are to: 

 maintain the current 3 intercity services per hour to London 

 maintain 6 services per hour to Birmingham 

 double the frequency of services to Nuneaton, Kenilworth and Leamington, to 2 trains per hour.  
Crucially, this will also improve onward connectivity from Leamington to Warwick 

 double the frequency of services to Oxford, to 2 trains per hour 

 introduce at least 2 direct trains per hour to Leicester and Nottingham.  Research carried out by 
Midlands Connect suggests that this would cut journey times from 54 minutes to 38, and from 
108 minutes to 70 respectively.  At present, only 3% of journeys between Coventry and Leicester 
are made by rail, so enhanced connectivity is essential to ease pressure on the A46 / M69 
corridor and to enable people to travel more sustainably between the two cities. 

 improve connectivity with the North of England, via the new HS2 interchange in Solihull. 
 
We will also seek to better integrate our major railway stations into the city’s broader transport 
network, turning them into transport hubs where people can easily change between different modes 
of transport for both long and short distance travel.  We have already begun this work at Coventry 
Railway Station by delivering improved pedestrian access to the city centre, while the current 
improvements will also deliver increased car and cycle parking and a new bus interchange.  In the 

“The lack of a tram system is a negative. We need one!” 

Let’s Talk survey respondent 

Page 104



longer-term, we will also add a further VLR interchange.  We will seek to replicate this approach, on 
a smaller scale, with other new and existing stations.  
 
Bus 
 
Our plans to improve bus services in the city will be set out in a separate Bus Service Improvement 
Plan, which we will develop with TfWM and local bus operators.  
 
In summary, that document will set out plans to: 

 ensure that all buses operating in the city are electric buses by 2025 through the successful 
implementation of the All Electric Bus City, through which £50 million in grant support has been 
secured from Government 

 ensure services continue to cover the whole city, with ‘turn up and go’ frequencies on key routes 

 improve journey times on key routes by introducing bus priority measures, like bus gates and 
bus priority at signalised junctions 

 make improvements to ticketing by expanding the use of contactless payments, multi-operator 
tickets and ‘fare capping’ 

 improve bus stops and bus shelters, including providing more live information for passengers 
who are waiting 

 improve the accessibility of vehicles by increasing the number of spaces available for wheelchair 
users and for passengers traveling with prams or pushchairs. 

 

 
We are currently trialling the use of ‘on demand’ bus services (DRT) and the Bus Service 
Improvement Plan will also set out our longer-term plans to expand this and to integrate it into the 
wider network of bus services operating in the city. 
 
5.3 Walking, cycling and micromobility (objectives 1, 2, 3 & 4) 
 
To further reduce the city’s reliance on car travel, we will also significantly improve conditions for 
those who walk and cycle, as well as introducing new forms of micromobility.   
 
City centre pedestrianisation 
 
We have already pedestrianised some sections of the city centre and have delivered public realm 
improvements to create a more pedestrian friendly environment.  We will continue this process over 
the lifetime of the strategy, with the aim of making the whole area within the city centre ring road 
an area that is designed primarily for pedestrians. 
 
To support this, we will remove five current city centre car parks and will ensure that those that 
remain will be easily accessible from the ring road, minimising the extent to which cars will need to 
drive around within the city centre.  We will also improve pedestrian access in and out of the city 
centre by improving crossings at various points around the ring road and by re-modelling ring road 
junctions to provide better pedestrian and cycle access, building on the successful works already 
completed at Junction 6 (Friargate). 

“More buses. Buses work very well but they are not so often. You can increase bus frequency” 

“Bus transport seems to work well. Ideally, buses would be electrified and run even more 

frequently and conveniently” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

Page 105



 
Dedicated cycleways 
 
We will introduce dedicated cycleways across the city, to make cycling safer and to ensure that 
cyclists do not have to share road space with car users on busy routes.  Work is already underway on 
the next generation of cycleways, which will initially connect the city centre to Coundon and to 
Binley.  However, in the longer-term we will develop a complete network of cycleways spanning the 
city.   

 
This new cycle network will also include strategic cycleways linking Coventry to neighbouring areas.  
Our priorities for this are to create connections to Solihull, including UK Central, via Eastern Green 
and to Warwickshire, via Binley Woods, North on both the A444 corridor and via M6 Junction 2, and 
to Kenilworth in the South. 
 
In addition, we will provide more secure cycle parking facilities, including at major transport hubs, 
such as our railway stations. 
 
Low Traffic Neighbourhoods (LTNs) and School Streets 
 
LTNs are residential areas where a variety of tools are used to significantly reduce traffic levels and 
to create a more comfortable environment for pedestrians and cyclists.  This might include, for 
example, introducing 20mph speed limits, using bus gates to restrict the movement of private 
vehicles, creating more green space and installing cycle parking facilities for residents.  School 
Streets are areas immediately surrounding schools where temporary road closures are introduced 
around opening and closing times. 
 
We will seek to bring forward a community-led programme of both LTNs and School Streets.  To do 
this, we will first identify areas where there is a strong appetite for these measures among local 
residents, and then design them collaboratively with those residents. 
 
We will also seek to apply these principles to new developments, designing a low traffic approach in 
from the start. 
 
Cycle hire and other forms of micromobility 
 
In addition to the infrastructure improvements described above, TfWM have recently introduced a 
cycle hire scheme and we will work with them to increase the size and coverage of that scheme, and 
to extend it so that it also includes e-bikes. 
 
Finally, TfWM are also piloting an e-scooter rental scheme on the University of Warwick campus and 
we may also seek to extend this to other parts of the city in due course.  The current scheme is one 
of several national trials which are backed by central Government and which could lead to a change 
in the law to legalise the widespread use of e-scooters (currently, outside of the trial areas, e-

“I know that two cycle ways are being built, this network needs to be expanded to cover all areas 

of the city” 

“We have some good cycle routes. We need more of them and they need to join up” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

Page 106



scooters are only legal on private property).  Further progress is therefore dependent on the 
outcome of those trials. 
 
5.4 Road network (objectives 1, 3 & 4) 
 
New and improved roads 
 
We intend to significantly reduce the volume of car journeys taking place on our roads.  However, 
despite this, some investment in new and improved roads is still required.  This is primarily in order 
to: 

 enable new homes to be built 

 enable major employers, such as the University of Warwick and Jaguar Land Rover, to expand 

 remove through traffic from residential areas, making them more suitable for walking and 
cycling (by making improvements to more strategic routes in order to reduce ‘rat running’) 

 reduce the impact of congestion on public transport journey times 

 remove congestion in areas that have become air pollution hotspots. 
 
Working with our partners, we will therefore focus improvements primarily on the Strategic and Key 
Route Network (busy roads which carry large volumes of traffic, such as the city’s A-roads), on areas 
where significant development is planned and on local air pollution hotspots, as identified in our 
Local Air Quality Action Plan.   
 
Furthermore, we will not design roads exclusively for cars and will ensure that where new roads are 
built, or existing roads are improved, that space for pedestrians, cyclists and/or public transport is 
also designed in. 
 
Specific road improvements to be delivered over the lifetime of this strategy include:  

 various junction improvements on both the A46 and A444 

 a new strategic link road connecting the A46 at Stoneleigh Junction initially to the South of 
Coventry, and then ultimately to either Solihull or the West of Coventry 

 a further new strategic link road through the planned SUE at Keresley 

 new roads, and the improvement of some existing ones, in the vicinity of the ongoing 
developments at Friargate 

 improvements to the London Road corridor including junction improvements, traffic 
management and cycle routes. 

 
Further schemes may also be identified following a thorough review of the Strategic Route Network.   
 
Highway maintenance 
 
We will seek to maintain all of the city’s highways, including roads, footpaths and cycleways, to a 
high standard.  Our plans to do this are set out in a separate Highways Infrastructure Asset 
Management Strategy. 
 
Traffic management and enforcement 
 
We will work with TfWM to improve our management of the road network, including by introducing 
5G monitoring, and to prepare our road network for the rollout of Connected Autonomous Vehicles 
(CAVs).  This will include enabling testing to take place on a newly installed CAV testbed. 
 

Page 107



We will also ensure that we proactively enforce the rules of the road by using the powers available 
to us to take enforcement action against drivers who do not adhere to them.  We have already 
begun this with the installation of new average speed cameras at key locations in the city and will 
seek to roll these out on all of the main radial routes into the city over the lifetime of this strategy. 
 
In addition, we will also consider our approach to enforcing: 

 moving traffic offences, such as drivers making banned turns, stopping in yellow boxes and 
passing through bus gates, subject to Government legislating to allow local authority to take on 
these enforcement powers 

 on street parking offences, such as parking on double yellow lines 

 ‘pavement parking’.  The Government has recently consulted on options to give Councils new 
powers to take action against drivers who cause an obstruction for pedestrians, and so our 
approach to this will depend on the outcome of that consultation. 

 
5.5 Zero emission vehicles (objectives 2 & 4) 
 
We recognise that a shift to zero emission vehicles will not, on its own, be sufficient for the city to 
achieve its carbon reduction targets and are therefore seeking to significantly reduce levels of car 
travel over the lifetime of this strategy.  However, we also recognise that some journeys will 
continue to be made by car, and there will also still be significant demand for road travel from the 
freight industry and from public transport operators.   
 
We will therefore seek to accelerate the switch from petrol and diesel vehicles to zero emission 
alternatives.  The majority of our plans to do this will be set out in more detail in a separate Electric 
Vehicle and Charging Infrastructure Strategy. However, in summary, we will promote the take-up of 
electric and other zero emission vehicles by:  

 substantially expanding the city’s existing network of public electric vehicle charge points 

 creating super charging hubs and a multi-fuel hub.  These will be service station style facilities 
located on the Strategic Route Network which will provide rapid charging/refuelling facilities for 
owners of zero emission vehicles 

 encouraging local businesses to switch to electric vehicles via our Try Before You Buy E-fleet 
scheme 

 piloting innovative methods of electric vehicle charging, including static induction (wireless) 
charging and dynamic charging (charging of a moving vehicle).  These technologies could help to 
support operators of different types of vehicles, including larger vehicles and vehicles with very 
high mileage, to switch to zero emission alternatives. 

 
We would also like more of those journeys that are still made by car to be made using shared 
vehicles.  Research shows that households who use shared vehicles tend to make fewer car journeys 
than those who own their own vehicle.  As such, we will work with the private sector to expand the 
existing provision of ‘car club’ vehicles available for short-term hire, and to convert this an electric 
car club. 
 
Finally, we will also electrify Coventry’s public transport services.  As well as replacing all buses with 
electric vehicles by 2025, we will also begin only granting taxi licenses to zero emission capable 
vehicles from 2024. 

Page 108



 

 
All the above will create additional demands for electricity and so we will work with energy suppliers 
to ensure that the local grid has sufficient capacity to meet this growing need.  
 
5.6 Freight (objectives 1 & 2) 
 
As well as bringing about a substantial change in the way that people travel, we will also seek to 
reduce congestion and emissions from freight travel, such home deliveries.  
 
In part, we will do this by encouraging and supporting companies to switch to zero emission vehicles 
through the actions described above.  However, we will also explore further innovative alternatives 
including the use of drones to transport both passengers and goods.   
 
Finally, we will also explore options to establish freight consolidation centres.  These will be sites 
where goods travelling into and out of the city can be collected and transferred to a sustainable 
mode of transport for the first/last few miles of their journey.  This could be, for example, a zero 
emission van, an e-cargo bike, VLR or a delivery drone. 
 
5.8 Encouraging behaviour change (objectives 2 & 4) 
 
In addition to the physical improvements to transport infrastructure and services described in the 
previous sections, we will also seek to reduce car travel by actively encouraging a change in 
residents’ behaviour.   
 
This will include providing better information to residents about the full range of travel options that 
are available.  For example, we are currently holding Your Future Moves, a year-long event including 
an exhibition hosted by Coventry Transport Museum which will raise awareness of the various 
emerging travel options that are included in this strategy.   
 
We will also work with TfWM to develop tools that help residents to easily plan their journeys across 
a range of modes and will explore ways to offer incentives to those who make more sustainable 
travel choices.  For example, we are currently piloting an incentive scheme which rewards residents 
who scrap a heavily polluting vehicle with ‘mobility credits’, which can be spent on alternative travel 
options.  Depending on the outcome of this trial, we will look to roll this out more widely over the 
lifetime of the strategy. 
 
Finally, we will continue to engage with schools, businesses and local residents, including facilitating 
regular events and activities such as cycle training schemes and community cycle events. 
 

“Coventry taxis and local buses must become electric to show we are serious about tackling the 

climate emergency and air pollution” 

Let’s Talk survey respondent 

Page 109



6. MONITORING AND EVALUTION 
 
An Annual Progress Report will be prepared to report on our progress in delivering our objectives.  
This will integrate with monitoring requirements at a regional level, and will be submitted annually 
to the Council’s Cabinet. 
 
6.1 Measures of success 
 
The table below provides a set of indicators which we will monitor for each of our objectives.  These 
are a mixture of indicators that: 

 directly relate to the way that people and goods travel.  For example, over time we expect to see 
increasing numbers of people walking, cycling and taking public transport and fewer people 
driving 

 indicators that are influenced by many things, including transport.  For example, we expect 
improvements to the city’s transport system to lead to longer life expectancies and better 
employment rates among residents.  However, there will be many other factors that will also 
affect these indicators. 

 
We will report our progress against the following indicators on a regular basis.  
 

Objective Indicators 

1. Supporting the city’s 
economic recovery and 
enabling long-term 
growth 

 Gross Value Added (GVA) and/or GVA per employee  

 Total number of jobs and/or new jobs created  

 Number of residents in employment 

 New commercial floorspace created 

 Number of new homes enabled  

 City Centre footfall and/or other indicators of busyness, such as car and 
bike parking and numbers of arrivals by public transport  

2. Delivering a 
sustainable, low carbon 
transport system 

 Total estimated annual CO2 emissions  

 Estimated annual CO2 emissions from transport 

 Overall levels of car ownership 

 Levels of ownership of zero emission vehicles 

 Usage of EV charging point infrastructure 

 Levels of car travel, compared to walking, cycling and public transport 

3. Ensuring equality of 
opportunity 

 Levels of walking, cycling and public transport (i.e. the most affordable 
travel options) 

 Number of neighbourhoods in the most deprived 10 & 20 per cent 
nationally 

 Levels of unemployment 

4. Maximising health and 
wellbeing 

 Average life expectancy and healthy life expectancy 

 The gap in life expectancy and healthy life expectancy between the 
most and least deprived parts of the city 

 Levels of walking and cycling 

 Resident perceptions of Coventry as a place where it is easy to walk and 
cycle 

 Air quality 

 The number of road traffic incidents overall, the number of serious 
incidents and the number of fatal incidents 

 Average vehicle speeds 

 National Road Condition Indicators 

 

Page 110



 Briefing note  
  

 

To:        Business, economy and enterprise scrutiny board 3                             Date: Sep 2021 
 
Subject:  Appendix 3 – Let’s Talk survey results 
 

 

 

1 Background and methodology  
1.1 Coventry City Council are in the process of developing a new Transport Strategy. To inform 

this work, an initial survey of residents has been carried out via the Council’s online 
consultation platform, Let’s Talk. This document provides a summary of the Let’s Talk 
survey results. 

1.2 The Let’s Talk survey was carried out between 3 February and 7 March 2021. 

1.3 Survey questions were mostly open and were intended to capture residents’ views on the 
city’s current transport network and on their aspirations for the future. This is in advance of 
a more detailed public consultation being carried out on a draft strategy. 

1.4 In total 262 people completed the survey. The cast majority of these (256) were responding 
as individuals, with only a very small number of responses (6) coming from organisations. 

2 Executive summary 
2.1 This section provides a brief summary of the main headlines from the Let’s Talk survey. A 

more detailed analysis of the results is provided in section 3.  

2.2 When asked what about Coventry’s existing transport system works well, residents most 
commonly mentioned: 

 the city’s comprehensive bus network. While many respondents also suggested that some 
services could be more frequent, more reliable or more affordable, most comments in 
response to this question were still broadly favourable 

 recent/planned improvements to cycle infrastructure. Many respondents were keen to see 
more of this in the future 

 the city’s good rail connections, particularly the frequent services to London and 
Birmingham 

 the ease with which motorists can move from one part of the city to another, facilitated by 
the Ring Road 

 the pedestrianisation of much of the city centre, particularly the areas around Coventry 
Railway Station and Coventry University. 
 

2.3 When asked what about Coventry’s existing transport system requires improvement, 
residents most commonly mentioned: 

 the lack of safe space for cyclists 

 congestion on the road network 

 a lack of safe, attractive or suitable spaces for pedestrians, outside of the city centre  

 infrequent or unreliable bus services 

 gaps in the bus network or a lack of direct bus services between particular places 

 a lack of car parking or the cost of car parking 

Page 111



 2 

 issues with junction design at particular locations, most commonly the on/off slip roads on 
the Ring Road. 
 

2.4 When residents were asked to name a town or city with a good transport system, the most 
popular choice was London because of its comprehensive and affordable public transport 
network and its good facilities for cyclists.  

2.5 Other popular choices included Amsterdam (and various other cities in the Netherlands) 
Birmingham, Manchester, Nottingham and Copenhagen. The reasons given for choosing 
these cities were generally similar – a good public transport network (including a 
metro/tram/underground system) and good facilities for cyclists. 

2.6 Residents’ top priorities for the Transport Strategy are making walking and cycling easier, 
reducing air pollution, improving public transport and tackling climate change.  

2.7 Residents’ most common suggestions when asked to name something which should 
definitely be in the Transport Strategy were more cycleways, or other measures to make 
cycling safer, and the creation of a Very Light Rail/tram/metro/underground system. 

3 Full analysis of survey results 
3.1 A fuller summary of residents’ responses to each survey question is set out below. This is 

not an exhaustive list of all responses but is intended to highlight the recurring themes that 
emerged from the responses to each question. 

3.2 Question: In terms of travelling around, into and out of Coventry, what do you think 
currently works well? Think about all forms of transport. What should we keep 
doing/do more of? 

3.3 Public transport 

There were a high number of responses to this question relating to public transport.  

In particular, there were lots of comments (53) about the frequency, reliability and coverage 
of the city’s bus network. Most of these were broadly positive, although some also 
suggested that some services could still be made more frequent, more reliable or more 
affordable. 

“Buses seem to be able to get in and out (of the city centre) reasonably well and cover 
most areas”  

“Bus services, with some exceptions, have good frequency and accessibility to (the) city 
centre but less so to hospital and employment destinations” 

“Bus services are generally good, but need a more regular service outside peak times” 

“The bus network, whilst the coverage is good, doesn’t always perform reliably” 

“The busses are very expensive, but the routes seem to work well” 

There were also a number of positive comments (12) about the new electric buses, which 
are now operating on some routes. 

“Bus routes are generally good. The fact that they are electric busses is very good” 

In addition, there were also a high number of comments (24) about the city’s rail 
connections, particularly the frequent services to London and Birmingham. 

“Train frequency is good in the most part” 

“Good railway links to London and Birmingham (and thus to the rest of the UK from these 
nodes)” 

3.4 Active travel 

There were also a large number of comments relating to active travel.  

Page 112



 3 

In particular, a high number of respondents (42) were positive about recent/planned 
improvements to cycle infrastructure and wanted to see more of this in the future. 

“I have used the temporary cycleway on Charter Avenue and I look forward to the Coundon 
cycleway. I love cycling” 

“I know that two cycle ways are being built, this network needs to be expanded to cover all 
areas of the city” 

“We have some good cycle routes, we need more of them and they need to join up” 

“New cycleways on Barkers Butts Ln and Binley Rd will be great! The plans and progress 
look really good, glad to see they're fully segregated” 

“The new canal towpath surface is amazing. It has made the cycle into Bedworth (for work) 
much safer and enjoyable” 

A number of respondents (15) also commented on the pedestrianisation of sections of the 
city centre, saying that this had created a better environment for walking. Respondents 
specifically mentioned the areas around Coventry Railway Station and Coventry University. 

“The pedestrianised centre of the city is great, it's much more pleasant to be able to walk 
around without cars” 

“The walking route from the train station into town is great and is a pleasure to use” 

“(The) Pedestrianised city centre was ahead of its time. (The) train station to city centre 
walking route (is now) much more attractive” 

3.5 Car travel 

There were also a significant number of comments about car travel. 

Of these, a large number (22) related specifically to the Ring Road, which respondents felt 
facilitated the movement of traffic between different parts of the city effectively. 

“Getting from one side of the city to the other is relatively efficient… The Coventry Ring 
Road, whilst much maligned, does a good job here” 

“The Ring Road has always worked well at moving traffic from one radial road to another” 

There were also a smaller number of comments in support of: 

 the rollout of average speed cameras (10) 

 the relative lack of congestion on the city’s road network (7) 

 proximity to the motorway network (6) 

 ease of access to the city centre and the availability of city centre car parking (6). 

There were both positive (9) and negative (5) comments about the removal of bus lanes. 

3.6 Other comments 

There were also a group of respondents (16) who felt that there was nothing, or very little, 
that works well about the current transport system. 

“Honestly, nothing works well. Traffic is too congested for cars, public transport is not 
connected enough and takes too long, cycling is too dangerous”  

3.7 Question: In terms of travelling around, into and out of Coventry, what do you think 
works less well? Again, think about all forms of transport. What should we improve? 

3.8 Active travel 

The largest number of responses to this question related to active travel. 

A very large number of these (89) related specifically to the lack of safe spaces for cyclists. 

Page 113



 4 

“Compared to other similar sized and located cities… cycling infrastructure is woeful in 
Coventry. More people would be cycling if the infrastructure was there, people don't cycle 
due to being afraid of cycling on the roads” 

“Roads (are) unsuitable and often dangerous for cycling” 

“The city is relatively compact - easily within cycling distance - but many routes are just too 
dangerous to cycle” 

“Getting around Coventry by bicycle is not a pleasant or safe feeling thing to do” 

Related to this, some respondents (11) also mentioned a lack of cycle parking facilities. 

“(The) lack of bike parking at shops or in parks is a problem” 

A significant number of respondents (21) also cited a lack of safe, attractive and suitable 
infrastructure for pedestrians. More specific comments included concerns about pedestrian 
underpasses, a lack of pedestrian crossings on busy roads and poorly maintained 
pavements. 

“Ring Road pedestrian underpasses are unattractive and a blight on the city” 

“Pedestrian & cycle access into the city centre is poor - at almost every point where the 
Ring Road needs to be traversed the experience is off putting” 

“The A45 is such a barrier to active transport. There are so few crossing points and those 
that do exist favour motor transport over cyclists and pedestrians” 

“Pavements (are) not well maintained in a lot of areas” 

3.9 Car travel 

There were also a large number of responses to this question relating to car travel. 

The majority (48) of these related to congestion. Respondents cited a variety of different 
causes of congestion, including the sheer volume of cars on the road, the impact of traffic 
lights at key junctions and the number of HGVs operating on certain parts of the network. 

“Car traffic is terrible at peak times” 

“Most routes into and out of the city have key ‘pinch points’ which slow the flow of traffic 
considerably... Also when there is an accident on the M6, every route into and out of town 
grinds to a standstill” 

“When there are more cars back on the road again, the sheer volume of traffic is just too 
much. We need to encourage more people to cycle or use public transport” 

“(There are) too many traffic lights on the main routes into the city centre causing delays 
and congestion” 

“Lorries in and around Allesley are having a real impact on road services” 

A number of respondents (16) also raised concerns about either the cost or availability of 
car parking. Various specific locations were mentioned, including the city centre, University 
Hospital and Tile Hill Railway Station. 

“(There is a lack of) affordable parking for people who work in the city centre or at the 
hospital” 

“Car parking can be an issue at busy times in (the) city centre” 

Several respondents (15) also criticised junction layouts at specific locations. These most 
commonly related to the on/off slip-roads on the Ring Road, however various other 
locations were also mentioned. 

“People (from) out of Coventry hate the Ring Road junctions and avoid Coventry as a 
shopping and leisure destination” 

Page 114



 5 

“The Ring Road is absolutely appalling, but is virtually the only way to traverse the city” 

“Many roundabouts (are) poorly designed and drivers can't understand how they work” 

In addition, there were also a smaller number of comments relating to: 

 air pollution (11) 

 traffic speeds (10) 

 lack of enforcement of parking restrictions, particularly pavement parking (10) 

 potholes/poor maintenance of road surfaces (6).  

3.10 Public transport 

There were fewer responses to this question relating to public transport. 

However, the greatest number of these related to either infrequent or unreliable bus 
services (20) or gaps in the bus network/a lack of direct bus services between particular 
places (18). 

“Bus services (are) too infrequent, especially (at) evenings and weekends” 

“Buses are not regular and do not meet their schedules” 

“To go to another area of Coventry nearly all journeys involve (a) change of bus” 

“In general, I think the buses are pretty good but they don't really work if you have to 
change” 

“Bus routes don't run regularly to (the) hospital outside of 9-5pm, making their use for 
workers hard” 

A number of respondents (11) also mentioned the cost of travelling on public transport. 

“Bus (services are) too infrequent, and too expensive. (When a) family of four trip to town 
(costs) £8... why wouldn't you just drive?” 

“Another drawback to using buses is the one-off price, £2 I think to go even just one or two 
stops. This encourages people to drive short distances” 

A smaller number of respondents mentioned the continuing presence of diesel/petrol buses 
and taxis (9) and infrequent or unreliable train services (6). 

3.11 Question: Is there another town or city you have visited that you think had good 
transport opportunities? Please briefly tell us where you visited and what was good 
about it 

Respondents mentioned a wide variety of different towns and cities with good transport 
systems. However, London (34) was the place which was highlighted most frequently. 
Respondents particularly praised its comprehensive and affordable public transport 
network, with joined up ticketing, and its cycling facilities. 

“Cycling in London is actually really good, (it is) well signposted and the cycle super-
highways are excellent”  

“Some of the cycle paths in London are awesome. They are segregated from both 
pedestrians and motor vehicles. They have their own traffic lights” 

“London buses are fab. (You pay a) flat fare, (and) travel as far as you like” 

“Use of the Oyster card and excellent public transport means most people never use a car, 
and many don't even own a car” 

“London has a fantastic one ticket (system covering) all forms of (public) transport” 

“Fast, cheap and easy. Everyone takes public transport because it's the easiest option” 

Page 115



 6 

Within the UK, Birmingham (18), Manchester (12) and Nottingham (10) were all also 
popular choices. Several respondents highlighted their respective metro/tram systems and 
their cycling facilities: 

“Birmingham has great transport opportunities with trams, dedicated cycle lanes… and a 
good suburban train network, along with many bus routes to all corners of the city” 

“The cycle provision there (in Manchester) was great. Drivers (are) physically separated 
from cyclists… (and) the tram network was fast and reliable” 

“The tram network in Manchester is excellent. It has great connectivity and goes to all 
areas” 

“(The) tram network (in Nottingham) is good for a city its size” 

Many respondents also mentioned various European cities, the most common of which 
were various cities in the Netherlands (33). Respondents mostly cited Amsterdam, however 
Arnhem, Breda, Groningen, Leiden and Rotterdam were all also mentioned. Respondents 
commonly cited the excellent cycle facilities in these cities and the Dutch culture of cycling, 
as well as their good public transport services. 

“Joined up public transport offering, priority given to cycles and pedestrians over private 
cars. The public transport was frequent, clean, and you felt safe” 

“The public’s transport and cycling provision are world class” 

“Cycling is so easy there, bikes are given at least equal priority to cars everywhere, which 
means everyone cycles. The segregated cycle lanes are great! Particularly helpful as well 
is how easy it is to transfer from cycling to public transport and back again, with lots of 
secure bike parking” 

“Both the cycling and public transport infrastructure, I believe, make Amsterdam the gold 
standard in getting around in a safe and greener way” 

Outside of the Netherlands, a number or respondents (12) identified Copenhagen, for 
similar reasons. 

“My favourite cities with regards to transport are Copenhagen and Amsterdam. The cycling 
infrastructure encourages all levels and all ages to cycle. Families can cycle safely” 

“Cycling is extremely easy and safe, so everyone, from kids to old ladies, do it on a daily 
basis. Separated cycle paths go everywhere, including lots of routes that are for cycling 
and walking only.” 

“Cycle paths on every road and an excellent circular rail/metro system allowing easy 
access to all areas of the city” 

3.12 Question: Which of the following do you think are the most important for us to 
consider in relation to transport in Coventry. Please choose three only 

Respondents were asked to choose their top three from a selection of possible policy 
priorities. When ranked from the most to least popular choices, these were: 

 making walking and cycling easier (170) 

 reducing air pollution (147) 

 improving public transport (144) 

 tackling climate change (93) 

 preventing road traffic accidents (66) 

 better connecting Coventry to the rest of the country (54) 

 improving access to employment opportunities (48) 

Page 116



 7 

 enabling new jobs to be created (46) 

 enabling new technology (e.g. driverless cars) (37) 

 enabling new homes to be built (13). 

3.13 Question: What one thing do you think we absolutely should include in the strategy? 

Respondents made a wide variety of suggestions when asked for something that should 
definitely be included in the strategy. These were a mix of specific policy suggestions and 
broad areas for improvement. 

However, the most common, recurring choices were: 

 more cycleways/safer cycling (58) 

 Very Light Rail/trams/metro/underground (24) 

 improved public transport (in general terms) (14) 

 reduced air pollution (13) 

 reduced car dependency (12) 

 safer/better walking routes for pedestrians (11) 

 more/more affordable/free car parking (9) 

 improved provision for motorcycles/motorcycle parking (8) 

 reduced congestion (8) 

 climate change (8) 

 improvements to walking and cycling (mentioned in general terms) (8) 

 electric buses (7). 

 

David Pipe 
Senior Officer, Transport Strategy 
david.pipe@coventry.gov.uk 
 

Page 117

mailto:david.pipe@coventry.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Business, Economy and Enterprise (3) Work Programme 2021-22 

1 
 

 
Please see page 2 onwards for background to items 
 

14th July 2021 

Sustainability - Biodiversity 

8th September 2021 

Transport Innovation 

13th October 2021 

Tourism Strategy 
Digital Skills 

8th December 2021 

Jobs and Business – impact of Covid 

19th January 2022 
9th March 2022 

Suggested items for 2021-22 

Gigafactory 
University Civic Agreements 
City Centre South 
Cycling Strategy 
Active Travel with Schools 
Apprenticeships 

 

Last updated 26/08/21 

Page 119

Agenda Item 5



Business, Economy and Enterprise (3) Work Programme 2021-22 

2 
 

Date Title Detail Cabinet Member/ 
Lead Officer 

14th July 
2021 

Sustainability - 
Biodiversity 

Looking at the issues of Climate Change focusing on one of the five 
strands 

Cllr O’Boyle 
Bret Willers, City of 
Culture rep, Tim 
Wetherhill, Canals 
and Rivers Trust Rep 

8th 
September 
2021 

Transport Innovation Meeting to be held at the Transport Museum to coincide with the 
Innovation display 

Colin Knight 
Cllr O’Boyle 

13th October 
2021 

Tourism Strategy To look at the Tourism Strategy in more detail Val Birchall 
Cllr O’Boyle 
 

 Digital Skills To look in more detail how the Digital Strategy is supporting the 
development of digital skills across the city. Provision of digital 
connectivity. 

Cllr Lloyd/Cllr 
Sandhu  

Paul Ward/Kirston 
Nelson  

8th 
December 
2021 

Jobs and Business – 
impact of Covid  

Continued scrutiny on steps to support economic recovery following 
Covid-19.    

Kim Mawby/Steve 
Weir  

  

19th 
January 
2022 

   

9th March 
2022 

   

Suggested 
items for 
2021-22 

Gigafactory To look at what the Council is doing to support and encourage the 
location of a Gigafactory in Coventry 

Cllr O’Boyle 
Andy Williams 

 University Civic 
Agreements 

Representatives from Coventry University and Warwick University 
be invited to attend the meeting of the Board to talk about the 
benefits of the Civic Agreements for the City and how they can work 
in partnership with the Council. To include how to encourage student 

Representatives from 
the Universities, 
Stephen Weir 
Cllr O’Boyle 

P
age 120



Business, Economy and Enterprise (3) Work Programme 2021-22 

3 
 

Date Title Detail Cabinet Member/ 
Lead Officer 

retention for living and working in the city and the support they offer 
for graduate business start-ups. 

 City Centre South Progress on development to be considered alongside the Tourism 
Strategy. Planning applications due to be heard March 2021 

Richard Moon 
Cllr O’Boyle 

 Cycling Strategy To consider the plans to introduce cycling routes including the West 
of the city. 

 

 Active Travel with 
Schools 

Following consideration of the Local Air Quality Action Plan, the 
Board requested an item on relating to the work  
undertaken with schools to gather information about their travel 
preferences and proposals to encourage modal shift 

John Seddon 
Cllr Hetherton 

 Apprenticeships To follow up on the item at SB1 and SB3 in 2021-22  

 

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Coventry Transport Strategy
	1 Purpose of the Note
	1.1 To brief the Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) on the draft Coventry Transport Strategy, the review of the West Midlands Local Transport Plan, and the emerging West Midlands submission to the City Region Sustainable Transport Set...

	2 Recommendations
	2.1 The Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) is requested to:
	Review the draft Coventry Transport Strategy and identify any specific recommendations that they wish to make to Cabinet when they consider the draft strategy in October 2021.

	3 Information/Background
	Coventry Transport Strategy
	3.1 The West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) is the statutory transport authority for the West Midlands area, including Coventry.  The WMCA has a duty to prepare and implement a Local Transport Plan (LTP) for the West Midlands area.  The current LT...
	3.2 As a constituent authority of the WMCA, Coventry City Council is closely engaged with the LTP Review.  Through this engagement, it has been agreed that the WMCA’s LTP will be integrated with Local Transport Strategies covering each of the individu...
	3.3 Work has commenced on the preparation of the Coventry Transport Strategy, with an early engagement with the public through a Let’s Talk consultation in March 2021 (a summary of these responses is included as Appendix Three) and workshops being hel...
	3.4 This engagement has resulted in the identification of core objectives relating to the future management of Coventry’s transport network, and in the preparation of a draft Coventry Transport Strategy.  This has been appended to the report (Appendix...
	3.5 The objectives identified in the core strategy are:

	 Supporting the city’s economic recovery and enabling long-term growth
	 Delivering a sustainable, low carbon transport system
	 Ensuring equality of opportunity
	 Maximising health and wellbeing
	3.6 It is important to note that the current draft strategy provides the policy framework, but that an implementation plan setting out a five-year investment programme in Coventry’s transport network will be added before the strategy is brought back t...
	3.7 Subject to Cabinet approval in October, the draft strategy will be published for consultation later in 2021.  Once consultation feedback has been reviewed, and the outcome of the CRSTS process is known, the strategy will be finalised, complete wit...
	West Midlands Local Transport Plan
	3.8 As noted above, work has commenced on the review of the West Midlands LTP with the publication of the Green Transport Paper.  This is currently out to consultation.  The GTP identifies tackling the climate emergency, reducing transport inequality,...
	3.9 TfWM are looking to prepare the draft LTP for review by the WMCA Board in early 2022, a timescale that broadly mirrors that proposed for the Coventry Transport Strategy.  Therefore, by mid-2022 the transport policy framework for Coventry will cons...
	City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement
	3.10 That five-year implementation plan will be based upon the outcome of the City Regional Sustainable Transport Settlement  process which is currently underway.  Essentially, the CRSTS will give the WMCA, and its constituent authorities, a five-year...
	3.11 The CRSTS comprises £4.2 billion which will be allocated across the eight Mayoral Combined Authorities (MCAs) established within England.  A semi-competitive process is underway, with each MCA being required to submit a bid to Government setting ...
	3.12 For the WMCA, the DfT specified a funding range of £780 million to £1.28 billion, meaning that the West Midlands submission should expect a funding settlement within this range.  Additional funding will be allocated separately for core Integrated...
	3.13 Coventry is closely and proactively engaged with the CRSTS process with the aim of securing a funding package that will enable the Council to deliver a programme of transport schemes that will support the objectives set out within the draft trans...
	Transport Innovation Programme
	3.14 The programme will include innovative transport projects such as Very Light Rail and measures to support the further roll-out of zero emission vehicles.  The Our Future Moves exhibition currently on show at the Transport Museum showcases the wide...
	3.15 The aim is to build upon the Our Future Moves exhibition to develop a digital archive that can be used to promote Coventry and the surrounding area as a place in which transport innovators can do business, using the city as a “living lab” buildin...

	Coventry Transport Strategy - Appendix 1 - TfWM LTP Green Paper
	Reimagining transport in the West Midlands:  a conversation about€change
	Foreword
	Section 1: Introduction
	A new Local Transport Plan
	The purpose of this green paper 

	Section 2: The state of transport in€the West Midlands
	How transport has changed
	Where we are heading
	The consequences of the COVID-19€pandemic

	Section 3: Our Motives for Change
	Motive 1: Sustaining economic success
	Motive 2: Creating a fairer society
	Motive 3: Supporting local communities and places
	Motive 4: Becoming more active
	Motive 5: Tackling the climate€emergency

	Section 4: Reimagining transport in the West€Midlands
	Rethinking the role of mobility in€accessibility
	A framework for change
	Change in different places

	Section 5: Developing the Local€Transport Plan 
	Our partners
	A new framework for transport policy
	Working with the public, private organisations€and€public€authorities



	Coventry Transport Strategy - Appendix 2 - Draft Transport Strategy
	Coventry Transport Strategy - Appendix 3 - Let's Talk Survey Results Summary

	5 Work Programme 2021/2022

